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The Company's revenue increased 10% in fiscal 2007 versus fiscal 2006. All of our reporting
segments, except Canada Pressure Pumping, contributed to our fiscal 2007 increase in revenue.
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Operating income was $1,151 million in fiscal 2007 versus $1,172 miillion in fiscal 2006. Operating
income margins remain strong at 24%. However, margins were hindered during the year by a
27% Canadian drilling activity decline, as well as pricing pressures in the U.S.

Cash flow from operating activities was $841 million. During the year, we invested more than
$700 million in plant and equipment, paid $59 million dividends and purchased $75 million in

Company stock.

BJ Services Company is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, and its common stock trades
under the symbol “BJS.” The Company’s core business consists of cementing, stimulation and
coiled tubing services worldwide. The Company also provides completion tools, completion
fluids, tubular services, chemical services, and pipeline and industrial commissioning and
inspection services in selected geographic markets.
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SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

{in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue

Operating income
Income before taxes

Net income

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
Total assets

Total interest-bearing debt

Stockholders' equity
Capital expenditures
Employees

YEAR |IN

REVIEW

Total Revenue

Ge Company generate)

record revenue of $4.8 bil-
lion, up 10% from the
prior year and earnings
per diluted share was a
record $2.55 up $.03 from
the prior year. Cash flow
from operations was $841
million and the Company's

debt to capitalization at

year-end was 19%.

$4,000
$5,000
$4,000
$3,000
Total Revenue vs Revenue Per Rig  $2,000
(UStmillionsl e g0
International ($ millions) »
Canada (§ millions) ¢
Revenue per Rig ($ thousands} » $0
Worldwide Rig Count
US -
International
J Canada »
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2007

$4,802,409
1,150,539
1,112,848
753,640
2.57

2.55
4,715,212
671,028
2,851,398
752,113
16,700

Revenue Per Rig
$ 2,000
$1.800
$1.600
$1,400
$1.200
$1,000
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400 .
400
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0 Earnings Per Share

2006

$4,367,864
1,171,736
1,172,083
804,610
2.55

2.52
3,862,288
659,968
2,146,940
459,974
16,000
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Simultaneous fracture stimulation of three

shale gas wells.

Unconventional gas reservoirs present real
challenges to the industry, A new technique
we call "simo fracs” provides a unique, cre-
ative way to apply fracture stimulation

treatments to wells in tight shale-gas forma-

) tions in order to increase production. In this
/ photo, BJ crews are simultaneously fractur-

ing three adjacent horizantal wells in the
Barnett Shale in North Texas. While the in-
dustry is far from perfecting gas extraction
from shales, incremental changes like these
make it easier to mobilize gas-in-place by
imparting opposing hydraulic forces on mul-
tiple wells. This is a great example of BJ

’ personnel using existing technologies to

-

create new solutions for our customers.




LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

The Company generated record revenue of $4.8 hillion, up 10% from the prior year and
earnings per diluted share was a record $2.55, up $.03 from the prior year. Cash flow from
operations was $841 million and the Company's debt to capitalization at year-end was
19%. During the year, cash generated from operations was used for the investment of
$704 million in plant and equipment for the business (excluding the $48 million purchase
cf partnership assets), payment of $59 million in dividends to our stockholders and the
purchase of $75 million in Company Stock (2.6 million shares). Since the Company began
its share repurchase program in 1997, the Company has repurchased 87 million shares for
$1.8 billion, representing a 23% reduction in the number of shares that would have been
cutstanding as of September 30, 2007 without these repurchases.

MARKET CONDITIONS

Matural gas prices for the year averaged $6.90 per thousand cubic feet. The price at the
beginning of the year was $4.12 and was $6.14 at the end of the year. This price range
was sufficient to maintain natural gas production in the U.S. market and support an average
of just under 1,800 rigs drilling there. However, natural gas prices were generally lower
in the Canadian market which led to a 27% decline in Canadian drilling activity compared
to the prior year. Crude oil prices for the year averaged $64.62 per barrel. The price at
the beginning of the year was $61.03 and was $81.66 at the end of the year. International
politics and concern about supply disruptions coupled with significant demand growth
in the emerging markets has propelled oil prices beyond our expectations.

Driven primarily by natural gas prices and crude oil prices, drilling activity in the U.S.
was up 10% for the year. In Canada, drilling activity was down 27% from the prior year.
Mexico experienced a 6% increase in average drilling activity. Outside North America,
average drilling activity was up 10% from the prior year, with gains in each of our

operating regions.
RESSURE PUMPING RESULTS

Pressure pumping service operations in U.S./Mexico achieved record revenue for the
year with revenue up 9% from the prior year. Operating inconte margins were 34%, down
from 38% in the prior year. As noted above, average drilling activity increased 10% in the
U. 5. and 6% in Mexico. Increased competition with modest activity growth resulted in
lower prices which contributed to the margin compression compared to the prior year.
Canadian pressure pumping revenue was down 20% from the prior year with average rig
count down 2/% and operating income was down 68% from the prior year. The Company
reduced personnel and moved pressure pumping capacity out of Canada to better align
ourselves with the market demand. We have decreased personnel in Canada by 19%,
transferred pumping equipment capacity to other international locations and changed
reporting lines. The U.S. and Canadian markets are similar with many independent
customers, short term contracts and volatile drilling activity. We now have one management




team over North American pressure pumping. We continue to focus on labor cost
efficiencies as well as labor and equipment utilization and maintain tight controls over
discretionary spending. We expect to realize favorable year over year earnings compar-
isons from our Canadian operations as we move into fiscal year 2008.

Outside North America, drilling activity increased 10% and our international pressure
pumping operations achieved 21% revenue growth and 11% increase in operating
income. During the year, we restructured our Russia operations. We sold our workover
rig business there to focus on our pressure pumping business and we reduced personnel
by 38% compared to fiscal 2006. Similar to Canada, we are transferring excess capacity
to other international markets. In Africa, we have exited smaller countries and will focus

our efforts in Libya, Algeria and Nigeria.
QILFIELD SERVICE GROUP RESULTS

The Qilfield Service Group had an exceptionally good year. Revenue for the group was
up 20% and operating income improved by 24%. Each of the service lines except
Completion Fluids experienced double-digit revenue growth with Chemical Services and
Tubular Services achieving greater than 30% revenue growth. Completion Fluids was
adversely impacted by significantly reduced activity in the Gulf of Mexico. We continue
to integrate the Group service and product offerings throughout our global operations
and with revenue of $778 million for the year, the Qilfield Service Group is making a

material contribution to the Companys financial results.
EXPANSIONS

International Pressure Pumping — The Latin America region continued to experience
significant growth as revenue increased by 21% compared to the prior year. Much of the
growth in the region is a result of expanding our stimulation capacity. Revenue growth
was fueled by the addition of fracturing assets in Argentina, Colombia and Brazil. We are
a stimulation market leader in Latin America and will further advance this position through
the award of several new contracts in 2007. Most significantly, our award of a new stimulation
vessel contract for the Blue Angel, our award of a new stimulation vessel contract fora
new vessel, the Blue Marlin, and the existing stimulation vessel contract for the Blue
Shark will position BJ as a major offshore fracturing company in Brazil.

The business in India was greatly enhanced in late 2007 as a result of two offshore
stimulation vessel contracts awarded to BJ. The MV Vestfonn was transferred from the
North Sea to India to perform services under a three-year contract. In addition, the MV
Discovery was transferred from the Gulf of Mexico to India to perform services under a
two-year contract. These significant contract awards position the Company to participate
in the growing offshore stimulation market in India for many years.

The Asia Pacific Region experienced a second consecutive year of over 25% revenue
growth during 2007. Driving this revenue growth is the expansion of hydraulic fracturing
throughout the region. We placed our first permanent frac fleet in Australia during 2007
and immediately had success in the market. We were awarded a five year offshore
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New InjectSafe™ chemical injection system

for offshore wells

BJ acquired Dyna-Coil™ capillary tubing
technology late in fiscal 2006 and success-
fully moved this technology offshore during
fiscal 2007 with the first installations of our
InjectSafe™ systems. These systems deliver
high-efficiency chemicals deep inside off-
shore gas wells, giving operators a mean to
"unload” liquid and extend well life more
reliably and economically. The Dyna-Coil ac-
quisition and our purchase of Allis-Chalmers’
capillary assets in 2007 gave BJ more than
7,000 land-based capillary installations, the
largest fleet of capillary service equipment --
and the most advanced ‘cap string’ capabilities

in the world.




stimulation contract in China during 2007 which involves BJ skid mounted fracturing
equipment on a vessel and will be the only stimulation vessel operating offshore China.

Chemical Services - Chemical Services realized a second consecutive year of revenue
growth in excess of 35%, driven by growth in traditional chemical services, growth in
capillary services and geographic expansion. In 2007, we developed a new revenue base
in the Northeast U.S. with the introduction of our LiteChem™ well treating chemicals and
services. This proprietary technology was developed for production chemical appli-
cations in very low pressure wells and has had tremendous success in improving chemi-
cal treatment of downhole tubulars. In addition, we have received several new contracts
internationally which will fuel continued geographic expansion of the chemical services
product line.

Following the acquisition of Dyna-Coil in the last quarter of fiscal 2006, capillary services
has become a significant contributor to revenue growth for Chemical Services and an
important vehicle for gaining production chemical business. In July 2007, we expanded
our capillary services capacity through the acquisition of Allis-Chalmers' capillary assets.
Capillary services are now being conducted in the Asia Pacific Region as well as North
America.

Jubular Services — Tubular Services continued with aggressive revenue growth and
geographic expansion during 2007. Overall revenue increased 30% from 2006, driven by
market expansion in several of our traditional operating countries such as Saudi Arabia,
Brazil and the U.K. and expansion into new markets in Brunei, Malaysia and Norway. The
division increased capital spending during the year to fuel revenue growth opportunities
in 2007 and beyond.

Completion Tools — Completion Tools revenue increased 28% in 2007, driven by
significant growth in international revenue. Since the acquisition of OSCA, Inc. in 2002,
the Gulf of Mexico market (OSCA's primary market) has experienced steady deterioration.
However, we have been able to significantly expand the revenue in this division through
international expansion and through new product offerings.

In 2007, we relocated our completion too! component manufacturing facility from
Mansfield, Texas, to Houston and increased our manufacturing capacity by 50%. This
capacity increase will support further revenue expansion in completion tools and reduce
our overall component production cost.

Completion Fluids — The operating results for the completion fluids business has
historically been impacted by demand for and pricing of high-density brines used in
offshore well completions. In recent years, our strategy has been to obtain improved
margin revenue from praducts and services that are ancillary to completion fluid sales.
These ancillary services include wellbore clean-out services, lost circulation services and
specialty chemicals.

In 2007, we completed the acquisition of Tekcor Technology, Ltd. ("Tekcor”), a
company that specialized in a unique lost circulation control technology. Since the
acquisition, we have expanded the capacity of the TekTote® delivering systems for our
TekPlug® fluid loss control products by 50% and expect to double our revenue in this
new product line during 2008.

Process and Pipeline Services — Process and Pipeline Services had a very successful
year with revenue up 21% for the year and operating income improving by 23% . These
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T multi-zone reservoirs
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/ Texas and Louisiana years ago. Now BJ

Coiled tubing fracturing for wells in

Coiled tubing fracturing is emerging as an

effective, economical method for stimulat-

ing production from multi-zone reservoirs

and BJ Services is at the forefront of this
technological trend. Coiled tubing offers an
especially efficient means for re-entering

older wells to boost production and post-

pone their abandonment. At the Develop-
ing Unconventional Gas {DUG) conference

this year, one operator credited our

Py

OptiFrac™ coiled tubing fracturing services

4 for helping them “crack the code” for stim-
ulating the Hosston trend, multiple thin pro-
ductive zones bypasse<l when the industry

drilled deeper Cotton Valley wells in east

technology is extending the life of these

fields for years to come.
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New-generation BJ Seahawk™ offshore

cementing unit

\
Qil and gas reserves from deepwater plays (L.i:rﬁ‘- !
IR

are increasingly important for both major

international operators and national oil

companies. BJ Services recorded a nearly

50% increase in deepwater activity during

fiscal 2007. BJ is now the second leading

provider of cementing units in the Gulf of o
Mexico, and we achieved early success -
placing our new-generation Seahawk™ - o E

offshore cement mixing units aboard b;';‘ ’)35 a\
|' S 2 o
dozens of semi-submersible and jack-up .I\J‘I%,? ‘ -

drilling rigs and drillships during 2007.

These rigs are due to leave shipyards in
2008 and 2009, so our Seahawk placements

promise to provide steady revenue from ce-

menting services for both deepwater and

deep shelf drilling in the years ahead.
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results are records for the division.

In 2007, we had two acquisitions that added to our process and pipeline business line.
In our first fiscal quarter, we completed the acquisition of Profile International Ltd., which
provides caliper inspection tools for pipeline integrity assessment to markets worldwide.

We also acquired Aberdeen-based Norson Services Ltd. (“Norson”} during our second
fiscal quarter. This acquisition strengthens our service capabilities with the addition of
hydraulic and electrical umbilical testing services and the services provided by Norsen's
subsea units, which include remote pigging and fleoding and subsea pressure testing.

TECHNQLOGY

As the Company has grown over the years, it has continued to increase its investment in
research and engineering. Innovative preducts, services and well problem solutions have
been the results of this investment. The challenges our engineers and scientists confront in
their quest to provide the best products and solutions for our customers include extreme
oressure and temperature conditions, fragile formations, shallow water flow and many other
axtreme subterranean conditions. They are also challenged by regulations and our desire
to protect and prevent damage to the environment with the products we use.

Our technology development efforts have been focused in the technical areas that are
most challenging to our customers. Those challenges can best be summarized as
i) unconventional reservoirs, ii} mature fields, iii) harsh environments and iv) multi-zone
completions.

Unconventional Reservoir Development - Mydraulic fracturing is the single most criti-
cal technology employed in the development of unconventional gas reservoirs. As a
leader in hydraulic fracturing, BJ has been instrumental in developing a variety of prod-
uct technologies and application techniques to improve production performance in
unconventional gas reservoirs.

LiteProp™ 108 is the latest in a series of ultra-lightweight (ULW) proppants developed
for use in unconventional reservoirs. These proprietary ULW proppants are capable of
being carried more efficiently through the entire fracture length of a hydraulically induced
fracture and provide the possibility of partial monolayer fractures, the theoretically optimum
fracture. The LiteProp products are also now available in a liquid concentrate version
called Liguid LiteProp, which provides for operational and economic efficiencies on
well locations.

BJ has also been instrumental in refining a technique currently in use in the gas shale
formations known as “simo frac”. This technique involves the simultaneous fracturing of
adjacent wellbores, whereby opposing forces are used to optimize natural gas liberation
in gas shale reservoirs. The equipment and operational intensity involved in these treatments
can most effectively be carried out by a premier fracturing company.

Mature Field Production Enhancement - Older oil and gas fields represent a huge
challenge to our customers to extend the productive life of existing wells and capitalize
on strong commeodity prices. Our customers depend on ever improved solutions to their
production challenges in these mature fields and BJ has introduced a variety of new
solutions for problems typically experienced in older oil and gas fields.

Gur StimTunnel™ technique, originally developed by BJ in Latin America, involves the
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use of coiled tubing and specialized stimulation fluids to create lateral extensions from
existing open hole completions. The chemicals are injected through the coiled tubing and
dissolve targeted areas of the formation to create short radius extensions from the well-
bore thereby improving well production.

The introduction of capillary services has given us the opportunity to develop a variety
of chemical solutions for use in treating production problems in older wells. A primary use
of capillary systems has been to inject foam-generating chemicals to [ift fluid from
low-pressure gas wells. Unique chemistry and engineering is required to provide cost
effective solutions in de-watering these low pressure gas wells and new solutions are
constantly being developed for providing chemical solutions through these capillary
strings.

Harsh Environment Well Construction and Completion - The deepwater work
environment creates exceptional challenges in wellbore cemeanting. We have had great
success in customizing our DeepSet™ and LiteSet™ cementing systems to meet the ex-
treme conditions that are encountered in deepwater cementing.

Qur acquisition of Tekcor this year aiso provides BJ custorners with an extremely effective
solution for lost circulation problems in their offshore wells. Our TekPlug® fluid loss prod-
ucts, delivered through the unigue TekTote® delivery system, provide our customers with
an immediate solution when they encounter lost returns during completion operations.

Multi-Zone Completion Techniques - Economics and effectiveness are the key drivers
for our customers that pursue multi-zone completions. BJ has developed a series of
technologies to address the very difficult challenges associated with these completions.

Last year, we introduced the ComPlete™ MST system for use in sand control applications.
This system, which provides zonal isclation for single trip frac packing of individual zones
in a multi-zone completion, has been extremely well received by our customers. From the
Gulf of Mexico to Asia, operators are selecting this system for their most critical applications.

Multi-zone completions have also become important far our customers that are
exploiting unconventional gas formations. The OptiFrac™ system and DirectStim™
system are two new mechanical techniques for isolating zones during hydraulic fracturing

in order to target specific zones for stimulation.
MANUFACTURING

With pressure pumping capacity utilization extremely high in North America and im-
proving in the international markets, the fuel for organic growth in our business is op-
erating equipment. The plan for the year was to build $700 million in additional plant
and equipment. Capital was allocated across service lines based on maintenance
capital needs and the best growth opportunities. Equipment was produced at our three
main manufacturing facilities in Houston, Calgary and Singapore and by outside suppliers.
We achieved our planned asset additions for the year, a substantial increase over the prior
year and a great achievement for our manufacturing personnel throughout the world.
Incorporated within our manufacturing and marketing strategy was a focus on equipping
the large volume of new and rebuilt offshore rigs with BJ cementing equipment. During
the course of 2007 and 2008 there will be an influx of new offshore rigs to the marketplace.

BJ has focused a sales and manufacturing effort to capitalize on these new rigs.




The introduction of Singapare as our sole manufacturing facility for the new generation
Seahawk™ cement unit and the concentrated effort of our engineering, installation and
sales organization has resulted in a significant number of new offshore cementing
opportunities for the Company. We should realize the results of this effort during
2008/2009 as these new rigs arrive in the field and begin generating revenue for the Company.

MARKET OUTLOOK

The implications of the credit crisis throughout the world is not yet known, consequently
making growth projections for the new year difficult at best. Our plan assumes paositive
economic growth in the world markets but at a somewhat lower rate of growth than the
year just ended. Drilling activity in the U.S. is projected to be up slightly for the year. The
addition of new fracturing capacity to the U.S. market by industry participants should
begin to abate in the second half of the year. We base our expectations on statements
of company management, the tightness in the credit markets and margin compression
experienced in the business. In Canada, activity is expected to be up 10% to 15% in the
year and our earnings should improve there due to the restructuring done in the year
just ended. The international markets are expected to grow in the range of 15% to 20%
and we expect to achieve revenue growth in that range with margin improvement. The
Qilfield Service Group should have another good year with revenue improvement and
good earnings generation. Our capital spending for the year is planned to be down 10%
from the prior year with more emphasis on the international markets and the Qilfield
Service Group where we expect the better growth opportunities.

J. W. Stewart
Chuirman, President and
Chiel Executive Officer

December 7, 2007
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CORPORATE OFFICERS

BJ Services Company Officers, December 2007— left to right, J. W. Stewart,
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer; Bret Wells, Vice
President-Treasurer and Chief Tax Officer; Alasdair Buchanan, Vice President -
International Pressure Pumping Services; Margaret B. Shannon, Vice President —
General Counsel; Paul Yust, Vice President — Chief Information Officer;

David Dunlap, Executive Vice President — Chief Operating Officer; L. Scott Biar,
Vice President — Controller; Ronald F. Coleman, Vice President — North America
Pressure Pumping Services; Jeffrey E. Smith, Senior Vice President — Finance and
Chief Financial Officer; and Susan Douget, Vice President — Human Resources.

Not pictured: Jeff Hibbeler, Vice President - Technology and Logistics.

BoARD OF DIRECTORS

L. William Heiligbrodt*#

Former President and

Chief Operating Officer of Service
Corporation International.

John R, Huff*t
Chairman of Oceaneering
International, Inc.

Don D. Jordan*t
Retired Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of Reliant Energy, Inc.

Michael E. Patrick*t
Vice President and Chief Investment
Officer of The Meadows Foundation Inc.

James L. Payne*#
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of Shona Energy

JW. Stewart
Chairman, President

and Chief Executive Officer

William H. Whitet#
Mayor, City of Houstan

* Member of Executive Compensation

Committee
I Member of Audit Commitiee

# Member of Nominating and Governance

Committee
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PART 1

ITEM 1. Business
General

BJ Services Company (the “Company”), whose operations trace back to the Byron Jackson Company
{founded in 1872), was organized in 1990 under the corporate laws of the state of Delaware. We are a leading
worldwide provider of pressure pumping and oilfield services for the petroleum industry. Pressure pumping
services consist of cementing and stimulation services used in the completion of new oil and natural gas wells
and in remedial work on existing wells, both onshore and offshore. Qilfield services include completion tools,
completion fluids, casing and tubular services, chemical services, and precommissioning, maintenance and
turnaround services in the pipeline and process business, including pipeline inspection.

During the year ended September 30, 2007, we generated approximately 84% of our revenue from pressure
pumping services and 16% from the oilfield services group. Over the same period, we generated approximately
60% of our revenue from United States operations and 40% from international operations. For segment and
geographic information for each of the three years ended September 30, 2007, sce Note 8 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

We conduct our operalions through four principal segments:

*  U.S./Mexico Pressure Pumping Services. This segment includes pressure pumping services derived
from our activities in the United States and Mexico.

« International Pressure Pumping Services. This segment includes pressure pumping services derived
from our activities outside of the U.S., Mexico and Canada.

* Canada Pressure Pumping Services, This segment includes pressure pumping services derived from
our activities in C'anada.

* Qilfield Services Group. This segment includes the following oilfield service divisions: casing and
tubular services, process and pipeline services, chemical services, completion tools, and completion
fluids.

Pressure Pumping Services

Our pressure pumping services consist of cementing services and stimulation services. Stimulation services
includes fracturing, acidizing, sand control, nitrogen services, coiled tubing, and service tools. We provide
pressure pumping services to major and independent oil and natural gas producing companies, as well as national
oil companies. Pressure pumping services are used to complete new oil and natural gas wells, maintain existing
oil and natural gas wells, and enhance the production of oil and natural gas from producing formations in
reservoirs. These services are provided both on land and offshore on a 24-hour, on-call basis through regional
and district facilities in approximately 200 locations worldwide.

Cementing Services

Our cementing services, which accounted for approximately 31% of total pressure pumping revenue during
fiscal 2007, consist of blending high-grade cement and water with various solid and liquid additives to create a
“cement slurry” that is purnped into a well between the casing and the wellbore. The cement slurry is designed (o
achieve the proper cement set-up time, compressive strength and fluid loss contrel. The slurry can be modified to
address different well depths, downhole temperatures and pressures, and formation characteristics.

We provide central, regional and district laboratory testing services to evaluate cement slurry properties,

which can vary by cement supplier and local water sources. Our field engineers develop job design
recommendations to achieve desired compressive strength and bonding characteristics.
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The principal application for cementing services used in oilficld operations is primary cementing, or
cementing belween the casing pipe and the wellbore during the drilling and completion phase of a well. Primary
cementing is performed to (i) isolate fluids behind the casing between productive formations and other
formations that would damage the productivity of hydrocarbon producing zones or damage the quality of
freshwater aquifers, (ii) seal the casing from corrosive formation fluids, and (iii) provide structural suppoit for
the casing string. Cementing services are also utilized when recompleting wells from one producing zone to
another and when plugging and abandoning wells.

Stimudation Services

Our stimulation services, which accounted for approximately 69% of total pressure pumping revenue during
fiscal 2007, consist of fracturing, acidizing, sand control, nitrogen services, coiled tubing and service tools.
Stimulation services are provided both onshore and offshore. Offshore services are provided through the use of
skid-mounted pumping units and the operation of several stimulation vessels.

We believe that as oil and natural gas production continues to decline in key producing fields in the U.S. and
certain international regions and as the development of unconventional hydrocarbon reservoirs increases, the
demand for fracturing and other stimulation services is likely to increase. Fracturing is a critical element involved
in the successful completion of unconventional reservoirs including “tight” or low permeability sandstones,
coal-bed methane and gas bearing shale. Consequently, we have been increasing our pressure pumping
capabilities in the U.S. and internationally over the past several years. Stimulation services, which are designed
to improve the flow of oil and natural gas from producing formations, are summarized below,

Fracturing. Fracturing services are performed to enhance the production of oil and natural gas from
formations having such permeability that the natural flow is restricted. The fracturing process consists of
pumping a fluid (“fracturing fluid™} inte a cased well at sufficient pressure to fracture the producing formation.
Sand, bauxite or synthetic proppants are suspended in the fracturing fluid and are pumped into the fracture to
prop the fracture open. In some cases, fracturing is performed using an acid solution pumped under pressure
without a proppant or with small amounts of proppant. The main components in the equipment used in the
fracturing process are a blender, which blends the proppant and chemicals into the fracturing fluid, multiple
pumping units capable of pumping significant volumes at high pressures, and a monitoring van equipped with
real-time monitoring equipment and computers uscd to control the fracturing process. Our fracturing units are
capable of pumping slurries at pressures of up to 20,000 pounds per square inch.

An imporiant ¢lement of fracturing services is the design of the fracturing treatment, which includes
determining the proper fracturing fluid, proppants and injection program to maximize results. Our feld
engineering staff provides technical evaluation and job design recommendations for the customer as an integral
element of its fracturing service. Technological developments in the industry over the past several years have
focused on proppant concentration control (i.e., proppant density), liquid gel concentrate capabilities, computer
design and monitoring of jobs and cleanup properties for fracturing fluids. We have introduced equipment and
products to respond to these technological advances.

In 1998, we embarked on a program to replace our aging U.S. fracturing pump fleet with new, more
efficient and higher horsepower pressure pumping equipment. We have since expanded the U.S. fleet
recapitalization initiative to include additional equipment, such as cementing, nitrogen and acidizing equipment
and have made significant progress in adding new equipment. However, much of the older equipment still
remains in operation due to increased market activity. We plan to continue adding new equipment to our fleet.
The market activity level at the time the equipment is ready for use will determine if the new equipment will be
used for expansion or used as replacement assets. At the end of fiscal 2007, approximately 20% of our U.S. fleet
remained as candidates for future replacement as part of our recapitalization initiative.

Acidizing. Acidizing enhances the flow rate of oil and naturat gas from wells that experience reduced flow
caused by formation damage from drilling or completion fluids or the gradual build-up of materials that restrict
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the flow of hydrocarbons in the formation. Acidizing entails pumping large volumes of specially formulated
acids into reservoirs to dissolve barriers and enlarge crevices in the formation, thereby eliminating obstacles to
the flow of oil and natural gas. We maintain a fleet of mobile acid transport and pumping units to provide
acidizing services for the onshore market and maintain acid storage and pumping equipment on most of our
offshore stimulation vessels.

Sand Control. Sand control services invelve pumping gravei to fill the cavity created around a wellbore
during drilling. The gravel provides a filter for the exclusion of formation sand from the producing wellbore. Oil
and natural gas are then free to move through the gravel into the wellbore. These services are performed
primarily in unconsolidated sandstone reservoirs, mostly in the Gulf of Mexico, the North Sea, Venezuela,
Brazil, Trinidad. West Africa, China, Indonesia and India. Qur completion tools, as described later, are often
utilized in conjunction with sand control services.

Nitrogen. Nitrogen services involve the use of nitrogen, an inert gas, in various pressure pumping
operations. When provided as a stand-alone service, the use of nitrogen is effective in displacing fluids in various
oilfield applications, including underbalanced drilling. However, nitrogen is principally used in applications
supporting our coiled tubing and stimulation services.

Coiled Tubing. Coiled tubing services involve injecting coiled tubing into wells to perform various well-
servicing operations. Coiled tubing is a flexible steel pipe with a diameter of less than five inches manufactured
in continuous lengths of thousands of feet. It is wound or coiled on a truck-mounted reel for onshore applications
or skid-mounted for offshore applications. Due to the small diameter of coiled tubing, it can be inserted into
existing production tubing and used to perform a variety of services 10 enhance the flow of oil or natural gas
without using a larger, costlier workover rig. The principal advantages of employing coiled tubing in a workover
include (i) not having to cease production from the well (“shut-in”), thus reducing the risk of formation damage
to the well, (ii) being able to move continuous coiled tubing in and out of a well significantly faster than
conventional pipe, which must be jointed and unjointed, (iii) having the ability to direct fluids into a wellbore
with more precision, allowing for localized stimulation treatments, (iv) providing a source of energy to power a
downhole motor or manipulate downhole tools and (v} enhancing access to remote or offshore fields due to the
smaller size and mobility of a coiled tubing unit. We have developed a line of specialty downhole tools that may
be attached to coiled tubing, including rotary jetting equipment and through-tubing inflatable packer systems.

Service Tools. We provide service tools and technical personnel for well servicing applications in select
markets throughout the world. Service tools, which are used to perform a wide range of downhole operations to
maintain or improve production in a well. generally are rented {rom us, While marketed separately, service tools
are usually provided during the course of providing other pressure pumping services.

Qilfield Services Group

Our oilfield services group accounted for approximately 16% of our total revenue in fiscal 2007. This
segment consists of casing and tubular services, process and pipeline services, chemical services, completion
tools and completion fluids services in the U.S, and select markets internationally.

Casing and Tubular Services

Casing and tubular services comprise installing or “running” casing and production tubing into a wellbore.
Casing is run to protect the structural integrity of a weltbore and to isolate various zones in a well. These services
are provided primarily during the drilling and completion phases of a well. Production tubing is run inside the
casing and oil and natural gas are produced through the tubing. These services are provided during the
completion and workover phases of a well. Our casing and tubular services business also provides pipe driving
hammer services. Hydraulic and diesel powered hammers are used in a variety of offshore well construction
projects.




Process and Pipeline Services

We provide a wide range of services to the process industry, which includes oil and natural gas production,
refineries, and gas and petrochemical plants, and to the power industry. These services cover two main areas:
{1) the precommissioning of new plants and (2) maintenance to existing plants. The primary services offered are
testing, cleaning, drying and inerting pipework and pipelines. Nitrogen/helium leak testing is used to locate and
quantify small leaks on hydrocarbon systems. Leak testing is used on both new and old facilities to minimize the
risk of hydrocarbon leaks, improving safety and minimizing greenhouse gas emissions. Systems can be cleaned
by flushing, jetting, pigging or chemically treating to ensure debris is removed from the sysiem prior to start-up,
thus minimizing damage to expensive process equipment.

Due to regulatory requirements or safety concerns, new pipelines are often tested prior to their initial use.
During fiscal 2007, we added subsea umbilical and pipeline testing capability through the acquisition of Norson
Services Limited. Pipeline testing typically involves filling the pipeline with water under operating pressures and
drying the pipelines. Pipeline drying is carried out using dry air, nitrogen, or a vacuum. Many pipelines require
cleaning while “on line” to help ensure the integrity of the pipeline and to maximize product throughput. We
offer several techniques for pipeline cleaning, which include gel cleaning, which is used to carry large amounts
of debris oul of the pipeline, and various solvent treatments 1o remove debris.

Our pipeline inspection business uses “intelligent pigs” to assist pipeline operators in assessing the integrity
of their pipelines. Pigs are electromagnetic devices that are propelled through a pipeline, recording infoermation
about the pipeline. We have developed two principal sets of pipeline inspection toels: one set of tools monitors
metal loss from the interior pipe wall caused by either corrosion or mechanical damage utilizing electromagnetic
based instruments. A second sel of tools monitor pipeline geometry (dents, buckles and wrinkles) and position
(latitude, longitude, and height) using an inertial guidance system, which allows the production of as-built maps
of the pipeline, as well as the calculation of critical strains due to pipeline movement. Using the information
collected by these tools, pipeline operators are able to prepare structural analysis to determine if the pipeline is fit
for its purpose.

Chemical Services

Chemical services are provided to customers in the upstream and downstream oil and natural gas businesses.
These services involve the design of treatments and the sale of products to optimize production, unload wellbore
fluids and reduce the negative effects of corrosion, scale, paraffin, bacteria, and other contaminants in the
production and processing of oil and natural gas. Customers engaged in crude oil production, natural gas
processing, raw and finished oil and natural gas product transportation, refinery operations and petrochemical
manufacturing use these products and services. Production chemical and injection services operations address
four principal priorities our customers have: (1) the protection of the customer’s capital investment in metal
goods, such as downhole casing and tubing, pipelines and process vessels, (2) deliquification of wellbore fluids
providing steady state flow and enhanced production, (3) the treatment of fluids to allow the customers to meet
the specifications of the particular operation, such as production transterred to a pipeline or fuel sold at a
marketing terminal, and (4) through the acquisitions of Dyna-Coil in August 2006 and the capillary string
business of Allis-Chalmers in June 2007, the injection of production chemicals directly to the desired producing
zone through the use of small diameter capillary strings.

Completion Tools

We design, build and install downhole completion tools that utilize gravel and sand control screens to
control the migration of reservoir sand into the well and direct the flow of oil and natural gas into the production
tubing. We have a specialty tool manufacturing plant in Houston, Texas that manufactures many of the
components required in the completion tools; however some components are manufactured by third parties. In
addition, spare parts for completion tools and production packers are sold to custemers that have purchased tools
in the past.




Our completion tools are sold as complete systems, which are customized based on cach well’s particular
mechanical and reservoir characteristics, such as downhole pressure, wellbore size and formation type. Many
wells produce from more than one productive zone simultaneously. Depending on the customer’s preference, we
have the ability to install tools that can either isolate one producing zone from another or integrate the production
from multiple producing zones. Qur field specialists, working with the rig crews, deploy completion tools in the
well during the completion process.

To further enhance reservoir optimization, we have also developed tools to provide the operator with
“intelligent completion” capabilities. These tools allow the operator to selectively control flow from multiple
productive zones in the same wellbore from a remote surface site. From time to time, we may also outsource the
equipment necessary to monitor downhole parameters such as temperature, pressure, and reservoir flow,

In addition to tools that are designed to control sand migration, we also provide completion tools that are
generally used in conventional completions for reservoirs that do not require sand centrol. These tools include
production packers, surface conuolled subsurface safety valves, and other tools that are delivered through
distribution networks located in key domestic markets and select international markets.

We have a well screen manufacturing facility in Houston, Texas. Well screens are sections of perforated
pipe wrapped with wire that are placed in production tubing and are designed to prevent the flow of gravel into
the producing wellbore. These screens are critical to the success of wells in unconsolidated sandstone reservoirs
and are integrated into the completion program {sand control, completion tools and well screens). Well screens
are utilized primarily in unconsolidated sandstone reservoirs, the majority of which are located in the Gulf of
Mexico, the North Sea, Venezuela, Brazil, Trinidad, West Africa, China, Indonesia and India.

Completion Fluids

We sell and reclaim clear completion fluids and perform related fluid maintenance activities, such as
filtration and reclamation. Completion fluids are used to control well pressure and facilitate other completion
activities while minimizing reservoir damage. We provide basic completion fluids as well as a broad line of
specially formulated and customized fluids for critical completion applications,

Completion fluids are available either as pure salt solutions or in combination with other materials. These
fluids are solids-free, and therefore, should not restrict the flow of oil and natural gas from the formation, In
contrast, drilling mud, the fluid typically used during drilling and in some weli completions, contains solids to
achieve densities greater than water. These solids can restrict the reservoir, causing reservoir damage and
restricting the flow of oil and natural gas into the well. When completion fluids are placed into a well, they
typically become contaminated with solids that remain in the well after drilling mud is displaced. To remove
these contaminants, we deploy filtering equipment and technicians that work in conjunction with our on-site fluid
engineers to maintain the solids-free condition of the completion fluids throughout the project. We provide an
entire range of completion fluids, as well as all support services needed to properly apply completion fluids in the
field, including filtration, on-site engineering, additives and rental equipment. In addition, we provide a wide
range of downhole tools with chemical systems for removing drilling fluid debris from a well during completion
operations.

With the acquisition of Tekcor Technology, Lid. in December 2006 we entered into the business of
providing a unique system for delivery of lost circulation materials used in conjunction with completion
operations.

Raw Materials and Equipment

Principal materials used in pressure pumping include cement, fracturing proppants, acid, polymers, nitrogen,
and other specialty chemical additives. We purchase our principal materials from several suppliers and produce
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certain materials at our own blending facilities in Germany, Singapore, Canada, the U.S. and Brazil. Sufficient
material inventories are generally maintained to allow us to provide on-call services to our pressure pumping
customers. We have continued 1o experience intermiitent tightness in supply for certain types of cement and
fracturing proppants but have been able to use alternatives with custemer acceptance, and it is not expected to
materially hinder operations. In addition, we have entered into agreements to ensure certain levels of materials
are maintained in the U.S. and Canada.

Pressure pumping services use complex truck or skid-mounted equipment designed and constructed for the
particular pressure purnping service furnished. After equipment is transported to a well location it is configured
with appropriate connections to perform the services required. The mobility of this equipment allows us to
provide pressure pumping services to wellsites in virtually all geographic areas around the world. Most units are
equipped with computerized systems that allow for real-time monitoring and control of the cementing and
stimulation processes. We believe our pressure pumping equipment is adequate to service both current and
projected levels of market activity in the near term. As the market increases demand for our services, we will
continue to add needed capacity in select markets.

Repair parts and maintenance items for pressure pumping equipment are held in inventory at levels that we
believe will allow continued operations without significant downtime. We have experienced only intermittent
tightness in supply or extended lead times in obtaining necessary supplies of these materials or repair parts. We
do not depend on any single source of supply for any of these parts and materials: however, loss of one or more
of our suppliers could disrupt operations.

We believe that coiled tubing and other materials used in performing coiled tubing services are and will
continue 1o be widely available. Although there are only two principal manufacturers of the ceiled tubing, we
have not experienced any difficulty in obtaining coiled tubing in the past and do not anticipate difficulty in the
foreseeable future.

Nitrogen is one of the principal materials used in our process and pipeline services division. We purchase
nitrogen from several suppliers. We have experienced only intermittent tightness in supply or extended lead
times in obtaining nitrogen and do not expect any chronic shortage of nitrogen in the foreseeable future.

Engineering Support

Our engineering support department is divided into the following areas: Software Applications,
Instrumentation Engineering, Mechanical Engineering, Coiled Tubing Engineering and Completion Tools
Engineering.

Software Applications

Our software applications group develops and supports a wide range of proprietary software used to monitor
both cement and stimulation job parameters. This software, combined with our internally developed monitoring
hardware, allows for real-time job control and post-job analysis.

Instrumeniation Engineering

We use an array of monitoring and control instrumentation, which is an integral element of providing
cementing and stimulation services. Our monitoring and control instrumentation, developed by our
instrumentation engineering group, complements our products and equipment and provides customers with real-
time monitering of critical applications.

Mechanical Engineering

Our mechanical engineering group is responsible for the design of virtually all of our primary pumping and
blending equipment. Though similarities exist among the major pressure pumping competitors in the general

8




design of pumping equiprnent, the actual engineftransmission configurations and the mixing and blending
systems differ significantly. Additionally, different approaches to the integrated control systems result in
equipment designs, which are usually distinct in performance characteristics for each competitor.

Coiled Tubing Engineering

The coiled tubing engineering group provides most of the support and research and development activities
for our coiled tubing services, including coiled tubing drilling technology. This group is also actively involved in
the ongoing development and manufacturing of specialized downhole tools that may be attached to the end of
coiled tubing.

Completion Tools Engineering

The completion tools engineering group specializes in the design, manufacture and testing of completion
1ools, Since completion tools are often instalied miles below the earth’s surface, it is critical that potential design
flaws be diagnosed and prevented prior to installation. Optimal tool configuration is determined by considering a
variety of factors, including raw materials, operating conditions and design specifications,

Manufacturing

We own two primary manufacturing facilities in the Houston, Texas area. Our technology center in
Tomball, Texas houses our main equipment manufacturing facility, primarily serving pressure pumping services.
Qur other facility in the Houston, Texas area produces certain components and spare parts required for the
assembly of downhole completion tools, service tools and well screens. We also have strategic manufacturing
facilities located in Calgary and Singapore to support our global manufacturing efforts. We employ outside
vendors for manufacturing various units and for engine and transmission rebuilding and certain fabrication work,
but we are not dependent an any one vendor.

Competition
Pressure Pumping Services

There are two primary companies with which we compete in pressure pumping services worldwide,
Halliburton Energy Services, a division of Halliburton Company, and Schlumberger Lid. These companies have
operations in most areas in which we operate. Halliburton Energy Services and Schlumberger are larger in terms
of overall pressure pumping revenue. We also compete with Weatherford International, Inc. and numerous
smaller companies including Calfrac Well Services Ltd., Trican Well Service Ltd., San Antonio and Frac Tech
Services, Ltd. During 2007, we have experienced increased competition in the U.S. market from these and other
new competitors. Competitive factors impacting our business are prices, technology, service record and
reputation in the indusiry.

Otilfield Services Group

We believe that we are one of the largest suppliers of casing and tubular services in the North Sea and have
expanded these services into other international markets in the past several years. The largest worldwide provider
of casing and tubular services is Weatherford International, Inc. In addition, we compete with Frank’s
International Inc. in the Gulf of Mexico and certain international markets.

We believe we are the largest provider of precommissioning and lcak detection services and one of the
largest providers of pipeline inspection services. Our principal competitors in pipeling inspection are Pipeline
Integrity International Ltd. (a division of General Electric), Tuboscope (a subsidiary of National Oilwell Varco)
and H. Rosen Engineering GmbH.




There are several competitors significantly larger than us in chemical services.

Our principal competitors in completion fluids are Baroid Corporation, a subsidiary of Halliburton
Company; M-I LLC, a joint venture of Smith International, Inc. and Schlumberger Ltd; and Tetra Technologies,
Inc.

Our principal competitors in completion tools are Halliburton Energy Services, a division of Halliburton
Company, Schlumberger Ltd, Baker Hughes Inc. and Weatherford International, Inc. Competitive factors
impacting our business are prices, technology, service record and reputation in the industry.

Markets and Customers

Demand for our services and products depends primarily upon the number of oil and natural gas wells being
drilled (“rig count”), the depth and drilling conditions of such wells, the number of well completions and the
level of workover activity worldwide. With the exception of the Canadian spring break-up, we are not
significantly impacted by seasonality. Spring break-up is the period during which snow and ice begin to melt and
heavy equipment is not permitted on the roads, resulting in lower drilling activity.

Our principal customers consist of major and independent oil and natural gas producing companies, as well
as national oil companies. During fiscal 2007, we provided services to several thousand customers, none of
which accounted for more than 5% ol consolidated revenue. While the loss of certain of our largest customers
could have a material adverse effect on our revenue and operating results in the near term, we believe we would
be able to obtain other customers for our services in the event of a loss of any of our largest customers.

United States

The United States is the largest single pressure pumping market in the world. We provide pressure pumping
services 1o our U.S. customers through a network of more than 50 locations throughout the U.S., a majority of
which offer both cementing and stimulation services. Demand for our pressure pumping services in the U.S. is
primarily driven by oil and natural gas drilling activity, which tends to be extremely volatile depending on the
current and anticipated prices of oil and natural gas. During the last 10 years, the lowest U.S. rig count averaged
601 in fiscal 1999 and the highest U.S. rig count averaged 1,749 in fiscal 2007, a 10% increase over the fiscal
2006 average U.S. rig count of 1,587. In fiscal 2006, the average U.S. rig count was 20% higher than the fiscal
2005 U.S. rig count average of 1,323,

International

We operate in approximately 50 countries which encompass the major international oil and natural gas
producing areas of Latin America, Europe, Africa, Russia, Asia and the Middle East. We generally provide
services to international customers through wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries. Additionally, we hold controlling
or minority interests in several joint venture companies through which we conduct a portion of our international
operations.

Many countries in which we operate are subject to political, social and economic risks which may cause
volatility within any given country. However, operating in approximately 50 countries provides some protection
against volatility risk of individual countries. Due to the significant investment in and complexity of international
projects, management believes drilling decisions relating to such projects tend to be evaluated and monitored
with a longer-term perspective with regard to oil and natural gas pricing. Additionally, the international market is
dominated by major oil companies and national oil compantes which tend to have different objectives and more
operating stability than the typical independent producer in North America. During the last 10 years, the lowest
international rig count averaged 616 in fiscal {999 and the highest international rig count averaged 989 in fiscal
2007, a 9% increase over the fiscal 2006 average international rig count of 905, In fiscal 2006, the average
international rig count was 9% higher than the fiscal 2005 international rig count average of 833.
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In fiscal 2003, we opened an office in Libya and started operations there during fiscal 2006. Since 1986, we
have been involved in the pumping services business in Algeria through minority interest participation in a
company known as Societe Algerienne de Stimulation de Puits Producteurs d’Hydrocabures (BJSP). In June
2006, we participated in a recapitalization of BJSP which resulted in the Company becoming the majority
interest partner and operator of the joint venture. Also in fiscal 2006, operating bases in New Zealand,
Uzbekistan and Oman were opened. In fiscal 2007, we began operation of stimulation vessels in India and began
fracturing work in Australia.

We operate in most of the major oil and natural gas producing regions of the world. International operations
are subject to risks that can materially affect our sales and profits, including currency exchange rate fluctuations,
inflation, governmental expropriation, currency controls, political instability and other risks. The risk of currency
exchange rate fluctuations and its impact on net income are mitigated by using natural hedges in which we
invoice for work performed in certain countries in both U.S. dollars and local currency. We attempt to match the
amounts invoiced in local currency with the amount of expenses denominated in local currency.

Canada

The Canadian market is very similar to the U.S. in that demand for our pressure pumping services is
primarily driven by oil and natural gas drilling activity, which tends to be exwremely volatile depending on the
current and anticipated prices of oil and natural gas. During the last 10 years, the lowest Canadian rig count
averaged 212 in fiscal 1999 and the highest Canadian rig count averaged 502 in fiscal 2006, a 20% increase over
the fiscal 2005 average rig count of 420. In fiscal 2007, the average rig count was 365, 27% lower than the fiscal
2006 rig count average. The results of operaiions in Canada are impacted by seasonality during Canadian spring
break-up. During the annual spring break-up, typically our third fiscal quarter, this region experiences a
significant decline in revenue and operating income.

Our Canadian operations are subject to currency cxchange rate fluctuations. The Canadian dollar is the
functional currency for this segment. The risk of currency exchange rate fluctuations and its impact on net
income are mitigated by using natural hedges in which we invoice for work performed in both U.S. dollars and
Canadian dollars. We attempt to match the amounts invoiced in Canadian dollars with the amount of expenses
denominated in Canadian dollars. As such, currency exchange rate fluctuations may have a significant impact on
our revenues, but we attempt to minimize the impact on operating income by utilizing natural hedges.

Employees

At September 30, 2007, we employed approximately 16,700 personnel around the world. Approximately
59% of our employees were employed outside the United States. As we experience expanding activity levels in
certain markets, we have sncountered intermittent labor shortages. As in the past, we have accommodated for
these temporary shortages by increasing the number of contract personnel and contract services in order to meet
customer requirements.

Governmental and Environmental Regulation

Our business is affected both directly and indirecdy by governmental regulations on a worldwide basis
relating to the oil and natural gas industry in general, as well as environmental and safety regulations which have
specific application to our business,

Through the routine course of providing services, we handle and store bulk quantities of hazardous
materials. If leaks or spills of hazardous materials handled, transported. or stored by us occur, we may be
responsible under applicable environmental laws for costs of remediating any damage to the surface or
sub-surface (including aquifers). Accordingly, we have implemented and continue to implement various
procedures for the handling and disposal of hazardous materials. Such procedures are designed to minimize the
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occurrence of spills or leaks of these materials. In addition, leak detection services, provided through our process
and pipeline division, involve the inspection and testing of Facilities for leaks of hazardous or volatile substances.

We have implemented and continue to implement various procedures to further assure our compliance with
environmental regulations. Such procedures generally pertain to the operation of underground storage tanks,
disposal of empty chemical drums, improvement to acid and wastewater handling facilities, and cleaning certain
areas at our facilities. In addition, we maintain insurance for certain environmental liabilities, which we believe is
reasonable based on our experience and knowledge of the industry,

The Comprehensive Environmential Response, Compensation and Liability Act, also known as “Superfund,”
imposes lability without regard to fault or the legality of the original conduct, on certain classes of persons who
contributed to the release of a “hazardous substance™ into the environment. Certain disposal facilities owned by
third parties but used by us or our predecessors have been investigated under state and federal Superfund statutes,
and we are currently named as a potentially responsible party for cleanup at four such sites. Although our level of
involvement varies at each site, we are one of numerous parties named and will be obligated to pay an allocated
share of the cleanup costs. While it is not feasible to predict the outcome of these matters with certainty, we
believe that the ultimate resolutions should not have a materially adverse effect on our results of operations or
financial position.

Research and Development

Our research and development activities are focused on improving existing products and services and
developing new technologies designed to meet industry and customer needs. We currently hold numerous patents
both inside and outside of the U.S. having remaining duration. Although such patents, in the aggregate, are
important to maintaining our compelitive position, no single patent is considered to be of a critical or essential
nature to our ongoing operations. We also use technologies owned by third parties under various license
arrangements, generally ranging from 10 to 20 years in duration, refating to certain products or methods for
performing services. None of these license arrangements is material to our overall operations.

We intend to continuc to devole significant resources to research and development efforts. For information
regarding the amounts of research and development expenses for each of the three fiscal vears ended
September 30, 2007, see Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Some of our key patented and patent pending technologies include:
(1) fracturing fluids, such as our high-performance SPECTRA Frac G® and low-polymer loading VISTAR®;

(2) our LiTE PROP® low-density proppants capable of producing greater propped fracture length and
conductivity than is produced by conventional proppants and may be transported to the formations with
lower polymer concentration gels than is required by conventional proppants;

(3) water control systems for reducing undesirable water production while increasing oil or natural gas
production using our relative water permeability modifier, AQUACoON™;

(4) well cleanout systems, including the TORNADO® and SANDVAC® systems, effective at removing sand
and other fill material from wells at much greater efficiencies than previously obtainable;

(5) surface-controiled sub-surface safety valves, including our FLOWSAFE™ WR wireline-retrievable and
FLowSAre™ TR tubing-retrievable valves;

(6) completion tool systems for conventional completions and horizontal well completions in both gravel-
packed and conventional configuration, and interventionless intelligent comptetion systems; and

(7) our INIECTSAFE™ wireline surface-controlled sub-surface safety valve system provides the
functionality of a wireline-retrievable safety valve with an integral capillary tubing flow path to allow
continuous chemical treatment up to 22,000 feet (6,700 meters) below the safety valve without
interruption or risk to the safety valve.




Available Information

Information regarding the Company, including corporate governance policies, ethics policies and charters
for the committees of the board of directors can be found on our internet website at htip:/fwiww. bjservices.com. In
addition, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q), current reports on Form 8-K and
amendmenits to those reports filed or furnished pursuant 10 Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act are made
available free of charge on our internet website on the same day that we electronically file such material with, or
furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™). Information filed with the SEC may be read or
copied at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549, Information on
operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also
maintains an internet website (frrp./Awww.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and
other information regarding issuers that file electronically.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Our current executive officers and their positions and ages are as follows:

Qifice

Held
Name E Position Since
JW. Stewart ............... 63 Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer 1990
Alasdair Buchanan .......... 47  Vice President—International Pressure Pumping Services 2007
Ronald F. Coleman .......... 32 Vice President—North America Pressure Pumping Services 2007
Susan Douget .............. 47  Vice President—Human Resources 2003
David Dunlap .............. 46 Executive Vice President—Chief Operating Ofticer 2007
Jeff Hibbeler ............... 42 Vice President—Technology and Logistics 2007
BrianT. McCole ............ 48  Vice President—Controller 2002
Margaret B, Shannon ........ 58 Vice President—General Counsel 1994
Jeffrey E. Smith ............ 45 Senior Vice President—Finance and Chief Financial Officer 2006
BretWells ................. 42 Vice President—Treasurer and Chief Tax Officer 2006
Paul Yust .................. 54 Vice President—Chief Information Officer 2006

Mr. Stewart joined Hughes Tool Company in 1969 as Project Engineer. He served as Vice President—Legal
and Secretary of Hughes Tool Company and as Vice President—Operations for a predecessor of the Company
prior to being named President of the Company in 1986. In 1990, he was also named Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.

Mr. Buchanan joined the Company in 1982 as a Trainee Engineer and was named Vice President—
International Pressure Pumping Services in 2007. He served as Vice President—Technology and Logistics from
2005 through 2007 and has previously served in numercus international Engineering and Operations positions,
including Region Manager of the Europe Africa Region, a position he had held from 1999 through 2005.

Mr. Coleman joined the Company in 1977 and was named Vice President—North American Pressure
Pumping Services in 2007. Prior to be promoted to Vice President—North America Pressure Pumping Services,
he held the position of Vice President U.S./Mexico Operations from 1998 through 2007. He previously held
various management positions within U.S./Mexico sales and operations.

Ms. Douget joined the Company in 1979 and was promoted to Director, Human Resources in 2003 and then
to Vice President in 2007. Prior to being promoted to Director, she held various positions within the Human

Resources function.

Mr. Dunlap joined the Company in 1984 as a District Engineer and was named Exccutive Vice President—
Chief Operating Officer in 2007. Prior to being promoted to Executive Vice President and Chief Operating
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Officer, he held the position of Vice President—International Division from 1995 through 2007. He also
previously served as Vice President—Sales for the Coastal Division of North America and U.S. Sales and
Marketing Manager.

Mr. Hibbeler joined the Company in 1989 as an Associate Engineer and was named Vice President—
Technology and Logistics in 2007. He has previously served as Region Manager for Asia Pacific. Prior to that, he
held the position of Country Manager for several countries in Asia Pacific and Latin America.

Mr. McCole originally joined the Company as Director of Internal Audit in 1991. He also served as
Controller of the Asia Pacific Region and Controlier of B} Chemical Services (formerly BJ Unichem). He left the
Company in 1998 and returned in 2001 to serve as Director of Internal Audit until becoming Controller in 2002
and was promoted to Vice President in 2007.

Ms. Shannon joined the Company in 1994 as Vice President—General Counsel from the law firm of
Andrews Kurth LLP, where she had been a partner since 1984.

Mr. Smith joined the Company in 1990 as Financial Reporting Manager. He also served as Director,
Financial Planning and the Director of Business Development. He held the position of Treasurer from 2002
through 2006 and was named Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer in 2006. In 2007, Mr. Smith
was promoted to Senior Vice President,

Mr. Wells joined the Company as Tax Director in 2002, Prior to that date, Mr. Wells worked the majority of
his career at Cargill, Inc. where he served as Assistant Vice President—Tax. He was named Treasurer and Chief
Tax Officer in 2006 and was promoted to Vice President in 2007.

Mr. Yust joined the Company as Chief Information Officer in 2006 and was promoted to Vice President in
2007. He joined the Company from Kraton Polymers LLC, a multinational chemical manufacturing and
distribution company, where he served as the Chief Information Officer from 2001 until 2005.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

This document, and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and other materials
released to the public contain “forward-looking statements,” as defined in the Privaie Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements may discuss our prospects, expected revenue, expenses
and profits, strategies for our operations and other subjects, including conditions in the oilfield service and oil
and natural gas industries and in the United States and international economy in general.

Our forward-looking statements are based on assumptions that we believe to be reasonable but that may not
prove to be accurate. All of our forward-looking information is, therefore, subject to risks and uncertainties that
could cause actual results to differ materially from the results expected. Although it is not possible to identify all
factors, these risks and uncertainties include the risk factors discussed below.

Business Risks

Our results of operations could be adversely affected if our business assumptions do not prove to be accurate
or if adverse changes occur in our business environment, including the following areas:

+ fluctuating prices of crude oil and natural gas,
« conditions in the oil and natural gas industry, including drilling activity,
* reduction in prices or demand for our products and services and level of acceptance of price book

increases in our markets,
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+ general global economic and business conditions,

+ international political instability, security conditions, hostilities, and declines in customer activity due
to adverse local and regiona!l conditions,

= our ability to expand our products and services (including those we acquire) into new geographic
markets,

= our ability to grow businesses we have acquired such that our investment can be fully realized

* our ability to genzrate technological advances and compete on the basis of advanced technology,
» risks from operating hazards such as fire, explosion, blowouts and oil spills,

* litigation for which insurance and customer agreements do not provide protection,

* adverse consequences that may be found in or result from internal investigations, including potential
financial and business consequences and governmental actions, proceedings, charges or penalties,

+ changes in currency exchange rates,

+ severe weather conditions, including hurricanes, that affect conditions in the oil and natural gas
industry,

* the business opportunities that may be presented to and pursued by us,

* competition and consolidation in our business, including the addition of new competitors and new
capacity in the U.S,,

* changes in law or regulations and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, and

= other risks and uncertainties detailed from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission,

Risks of Economic Downturn and Lower Oil and Natural Gas Prices

In the event of an economic downturn in the United States or globally, there may be decreased demand and
lower prices for oil and natural gas and therefore lower demand for our products and services. Our customers are
generally involved in the energy industry, and if these customers experience a business decline, we may be
subject to increased exposure to credit risk. If an economic downturn occurs, our results of operations may be
adversely affected. A decline in oil and natural gas prices for any reason could reduce demand for our services.

Risks from Operating Hazards

Our operations are subject to hazards present in the oil and natural gas industry, such as fire, explosion,
blowouts, oil spills and leaks or spills of hazardous materials. These incidents as well as accidents or problems in
normal operations can cause personal injury or death and damage to property or the environment. The customer’s
operations can also be interrupted. From time to time, customers seek to recover from us for damage to their
equipment or property that occurred while we were performing work. Damage to the customer’s property could
be extensive if a major problem occurred. For example, operating hazards could arise:

» in the pressure pumping, completion fluids, completion tools and casing and tubular services, during
work performed on oil and natural gas wells,

* in the production chemical business, as a result of use of our products in oil and natural gas wells and
refineries, and

* in the process an pipeline business, as a result of work performed by us at petrochemical plants as well
as on pipelines.
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Risks from Litigation

We have insurance coverage against some operating hazards. This insurance has deductibles or self-insured
retentions and contains certain coverage exclusions. Our insurance premiums can be increased or decreased
based on the claims made by us under our insurance policies. The insurance does not cover damages from breach
of contract by us or based on alleged fraud or deceptive trade practices. Whenever possible, we obtain
agreements from customers that limit our liability. Insurance and customer agreements do not provide complete
protection against losses and risks, and our results of operations could be adversely affected by claims not
covered by insurance.

Risks from Ongoing Investigations

In recent government actions, civil and criminal penalties and other sanctions have been imposed against
several public corporations and individuals arising from allegations of improper payments and deficiencies in
books and records and internal controls. The U.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission ("SEC”) and other authorities have a broad range of civil and criminal sanctions they may seek to
impose in these circumstances, including, but not limited to, injunctive relief, disgorgement, fines, penalties and
modifications to business practices and compliance programs. We are in discussions with the Department of
Justice and the SEC regarding our internal investigations and cannot currently predict the outcome of our
investigations, when any of these matters will be resolved, or what, if any, actions may be taken by the
Department of Justice, the SEC or other authorities or the effect the actions may have on our business or
consolidated financial statements.

Risks from International Operations

Our international operations are subject to special risks that can materially affect our sales and profits. These
risks include:

+ limits on access to international markets,

* unsettled political conditions, war, civil unrest, and hostilities in some petrolecum-producing and
consuming countries and regions where we operate or seek to operate,

* declines in, or suspension of, activity by our customers in our areas of operations due to adverse local
or regional economic, political and other conditions that reduce drilling operations,

+ fluctuations and changes in currency exchange rates,
= the impact of inflation,

» the ultimate tax liability may be significantly different due to different interpretations of local tax laws
and tax treaties, estimates and assumptions made regarding the scope of and timing of income earned
and changes in tax laws,

* governmental action such as expropriation of assets, and changes in general legistative and regulatory
environments, currency controls, global trade policies such as trade restrictions and embargoes
imposed and international business, political and economic conditions,

 terrorist attacks and threats of attacks have increased the political and economic instability in some of
the countries in which we operate, and

» the risk that events or actions taken by us or others as a result of our currently ongoing investigations
(see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis—Investigations Regarding Misappropriation and
Possible Illegal Payments.”) adversely affect our operations and our competitive position in the
affected countries.
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Weather

Our performance is significantly impacted by the demand for natural gas in North America. Warmer than
normal winters in North America, among other factors, may adversely impact demand for natural gas and,
therefore, demand for our services.

In addition, our U.S. operations could be materially affected by severe weather in the Gulf of Mexico.
Severe weather, such as hurricanes, may cause:

» evacuation of personnel and curtailment of services,
* damage to offshore drilling rigs resulting in suspension of operations, and

* loss of or damage to our equipment, inventory, and facilities.

Credit Rating

If our credit rating is downgraded below investment grade, this could increase our costs of obtaining, or
make it more difficult to obtain or issue, new debt financing. If our credit rating is downgraded, we could be
required to, among other things, pay additional interest under our credit agreements, or provide additional
guarantees, collateral, letters of credit or cash for credit support obligations.

Other Risks

Other risk factors that could cause actual results to be different from the results we expect include changes
in environmental laws and other governmental regulations.

The market price for our common stock, as well as other companies in the oil and natural gas industry, has
been historically volatile.

Many of these risks are beyond our control. In addition, future trends for pricing, margins, revenue and
profutability remain difficult to predict in the industries we serve and under current economic and political
conditions. Except as required by applicable law, we do not assume any responsibility to update any of our
forward-looking statements.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

ITEM 2. Properties

We own our corporate office in Houston, Texas. Other properties are either owned or leased and typically
serve all of our business lines. These properties are located near major oil and natural gas fields to optimally
address our customers’ necds. Administrative offices and facilities have been built on these properties to support
our business through regional and district facilities in approximately 200 locations worldwide, none of which are
individually significant due to the mobility of the equipment, as discussed in the “Raw Materials and Equipment”
section.

In addition, we own two primary manufacturing facilities in the Houston, Texas area. QOur research and
technology center in Tomball, Texas houses our main equipment and instrumentation manufacturing operation,
primarily serving pressure pumping services. Our facility in Houston, Texas produces certain components and
spare parts required for the assembly of downhole completion tools, service tools and well screens. We also have
strategic manufacturing facilities to support our global manufacturing efforts located in Calgary and Singapore.
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Our equipment consists primarily of pressure pumping and blending units and related support equipment
such as bulk storage and transport units. Although a portion of our U.S. pressure pumping and blending fleet is
being utilized through a servicing agreement with an outside party (see Lease and Other Long-Term
Commitments in Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements), the majority of our worldwide
fleet is owned and unencumbered. Our tractor fleet, most of which is owned, is used to transport the pumping and
bleading units. The majority of our light duty truck fleet, both in the U.S. and international operations, is also
owned.

We believe our facilities and equipment are adequate for our current operations, although growth of our
business in certain areas may require facility expansion or new facilities. For additional information with respect
to our fease commitments, see Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

The information regarding litigation and environmental matters described in Note 10 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted for stockholders’ vote during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2007.




PART 1

ITEM 5. Market For Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Our common stock began trading on The New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE™) in July 1990 under the
symbol “BIS”. At November 26, 2007, there were approximately 1,342 holders of record of our common stock.

The table below sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sales prices per share for our common
stock reported on the NYSE composite tape.

Commaon Stock
Price Range

High Low

Fiscal 2007

It QUATTET . . .. . $34.14  $27.43

L 1T 1y [ (O AU P 29.10 25.55

B QUAMET .« v ottt et e e e e e e e e 3126 2725 ;

ADQUAMET ... 29.52 2348 i
Fiscal 2006

LR 1V U= $39.78 $30.89

T 42.85 30.25

€1 1= 41.79 31.81

AR U . . .. i e 38.01 27.87

At September 30, 2007, there were 347,510,648 shares of common stock issued and 291,735,636 shares
outstanding. On January 31, 2006, our stockholders approved a charter amendment increasing the authorized
number of shares of common stock from 380,000,000 shares to 910,000,000 shares.

Stock Repurchases

On December 19, 1997, our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program of up to $150
million. Through a series of increases, the stock repurchase program was increased to $2.2 billion. Repurchases
are made at the discretion of management and the program will remain in effect until terminated by our Beard of
Directors. We purchased 52,348,000 shares at a cost of $597.4 million through fiscal 2005. During fiscal 2006,
we purchased a total of 31,725,882 shares at a cost of $1,133.3 million. During fiscal 2007, we purchased a total
of 2,564,457 shares at a cost of $74.6 million. We currently have remaining authorization to purchase up to an
additional $394.7 mitlion in stock.

We made no purchases of equity securities during the quarter ended September 30, 2007.

Dividend Program

We have paid cash dividends in the amount of $.05 per common share each quarter for fiscal years 2006 and
2007. We anticipate paying cash dividends in the amount of $.05 per common share on a quarterly basis in fiscal
2008. However, dividends are subject to approval by our Board of Directors each quarter, and the Board has the
ability to change the dividend policy at any time.
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Performance Graph—Total Stockholder Return

The following is a line graph comparing cumulative, five-year total sharcholder return with a general market
index (the S&P 500) and a group of peers in the same line of business or industry selected by the Company. The
peer group is comprised of the following companies: Baker Hughes Incorporated, Halliburton Company,
Schlumberger N.V., Smith International, Inc., and Weatherford International Lid.

The graph assumes investments of $100 on September 30, 2002 and the reinvestment of all dividends.
The graph shall not be deemed incorporated by reference by any general statement incorporating by
reference this Form 10-K into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates this
information by reference, and shail not otherwise be deemed filed under such Acts.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

Among BJ Services Company, The S&P 500 Index
And A Peer Group
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth certain selected historical financial data and should be read in conjunction
with “Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the
Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto which are included elsewhere herein. The selected
operating and financial position data as of and for each of the five years for the period ended September 30, 2007
have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements, some of which appear elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in
future periods.

As of and For the Year Ended September 30,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
{in thousands, except per share amounts)

Operating Data
Revenue ..................... $ 4,802,409 $ 4,367,864 § 3,243,186 $ 2,600,986 § 2,142,877
Operating expenses . ............ (3.651.870) (3,196,128) (2,606,127) (2,162,601) (1,849,636)
Operating income .............. 1,150,539 1,171,736 637,059 438,385 293,241
Interest expense ............... {32,731) (14,558) (10,951} (16,389) (15,948)
Interest income . ............... 1,624 14,916 11,281 6,073 2,141
Other income {expense), nett) .. (6,584) {11y 15,958 92,668 (3,762)
Income tax expense ............ (359,208) (367,473) (200,305) (159,696) (87,495)
Netincome ................... 753,640 04,610 453,042 361,041 188,177
Earnings per share(®):
Basic .................... 2.57 2.55 1.40 1.13 .60
Diluted .................. 2.55 2.52 1.38 1.10 58
Depreciation and amortization . .., 209,019 166,763 136,861 125,668 120,213
Capital expenditures®» .. ... ... .. 752,113 459,974 323,763 200,577 167,183
Financial Position Data (at end of
period):
Property,net ...........ccc.o.... $ 1,965,719 $1392926 $1.086932 $§ 913,713 $ 850,340
Totalassets ................... 4,715,212 3,862,288 3,409,642 3,301,330 2,800,135
Long-term debt and capital leases,
excluding current maturities . . . . 252,709 500,140 455 78,936 493754
Stockholders’ equity ............ 2,851,398 2,146,940 2,492,041 2,102,424 1,658,920
Cash dividends declared per
commonshare ............... .20 .20 17 .04

() Includes Halliburton patent infringement award of $86.4 million (net of legal expenses) and $12.2 million
for the reversal of excess liabilities in the Asia Pacific region in fiscal 2004. Additionally, it includes $9.0
million in misappropriated funds from the Asia Pacific region repaid to us and $9.5 million for the reversal
of excess accrued liabilities in the Asia Pacific region in fiscal 2005. See Note 12 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

) Earnings per share amounts have been restated for all periods presented to reflect the increased number of
common shares outstanding resulting from the 2-for-1 stock split effective September 1, 2005,

®  Excluding acquisitions of businesses. Includes $47.8 million in fiscal 2007 to purchase assets from an
equipment financing partnership. See Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Business

We are engaged in providing pressure pumping services and other oilfield services to the oil and natural gas
industry worldwide. Services are provided through four business segments: U.S./Mexico Pressure Pumping,
International Pressure Pumping, Canada Pressure Pumping and the Oilfield Services Group.

The U.S./Mexico, International Pressure Pumping and Canada Pressure Pumping segments provide
stimulation and cementing services to the petroleum industry throughout the world. Stimulation services are
designed to improve the flow of oil and natural gas from producing formations. Cementing services consists of
pumping a cement slurry into a well between the casing and the wellbore to isolate fluids that might otherwise
damage the casing and/or affect productivity, or that could migrate to different zones, primarily during the
driiling and completion phase of a well. See “Business” included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
for more information on these operations.

The Oilfield Services Group consists of chemical services, casing and tubular services, process and pipeline
services and completion tools and completion fluids services in the U.S. and select markets internationally.

Market Conditions

Our worldwide operations are primarily driven by the number of oil and natural gas wells being drilled, the
depth and drilling conditions of such wells, the number of well completions and the level of workover activity.
Dritling activity, in turn, is largely dependent on the price of crude oil and natural gas. These market factors often
lead to volatility in our revenue and profitability, especially in the United States and Canada, where we have
historically generated in excess of 50% of our revenue. Historical market conditions are reflected in the table
below for the twelve months ended September 30:

2007 % Change 2006 % Change 2005

Worldwide Rig Count!:
L0 1,749 10% 1,587 20% 1,323
International® .. ... ... 989 9% 505 9% 833
Canada . . ... e 365 27% 502 20% 420
Commodity Prices (average):
Crude Oil (West Texas Intermediate) ................ $64.62 2%  $66.06 23%  $53.52
Natural Gas (Henry Hub) . ...... ... ... ... ..... $ 690 -15% § 8.16 10% $ 7.40

() Estimate of drilling activity as measured by average active drilling rigs based on Baker Hughes Inc. rig
count information,

2 Includes Mexico rig count of 90, 85 and 111 for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

U.S. Rig Count

Demand for our pressure pumping services in the U.S. is primarily driven by oil and natural gas drilling
activity, which tends 1o be extremely volatile, depending on the current and anticipated prices of crude oil and
natural gas. During the last 10 years, the lowest annuai U.S. rig count averaged 601 in fiscal 1999 and the highest
annual U.S. rig count averaged 1,749 in fiscal 2007,

International Rig Count

Many countries in which we operate are subject to political, social and economic risks which may cause
volatility within any given country. However, our international revenue in total is less volatile because we
operate in approximately 50 countries, which provides a reduction of exposure to any one couniry. Due 1o the
significant investment and complexity of international projects, we believe drilling decisions relating to such
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projects tend to be evaluated and monitored with a longer-term perspective with regard to oil and natural gas
pricing. Additionally, the international markei is dominated by major oil companies and national oil companies
which tend to have different objectives and more operating stability than the typical independent producer in North
America. During the last 10 years, the lowest annual international rig count, excluding Canada and including
Mexico, averaged 616 in fiscal 1999 and the highest annual international rig count averaged 989 in fiscal 2007.

Cunadian Rig Count

The demand for our pressure pumping services in Canada is primarily driven by oil and natural gas drilling
activity, and similar to the U.S., tends to be extremely volatile. During the last 10 years, the lowest annual rig
count averaged 212 in fiscal 1999 and the highest annual rig count averaged 502 in fiscal 2006.

Acquisitions
Fiscal 2007

On November 3, 2006, we completed the acquisition of Profile International Ltd. {(“Profile™) for a total
purchase price of $2.5 million, which resulted in $2.2 million of goodwill. Profile, located in Newcastle,
England, provides caliper inspection tools for pipeline integrity assessment to markets worldwide. This business
complements our pipeline inspection business in the Oilfield Services Group segment.

On December 20, 2006, we purchased substantially all of the operating assets of Tekcor Technology, Lid.
(“Tekcor™) for $8.3 million, which resulted in an increase of $3.6 million to total current assets, $0.7 million in
property and equipment and $4.0 million to technology based intangible assets. Tekcor provides specialty
chemicals and related services to the oil and gas well drilling industry. Located in Houston, Texas, Tekcor
services markets along the Texas and Louisiana Gulf Coast and is included in our completion fluids business in
the Qilfield Services Group segment.

On March 1, 2007 we acquired Aberdeen-based Norson Services Ltd, (“Norson™), a division of Norson Group
Ltd., and substantially all of the assets of Norson Group’s United States subsidiary Norson Services LLC. The total
purchase price paid for both acquisitions was $29.0 million, including legal fees, which resulted in an increase of
$7.4 million in total current assets, $5.9 million in property and equipment, $1.8 million in intangible assets, $5.4
million in current liabilities and $19.3 million of goodwill. The acquisition strengthens our service capabilities with
the addition of Norson’s hydraulic and elecirical umbilical testing services and the services provided by the
Norson's subsea units, which include remote pigging and flooding, subsea hydro testing and subsea data logging.
This business complements our process and pipeline business in the Oilfield Services Group scgment,

On June 30, 2007, we completed the acquisition of substantially all of the capillary tubing assets of Allis-
Chalmers for a total purchase price of $16.3 million, which resulted in an increase of $1.5 million in current
assets, $1.8 in property and equipment and $13.0 million of goodwill. The assets are used for the installation and
service of capillary injection systems primarily in the U.S. and Mexico. The assets complement our Dyna-Coil
acquisition which occurred in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 and will enhance our chemical services operation
in the Oilfield Services Group segment.

Fiscal 2006

On June 25, 2006, we acquired an additional 2% interest in our Algerian joint venture, Societe Algerienne
de Stimulation de Puits Productures d’Hydrocarbures (“BISP™), for $4.6 million, increasing our total ownership
in BISP to 51%. L’Enterprise de Services aux Puits (“ENSP”). an indirect subsidiary of Sonatrach Petroleum
Corp., owns the remaining 49%. BJSP provides coiled tubing, fracturing and cementing services to the Algerian
market. Prior to obtaining controlling interest in BJSP, we accounted for the investment using the cost method, as
we could not exercise significant influence over the entity. Following this transaction, which was accounted for
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as a slep-acquisition, we have control of BJSP and consolidate the entity. In accordance with Accounting
Principles Board (“APB") 18, Equity Method of Accounting of Investments in Common Stock, and Accounting
Research Bulletin (*ARB"™) 51, Consolidated Financial Statements, in 2006, we retroactively adjusted beginning
retained earnings to adopt the equity method of accounting for our ownership interest in previous periods. This
adjustment resulted in an $8.3 million increase to beginning retained earnings. Following the transaction, the
assets and liabilities and results of operations of BJSP are included in our consolidated results, in the
International Pressure Pumping segment. The consolidation resulted in an increase of $42.4 million in total
current assets (including approximately $14.1 million in cash), $12.1 million in total current liabilities, $19.3
million in minority interest and $0.2 million in goodwill.

On August 15, 2006, we purchased substantially all of the operating assets of Dyna Coil of South Texas,
Ltd., Dyna Coil Injection Systems, Inc. and Dynochem, Lid. (collectively, “Dyna-Coil™) for $61.7 million in
cash, Dyna-Coil is focused on production optimization services, particularly the installation and service of
capillary injection systems and associated products (production chemicals) mostly in the U.S. and Canada and is
included in our chemical services business in the Oilfield Services Group segment. The acquisition resulted in an
increase of $8.2 million in total current assets, $3.4 million in property and equipment, $7.1 million of
technology based intangibles and $42.9 million in goodwill.

We are currently in the process of completing our review and determination of the fair values of the assets
acquired from Norson and Allis-Chalmers. Accordingly, allocation of the purchase price is subject to revision
based on final determination of the asset values. Pro forma financial information for our fiscal 2007 and fiscal
2006 acquisitions is not included as they were not material individually or in aggregate to our financial
statements.

Results of Operations

Consolidated (in millions)

2007 % Change 2006 % Change 2005

REVENUE . oottt e e $4,802.4 10%  $4.3679 35%  $3,243.2
Operaling iNCOME . ... oot ieiiinaneennns $1,150.5 2% $1,171.7 84% $ 637.1
Worldwide rigcount™ .. ... oo oo oo 3,103 4% 2,995 16% 2,576

) Estimate of drilling activity as measured by average active drilling rigs based on Baker Hughes Inc. rig
count information.

Results for fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006

All of our reportable segments, except Canada, contributed to the increase in revenue for fiscal 2007 when
compared to fiscal 2006. The increase primarily relates to higher activity in all major markets except Canada,
where depressed market conditions were present throughout fiscal 2007. Worldwide average active drilling rigs
for fiscal 2007 increased 4% compared to the prior year.

Fiscal 2007 consolidated operating income was 24%, a 2% decrcase compared to fiscal 2006. Operating
income margin was negatively impacted by a 68% decline in operating income from Canada as well as price
reductions in the U.S. market.

Results for fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005

Consolidated revenue in fiscal 2006 benefited from increased worldwide drilling activity and pricing
improvements in the U.S., Canada, and Latin America. Revenue growth surpassed the increase exhibited by
worldwide drilling activity during the same peried.
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Consolidated operating income also experienced significant growth in fiscal 2006 as a result of the
increased revenue described above. All of our business segments showed strong increases in operating income
from the same period in the prior year. For fiscal 2006, consolidated operating income margins improved to 27%
from 20% reported in fiscal 2005. These margin enhancements were largely due to higher revenue and improved
pricing in the U.S. and Canada, in addition to equipment and labor efficiencies.

See discussion below on individual segments for further revenue and operating income variance details.

U.S./Mexico Pressure Pumping Segment (in millions)

2007 % Change 2006 % Change 2005

Revenue .......... ... .. o i $2,562.7 9%  $2,353.8 40% $1,683.2
Operating income .. ........ ...t $ 8816 2% § 899.2 1% 524.9
US.rgecountt ... .o 1,749 10% 1,587 20% 1,323
MexicorigecountV ... ... L. o 50 6% 85 -23% 111

) Estimate of drilling activity as measured by average active drilling rigs based on Baker Hughes Inc. rig
count information.

Results for fiscal 2007 campared to fiscal 2000

Fiscal 2007 U.S./Mexico revenue increased compared to the prior year as the result of activity increases
most notably in East Texas, Permian Basin, and Northeast regions of the United States. The Mexico region also
benefited from improved revenues attributable to the expansion of our business in southern Mexico. These
increases were slightly offset by a decline in activity in the Pacific region. While the U.S./Mexico average active
drilling rigs increased 10% for fiscal 2007, revenue was negatively impacted by lower prices received for our
products and services stemming from competitive pressures in the market.

Operating income margin declined to 34% compared to 38% in the prior fiscal year, primarily due to lower
pricing, increased material and labor costs and increased depreciation expense.

Results for fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005

U.S./Mexico pressure pumping revenue increased as a result of increased drilling activity and improved
pricing in the U.S. market. Operating regions providing the most revenue growth include the Permion Basin, East
Texas, and Rocky Mountain areas. This was slightly offset by lower revenue in Mexico.

Activity: Every operating region within the U.S. experienced considerable revenue growth, due to a 20%
increase in U.S. drilling activity from the same period in the prior year. The U.S. revenue improvement was
partially offset by lower revenue in Mexico due to lower levels of drilling activity. The average rig count for
Mexico decreased 23%, compared Lo the prior fiscal year.

Price: Price improvement in the U.S. was supported by three price book increases between May of 2005 and
May 2006. A U.S. price book with a 15% average price increase was issued on May 1, 2005, Another price book
was issued on November 1, 2005 averaging an 11% price increase. Finally, on May 1, 2006 the U.S. issued the
latest price book increase. At September 30, 2006, 52% of customers were on the May 1, 2006 price book. The
degree of acceptance for any price book increase described above varies by customer and depends on activity
levels and competitive pressures.

The improvement in U.S./Mexico pressure pumping operating income was largely the result of the increase
in U.S. revenue described above. U.S. pricing improvements increased operating income without any associated
cost. In addition, operating income gained from labor efficiencies as activity increases occurred without a
proportional increase in headcount. Average headcount increased 12% in fiscal 2006, with revenue increasing
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40%. Cost efficiencies werc also obtained through utilization of newer, more efficient and more modern
equipment. Sec “Business” included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information en the U.S,
fleet recapitalization initiative.

International Pressure Pumping Segment (in millions)

2007 % Change 2006 % Change 2005

Revenue . .......ouuemee $1.074.7 21%  $884.7 28%  $693.5
Operatingincome .. ..... ... ... .. ..., 3 1527 11% $138.1 78% % 775
International rig count, excluding Mexico™ ............. 899 10% 820 13% 723

(v Estimate of drilling activity as measured by average active drilling rigs based on Baker Hughes Inc. rig
count information.

Results for fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006

% change in Revenue

Europe/Africa ... ... ... 27%
Middle Bast . ... ...t e e 21%
AsiaPacific .. ... 28%
RUSSIa . .ot e e e -5%
Latin AMerica ... ..t e 21%

All of our operating regions within International Pressure Pumping, except Russia, showed significant
increases in revenue in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006.

Europe/Africa showed improvement as the result of the acquisition of BISP in July 2006. We have acquired
a controlling interest in BISP and now consolidate its revenue. Excluding the impact from the BJSP acquisition,
revenue in the region increased 10%. Activity related revenue increases in the Netherlands and expansion of
operations into Libya also contributed to the region’s improvement from the prior year. These increases were
slightly offset by lower coiled tubing revenue in Norway. The average active drilling rig count increased 8%
compared to the prior fiscal year.

Despite a significant decline in revenue from the prior year’s non-repeat blowout work in Bangladesh, the
Middle East showed improved revenues due to increased activity and the introduction of vesse! operations in
India and increased coiled tubing work in Saudi Arabia. The average active drilling rig count for fiscal 2007
increased 13% compared 1o fiscal year 2006.

The award of contracts in Malaysia and activity increases in Australia accounted for most of Asia Pacific’s
revenue increase. This increase was offset by a decline in revenue from New Zealand due to non-repeat work in
the prior fiscal year. The average active drilling rig count for fiscal 2007 increased 4% in Asia Pacific compared
1o fiscal year 2006.

Our Russian revenue declined as the result of the divesture of our workover rig business in the region in the
second quarter of fiscal 2007 as well as lower margin performance activity. Excluding revenue from our
workover rig business, revenue from the region increased 10% compared to the prior year.

Our Latin American region improvement was due primarily 10 increased activity in Argentina, Colombia,
and Brazil. The average active drilling rig count increased 10% in Latin America compared to the prior year.

Operating income margin was 14% for fiscal 2007 compared to 16% in the prior year. Margin contributions
from the Asia Pacific and Latin America were offset by margin deciines from the high margin non-repeat
blowout work in Bangladesh in the prior fiscal year and activity declines in Norway.

26




Results for fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005

The following table summarizes the change in revenue for fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005 for cach of
the operating segments of International Pressure Pumping:

% change in Revenue

Europe/Africa ....... ... . e 29%
Middle East . ... .. ... ... e 29%
AsiaPacific ... ... .. e 32%
RUSSIa . . ... e e 5%
Latin America .. ... .. i e e 31%

All of our operating segments contributed to the revenue increase in fiscal 2006. Activity growth in
Argentina, Venezuela, Columbia and Brazil as well as in other markets within the region led the Latin American
revenue increase. Lalin America’s revenue increase of 31% surpassed the average rig count increase of 16%.
Middle East revenue increased largely due to strong rig activity in Kazakhstan and overall activity increases in
Saudi Arabia. Average drilling activity for the Middle East increased 17%. These contributions were slightly
affected by lower revenue due to the conclusion of Bangladesh blowout work in the prior year. Activity increases
in the North Sea and Africa contributed to revenue improvement in Europe/Africa. New Zealand and Vietnam
also added to the overall increase in revenue in fiscal 2006 for Asia Pacific. We acquired a controliing interest in
BJSP and accordingly, began consolidating its revenue effective July 1, 2006. Excluding BISP, revenue would
have increased 24% in Europe/Airica.

Operating income increased as the result of improved revenues in Latin America and the Middle East as
described above, as well as improved margins from Asia Pacific operations. Also contributing to the improved
operating income were higher equipment uatilization as well as labor efficiencies. Labor efficiencies were achieved
through an increase in activity without a proportional increase in headcount, thereby increasing employee utilization
per job. Headcount increased 7% compared to the same period in the prior year, while revenue increased 28%.
Consequently, operating income margins improved to 6% from 11% for fiscal 2006 compared to the prior fiscal year.

Canada Pressure Pumping (in millions)

2007 % Change 2006 % Change 2005

REVENUE . . $386.5 -20%  $481.4 38%  $348.4
Operating inComMe . . ... iieiaann.ns $ 325 -68%  $102.1 75% % 583
Canadarigecount™ . . . ... ... . .. ... 365 -27% 502 20% 420

M Estimate of drilling activity as measured by average active drilling rigs based on Baker Hughes Inc. rig
count information.

Results for fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006

Lower activity levels influenced by lower natural gas prices caused revenue to decline compared to the prior
year. Average active drilling rigs decreased 27% in fiscal 2007, with revenue exhibiting a corresponding decrease
of 20%. The region has also experienced lower pricing for our products and services.

Operating income margin decreased to 8% from 21% in the prior year. Along with declining prices for our
products and services, the region also had higher depreciation expense, material costs and labor costs during
fiscal 2007.

Results for fiscal 2006 compared io fiscal 2005

Geographic expansion, price improvement and incrcased average rig count contributed 1o our revenue
improvement in Canada. During fiscal 2006, we opened two new bases in active oil and gas producing areas in
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Canada. Compared to the same period in the prior year, Canadian operations generated a 38% increase in revenue
with average active drilling rigs increasing 20%. As revenues are primarily denominated in Canadian Dollars, a
weakening U.S. dollar, compared to the Canadian dollar, also improved revenue 10%.

Operating income improved as a result of the revenue increases described above, coupled with labor
efficiencies. Headcount increased 109, with revenue increasing 38%. While favorable foreign exchange rates in
Canada increased revenue, they had minimal impact on operating income as most of our expenses are also
denominated in Canadian dollars.

Qilfield Services Group (in millions)

2007 % Change 2006 % Change 2005

REVENUE . . e $778.4 20%  $648.0 25%  $517.7
Operating income . ... ........ ... ... ... ... 163.5 23% 1324 96% 67.6

Resulis for fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006

The following table summarizes the change in revenue for fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 for each of
the operating segments of the Oilfield Services Group:

% Change in Revenue

Tubular Services . ... . 30%
Process and Pipeline Services ... ........ ... ... ... . ... ... 21%
Chemical Services . ........ ... i 35%
CompletionTools . ....... ... o 28%
Completion Fluids . ... . ... . . i -5%

All of our operating segments, except Completion Fluids, showed revenue improvement in fiscal 2007. Our
Tubular Services’ revenue for fiscal 2007 increased largely due to international market expansion, while our
Process and Pipeline Services benefited from increased activity in our U.K. and U.S. operations as well as the
acquisition of Norson in March 2007. Excluding the impact of the Norson acquisition, Process and Pipeline
Services revenue increased 15%. Chemical Services revenue increased largely due to the acquisitions of Dyna-
Coil's and Allis-Chalmers’ capiliary string businesses. Excluding these acquisitions, Chemical Services revenue
increased 12%. Qur Completion Tools revenue improvement was due 1o intemational growth as well as increased
domestic deepwater activity, while revenue from our Completion Fluids operations declined due to the closing of
low margin operations in the U.K. and Norway in the previous year.

Fiscal 2007 operating income margin for the Oilfield Services Group was 21%, an increase from 20%
reporied in fiscal year 2006, with Tubular Services being the largest contributor to the increase.

Results for fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005

The following table summarizes the change in revenue for fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005 for each of
the operating segments of the Oilfield Services Group:

% Change in Revenue

Tubular Services .. ..ot 23%
Process and Pipeline Services . . ... .. . i s 17%
Chemical Services ........ ... i 45%
Completion Tools . ... ... 20%
Completion Fluids ... .. e 32%




The increase in revenue in fiscal 2006 was largely due to contributions from Completion Fluids, Chemical
Services, and Process and Pipeline Services. Overall activity increases, primarily in the U.S. and Canada, boosted
Process and Pipeline Services revenue, while the Completion Fluids and Chemical Services revenue increase was
more attributable to increased U.S. market activity.

Operating income margins for the Oilfield Services Group increased to 20% for fiscal 2006 compared to
13% for fiscal 2005, with the revenue increases described above being the primary contributor to the increase.

Outlook

As stated under “Market Conditions” above, our worldwide operations are primarily driven by the number
of oil and natural gas wells being drilled, the depth and drilling conditions of such wells, the number of well
completions and the level of workover activity.

We expect a slight increase in fiscal 2008 revenue over fiscal 2007 revenue. Our U.S./Mexico Pressure
Pumping revenue is expected to increase, bul we also expect pricing pressures to continue in the U.S. market. In
Canada, we expect a marginal increase in drilling activity and we expect spring break up levels 10 be less severe
than those experienced in fiscal 2007. We will continue to focus on labor cost efficiencics as well as equipment
utilization and monitoring of discretionary spending in North America.

Our International Pressure Pumping revenue is expected to increase in fiscal 2008. We have developed a
number of strategies to address low-performing countries and we expect margin expansion in this segment
throughout fiscal 2008.

Revenue from our Qilfield Services Group is expected o increase in fiscal 2008, as the divisions within this
segment continue to expand into the international markets through our existing pressure pumping infrastructure.

Other Expenses

The following table sets forth our other operating expenses (in millions):

%o of % of % of
2007 Revenue 2006 Revenue 2005 Revenue
Research and engineering . ....... ... ... ... .. $ 675 14% § 639 1.5% § 54.2 1.7%
Marketingexpense ............. .. ... ... . ..., 107.4 2.2% 103.3 2.4% 923 2.8%
General and administrative expense . ............. 144.0 3.0% 1320 3.0% i3 3.4%

Research and engineering expense: While these expenses have decreased as a percent of revenue, the total
of these expenses increased 6% for fiscal 2007 when compared (o fiscal 2006. The increase mostly relates to
increased personnel at our primary research facility in Tomball, Texas and cerlain operating locations 0 support
higher activity.

The total of these expenses increused 18% for fiscal 2006, compared to fiscal 2005. The increase was due
primarily to higher activily levels expertenced throughout our business. However. each of these expenses were
lower as a percent of revenue compared to the same periods in the prior fiscal year. This is due to our revenue
increasing at a higher rate than expenses related to research and engineering.

Muarketing expense: These expenses increased 4% for fiscal 2007 when compared to fiscal 2006 as the result of
higher commissions in certain markets internationally as well as increased headcount to support market growth.

These expenses increased 12% for fiscal 2006, compared to fiscal 2005. The increase was largely due to
higher activity levels experienced throughout our business in fiscal 2006,

Generul and administrative expense: While these expenses have remained consistent as a percent of
revenue, they increased 9% for fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006. The increase primarily relates to increased
personnel and a stock based compensation expense increase of $7.6 million, offset by lower compensation
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expense related 1o annual performance incentive accruals. The decrease in annual performance incentive accruals
is the primary reason for the decrease in Corporate expenses in fiscal 2007.

These expenses increased 19% in fiscal 2006, compared to 2005, due primarily to an overall increase in
salaries and incentive expense caused by increased personnel. Average headcount in this area increased 9%
compared to fiscal 2005. In addition, stock based compensation expense increased $2.5 million related to our
adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) 123(R) on October 1, 2005 (see Note 13 of
the Notes to the Consolidated financial Statements).

The following 1able shows a comparison of interest expense, interest income, and other income (expense),
net (in millions):

2007 2006 2005
INIETESL EXPENSE . . vttt iiee e $32.7) $(14.6) $(11.0)
Interest iNCOME . .. .ot v et e e e e e e e eaa 1.6 14.9 11.3
Other income {expense), nel . ..., (6.6) - 16.0

Interest Expense and Interest Income. Interest expense, net of capitalized interest, increased $18.1 million
for fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 as the result of higher average outstanding debt during the respective
periods. As a result of an increased average debt balance in addition to higher manufacturing levels, capitalized
interest increased $6.0 million for fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006.

The increase in interest expense of $3.6 million for fiscal 2006, compared to fiscal 2005, was due to our
public offering of $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes in June 2006 as well as borrowing
$160.0 million under our Revolving Credit Facility during the period. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources”™
below for further discussion of the debt issuance and the Revolving Credit Facility agreement.

Interest income decreased $13.3 million for fiscal 2007 compared fiscal 2006 as a result of a lower average
cash and cash equivalents balance throughout the fiscal year.

Interest income increased $3.6 million in fiscal 2006, compared to the prior year, as a result of increased
average cash and cash equivalents balances as well as favorable interest rates.

Other Income (Expense), netr: The increase in other expense, net for fiscal 2007 consisted primarily of minority
interest expense, due to the acquisition of controlling interest in BISP during the third quarter of fiscal 2006.

In fiscal 2006, we received $2.8 million for the recovery of misappropnated funds, offset by other expenses.
Other Income increased during fiscal 2005 due to recording a gain of $9.0 million relating to the recovery of
misappropriated funds in the first quarter and $9.5 million recorded in the fourth quarter to reflect the reversal of
excess accrued liabilities in the Asia Pacific region.

For additional information, see Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historical Cash Flow

The following table sets forth the historical cash flows for the years ended September 30 (in millions):

2007 2006 2005
Cash flow from operations .. ...........c...ooueeoa... $ 8407 $8325 §5457
Cash flow used ininvesting ......................... (777.9)  (503.2) (86.2)
Cash flow used in financing . ........ ... ... .. ....... (98.00 (593.4) (527.8)
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash ............... 1.0 — —
Change in cash and cash equivalents .............. $ (34.2) $(264.1) § (68.2)
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Fiscal 2007

As a result of pricing pressures in North America during fiscal 2007, we experienced only a modest increase
in cash flow from operations compared to fiscal 2006, Significant uses of cash included increased inventory in
anticipation of increases in activity, increased accounts receivable as a result of increased revenue and days sales
outstanding, and increased prepaid expenses primarily related to tax payments. Increased accounts payable also
contributed to cash flow fram operations, mostly from increased activity levels.

The cash flow used in investing during fiscal 2007 was almost entirely due to $752.1 million of purchases of
property, plant, and equiprent, including $47.8 million paid to buy-out an equipment partnership established in
1997. We also paid $57.9 million, net of cash, for acquisitions.

Cash flows used in financing consisted of $11.0 million, net, in proceeds from short term borrowings, $74.6
million in repurchases of our common stock and $58.6 million of dividend payments during fiscal 2007. We also
received proceeds in the amount of $22.4 million from employee stock purchases and stock option exercises
during fiscal 2007.

Fiscal 2006

Cash flow from operations increased principally as a result of increased activity levels. Our working capital
decreased $139.8 million at September 30, 2006 compared to September 30, 2005. This was largely a result of
utilizing our cash to repurchase treasury stock, Accounts receivable increased $215.0 million, inventory
increased $111.2 million, and accounts payable increased $105.8 million primarily as a result of an increase in
worldwide activity levels. Also as a result of increased activity, we increased the number of employees and
therefore, our employee compensation and benefits liability increased $26.8 million.

The cash tlow used in investing was almost entirely due to $460.0 million of purchases of property, plant,
and equipment in fiscal 2006. We also paid $52.2 million in connection with two acquisitions (sec Note 3 in the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

In fiscal 2006, we spent $1,133.3 miltion to repurchase 31.7 million shares of stock. During the year, cash
flow from financing activities included proceeds from our additional long-term debt in the amount of $499.7
million in Senior Notes. These proceeds were primarily used to repurchase treasury stock. We also had $160.0
million in borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility and paid dividends of $64.3 million.

Fiscal 2005

Our working capital increased $136.8 million at September 30, 2005 compared to September 30, 2004,
Accounts receivable increased $154.7 million, inventory increased $53.2 million, and accounts payable and
accrued employee compensation increased $81.8 million and $26.9 million, respectively, primarily as a result of
an increase in U.S. and Canadian activity. In April 2005, we redeemed the outstanding Convertible Senior notes
for $422.4 million thereby reducing cash and cash equivalents and current debt.

The cash flow provided by investing was primarily attributable to our investment in U.S. treasury notes
maturing during 2005 in the amount of $229.8 million offset by capital expenditures of $323.8 million for fiscal
2005,

Cash flows used in financing were primarily the result of the redemption of all of the outstanding

Convertible Senior Notes referred to above, repurchases of our common stock totaling $98.4 million and the
payment of dividends in the amount of $51.9 million during fiscal 2005.
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Ligquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flows from operations are expected to be our primary source of liquidity in fiscal 2008. Our sources of
liquidity also include cash and cash equivalents of $58.2 million at September 30, 2007 and the available
financing facilities listed below (in millions):

Borrowings at Availahle at
Financing Facility Expiration September 30, 2007  September 30, 2007
Revolving Credit Facility .. ................ August 2012 $147.0 $253.0
DisCretionary ..........oovveeeennnnnn.. Various times within the $ 243 $140.6

next 12 months

On June 8, 2006, we completed a public offering of $500.0 miilion aggregate principal amount of Senior
Notes, consisting of $250.0 million of floating rate Senior Notes due 2008, with an annual interest rate of three-
month LIBOR plus 17 basis points, and $250.0 million of 5.75% Senior Notes due 2011. The net proceeds {rom
the offering of approximatety $497.1 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and
expenses, were used primarily to repurchase outstanding shares of common stock and also repay indebtedness,
fund capital expenditures and for other corporate purposes. As of September 30, 2007, we had $250.0 million of
the Senior Notes due 2008 issued and outstanding and $249.8 million, net of discount, of the 5.75% Senior Notes
due 2011 issued and outstanding.

In August 2007, we amended and restated our then existing revolving credit facility. The amended and
restated revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) permits borrowings up to $400 million in
principal amount. The Revolving Credit Facility includes a $50 million sublimit for the issuance of standby
letters of credit and a $20 million sublimit for swingline loans. Swingline loans have short-term maturities and
the remaining amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility become due and payable in August 2012.
In addition, we have the right to request up to an additional $200 million over the permitted borrowings of $400
million, subject to the approval of our lenders at the time of the request. Interest on outstanding borrowings is
charged based on prevailing market rates. We are charged various fees in connection with the Revolving Credit
Facility, including a commitment fee based on the average daily unused portion of the commitment, totaling $0.3
million in fiscal 2007 and $0.5 million in fiscal 2006. In addition, the Revolving Credit Facility charges a
utilization fee on all outstanding loans and letters of credit when usage of the Revolving Credit Facility exceeds
62.5%, though there were no material fees in fiscal 2007 or 2006. At September 30, 2007 and 2006, there was
$147.0 million and $160.0 miilicn, respectively, in outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility.

In addition to the Revolving Credit Facility, we had $164.9 million of unsecured, discretionary lines of
credit at September 30, 2007, which expire at the bank’s discretion. There are no requirements for commitment
fees or compensating balances in connection with these lines of credit and interest is at prevailing market rates.
There was $24.3 million and $0.3 million in outstanding borrowings under these lines of credit at Sepiember 30,
2007 and 2006, respectively. The weighted average interest rates on shor-term borrowings outstanding as of
September 30, 2007 and 2006 were 5.40% and 5.95%, respectively.

Management believes that cash flows from operations combined with cash and cash equivalents, the
Revolving Credit Facility and other discretionary credit facilities provide us with sufficient capital resources and
liquidity to manage our routine operations, meet debt service obligations, fund projected capital expenditures,
repurchase common stock, pay a regular quarterly dividend and support the development of our short-term and
long-term operating strategies. If the discretionary lines of credit are not renewed, or if borrowings under these
lines of credit otherwise become unavailable, we expect to refinance this debt by arranging additional commitied
bank facilities or through other long-term borrowing alternatives.

The Senior Notes and Revolving Credit Facility include various customary covenants and other provisions,
including the maintenance of certain profitability and solvency ratios, none of which materially restrict our

activities. We are currently in compliance with all covenants imposed.
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Cash Requirements

We anticipate capital expenditures to be approximately $640 million in fiscal 2008, compared to $704.3
million in fiscal 2007, excluding $47.8 million for the purchase of assets from an equipment partnership. The
2008 capital expenditure program is expected to consist primarily of capital for facilities, new pressure pumping
equipment, new equipment for our Oilfield Services Group. and capital to extend the useful life of existing
assets. In 1998, we embarked on a program to replace our aging U.S. fracturing pump fleet with new, more
efficient and higher horsepower pressure pumping equipment. We have since expanded the U.S, fleet
recapitatization initiative to include additional equipment, such as cementing, nitrogen and acidizing equipment
and have made significant progress in adding new equipment. However, much ol the older equipment still
remains in operation due to the increases in market activity. We plan to continue adding new equipment to our
fleet and the market activity level at the time the equipment is ready for use will determine if the new equipment
will be used for expansion or used as replacement assets. At the end of fiscal 2007, approximately 20% of our
U.S. fleet remained candidates for future replacement as part of our recapitalization initiative. The actual amount
of fiscal 2008 capital expenditures will depend primarily on maintenance requirements and expansion
opportunities and our ability to execute our budgeted capital expenditures,

In fiscal 2008, our minimum pension and postretirement funding requirements are anticipated to be
approximately $19.0 million. We contributed $16.8 million during fiscal 2007.

We paid cash dividends in the amount of $.05 per common share on a quarterly basis in fiscal 2007, totaling
$58.6 million. We anticipate paying a quarterly dividend in fiscal 2008; however, dividends are subject to
approvil of our Board of Directors each quarter and the Board has the ability to change the dividend policy at
any time.

As of September 30, 2007, we had $250.0 million of Senior Notes due 2008 issued and outstanding and
$249.8 million of 5.75% Senior Notes due 2011 issued and outstanding, net of discount (collectively “the
Notes™). We intend to redeem the $250.0 million Senior Notes due 2008 with existing cash and if necessary,
through funds available from our Revolving Credit Facility. We expect cash paid for net interest expense (net of
interest income) to be approximately $26.3 million in fiscal 2008.

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and other commercial commitments as of
September 30, 2007 (in thousands):

Less than 1-3 4-5 After 5
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year Years Years Years
Long term and shorttermdebt . .................. $ 671,268 § 421,268 $250000 $ — § —
Interest on long term debt and capital feases ..... ... 69,423 26,296 28,752 14,375 —
Capital lease obligations ....................... 2,949 867 1,146 936 —
Operating leases . ....... ... ... ... ... ........ 174,956 46,703 73,716 51,634 2,904
Equipment financing arrangement™ ... ... ... L. 54,649 12,990 41,659 — —
Purchase obligations®® . ........................ 392576 388,576 4,000 — —
Purchase commitments® ... ... .. .............. 101,822 26,317 41,032 30,643 3,830
Other long-term liabilities™ ... .................. 91,449 90,777 144 96 432
Total contractual cash obligations ................ $1,554,092 $1,013,794 $440449 $97.684 $7,166

O As discussed below. we have the option, but not the obligation, to purchase the pumping service equipment
in this partnership for approximately $32 million in 2010. Currently, we expect to purchase the pumping
service equipment and have therefore included the option payment in the table above.

@ Includes agreements to purchase goods or services that have been approved and that specify all significant
terms (pricing, quantity and timing). Our policies do not require & purchase order to be completed for items
that are under $200 and are for miscellaneous items, such as office supplies.
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) We have entered into agreements with certain suppliers to ensure that a certain level of materials are
maintained in the U.S. and Canada.

“  Includes expected cash payments for long-term liabilities reflected in the consolidated baiance sheet where
the amounts and timing of the payment are known. Amounts include: Asset retirement obligations, known
pension funding requirements, post-retirement benefit obligation. environmental accruals and other
miscellancous long-term obligations. Amounts exclude: Deferred gains (see “Off Balance Sheet
Transactions” below), pension obligations in which funding requirements are uncertain and long-term
contingent liabilities.

We expect that cash and cash equivalents and cash flows from operations will generate sufficient cash flows
1o fund all of the cash requirements described above.

Off Balance Sheet Transactions

In 1999, we contributed certain pumping service equipment to a timited partnership, in which we own a 1%
interest. The equipment is used to provide services to our customers for which we pay a service fee over a period
of at least six years, but not more than 13 years, at approximately $12 million annually. This is accounted for as
an operating lease. We assessed the terms of this agreement and determined it was a variable interest entity as
defined in FIN 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. However, we were not deemed to be the primary
beneficiary, and therefore, consolidation was not required. The transaction resulted in a gain that is being
deferred and amortized over 13 years. The balance of the deferred gain was $9.0 million and $16.1 million as of
September 30, 2007 and September 30, 2006, respectively. The agreement permits substitution of equipment
within the partnership as long as the implied fair value of the new property transferred in at the date of
substitution equals or exceeds the implied fair value, as defined, of the current property in the partnership that is
being replaced. As a result of the substitutions, the deferred gain was reduced by $0.8 million in fiscal 2007 and
$2.8 million in fiscal 2006. In September 2010, we have the option, but not the obligation, to purchase the
pumping service equipment for approximately $32 million. We currently have the intent to exercise this option.

The option price to purchase the equipment under the partnership depends in part on the fair market value of
the equipment held by the parinership at the time the option is exercised as well as other factors specified in the
agreement.

In 1997, we contributed certain pumping service equipment to a limited partnership, in which we owned a
1% interest. The equipment was used to provide services to our customers for which we paid a service fee. On
February 9, 2007, we purchased the remaining partnership interest for $47.8 million, and as a result acquired the
partnership equipment. The acquisition of the partnership controlling interest was accounted for as an asset
purchase.

Contractual Obligations

We routinely issue Parent Company Guarantees (“PCGs™) in connection with service contracts entered into
by our subsidiaries. The issuance of these PCGs is frequently a condition of the bidding process imposed by our
customers for work in countries outside of North America. The PCGs typically provide that we guarantee the
performance of the services by our local subsidiary. The term of these PCGs varies with the length of the service
contract. To date, the parent company has not been called upon to perform under any of these PCGs.

We arrange for the issuance of a variety of bank guarantees, performance bonds and standby letters of
credit. The vast majority of these are issued in connection with contracts we, or our subsidiary, have entered into
with customers. The customer has the right to call on the bank guarantee, performance bond or standby letter of
credit in the event that we, or our subsidiary, default in the performance of services. These instruments are
required as a condition to being awarded the contract, and are typically released upon completion of the contract.
The balance of these instrutents are predominantly standby letters of credit issued in connection with a varicty

34




of our financial obligations, such as in support of fronted insurance programs, claims administration funding,
certain employee benefit plans and temporary importation bonds. The following table summarizes our other
commercial commitments as of September 30, 2007 (in thousands):

Amount of commitment expiration per period

Total
Amzt.llnts Less than 1-3 4-5 Over
Other Commercial Commitments Committed 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Standby Letters of Credit .......................... $ 53346 $ 53336 3% 10 $8 — $ —
GUATANIEES . . . . .. .t e 193,392 81,567 65,595 15,658 30,572
Total Other Commercial Commitments .............. $246,738 $134,903 $65,605 315,658 $30,572

Investigations Regarding Misappropriation and Possible Illegal Payments

We are in discussions with the DOJ and SEC regarding our internal investigation and certain other matters
described in Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. It is not possible to accurately
predict at this time when any of these matters will be resolved. Based on current information, we cannot predict
the outcome of such investigations, whether we will reach resolution through such discussions or what, if any,
actions may be taken by the DOJ, SEC or other authorities or the effect the foregoing may have on our
consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

For an accounting policy to be deemed critical, the accounting policy must first include an estimate that
requires a company to make assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the accounting
estimate is made. Second, different estimates that the company reasonably could have used for the accounting
estimate in the current period, or changes in the accounting estimate that are reasonably likely to occur from
peried to period, must have a material impact on the presentation of the company’s financial condition or results
of operations.

Estimates and assumptions about future events and their effects cannot be perceived with certainty. We base
our estimates on historical experience and on other assumptions that are belicved to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments. These estimates may change as new
evenls occur, as more experience is acquired, as additional information is obtained and as our operating
environment changes. Maierially different results can occur as circumstances change and additional information
becomes known, including estimates not deemed “critical” under the proposed rule by the SEC. We believe the
following are the most critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our consolidated financial
siatements and the significant judgments and uncertainties affecting the application of these policies. The
selection of accounting estimates, including those deemed “critical,” and the associated disclosures in this
discussion have been discussed by management with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. The critical
accounting policies should be read in conjunction with the disclosures elsewhere in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. Significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Goodwill: We account for goodwill in accordance with SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
SFAS 142 requires goodwill to be reviewed for possible impairment using fair value measurement techniques on
an annual basis, or if circumstances indicate that an impairment may exist. Specifically, goodwill impairment is
determined using a two-step process. The first step of the goodwill impairment test compares the fair value of a
reporting unit to its net book value, including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the net book
value, no impairment is required and the second step is unnecessary. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less
than the net book value, the second step is performed to determine the amount of the impairment, if any. Fair
value measures include quoted market price, present value technique (estimate of future cash flows), and a
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valuation technique based on multiples of earnings or revenue. The second step compares the implied fair value
of reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. If the carrying amount of reporting unit
goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss shall be recognized in the amount
equal to that excess. The implied fair value is determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill
recognized in a business combination. That is, the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all the assets and
liabilities as if the reporting unit had just been acquired in a business combination and the fair vatue of the
reporting unit was the purchase price paid to acquire the reporting unit.

Determining fair value and the implied fair value of a reporting unit is judgmental and often involves the use
of significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions could have a significant impact on
whether or not an impairment charge is recognized and also the magnitude of the impairment charge. Our
estimate of fair value is primarily determined using discounted cash flows. This approach uses significant
assumptions such as a discount rate, growth rate, terminal value multiples, and rig count.

No impairment adjustment was necessary to our $363.9 million goodwill balance at September 30, 2007.
See Note 11 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on goodwill.

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans: Pension expense is determined in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions and SFAS 106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement
Benefits Other Than Pensions. We determine the annual net periodic pension expense and pension plan liabilities
on an annual basis using a third-party actuary. In determining the annual estimate of net periodic pension cost,
we are required to make an evaluation of critical assumptions such as discount rate, expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets and expected increase in compensation levels. These assumptions may have an effect on the
amount and timing of future contributions. Discount rates are based on high quality corporate fixed income
investments. Long-term rate of return assumptions are based on actuartal review of our asset allocation and
returns being earmmed by similar investments. The rate of increase in compensation levels is reviewed with the
actuaries based upon our historical salary experience. The effects of actual results differing from our assumptions
are accumulated and amortized over future periods, and, therefore, generally affect our recognized expense in
future periods. In accordance with SFAS 158, we utilize an estimated long-term rate of return on plan assets and
any difference from the actual return is the unrecognized gain/loss which is recognized as a component of other
comprehensive income. Amounts recorded to other comprehensive income are amortized and recognized in net
pericdic pension expense in future periods.

In fiscal 2008, we will have a pension and postretirement funding requirement of $19.0 million. We expect
to fund this amount with cash flows from operating activities. See Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for more information on our pension plans.

In September 2006, we entered into an agreement Lo settle our obligation with respect to the U.S. defined
benefit plan. Plan assets of approximately $72 million, plus our contribution of $1.5 million, were used to
purchase an insurance contract that is being used to fund the benefits and settle the plan. The proposed settlement
requires approval from the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation and the Internal Revenue Service to relieve us
of primary responsibility for the pension benefit obligation. Once regulatory approval is obtained, which is
expected in fiscal 2008, we will expense approximately $23.3 million in connection with the settlement. This
consists of $7 million of prepaid pension cost and $16 million of loss currently recognized in other
comprehensive income. By relieving us of our obligation, the expense that would have otherwise been
recognized over the remaining plan life will be accelerated to the period in which approval is received.

Income Taxes: The effective income tax rates were 32.3%, 31.4%, and 30.7% for the years ended
September 30, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. These rates vary primarily due to fluctuations in taxes from
the mix of domestic versus foreign income. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for differences
between the book basis and tax basis of the net assets of the Company. In providing for deferred taxes,
management considers current tax laws, estimates of future taxable income and available tax planning strategies.
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This process also involves making forecasts of current and future years’ Uniled States taxable income.
Unforeseen events and industry conditions may impact these forecasts which in wrn can affect the carrying value
of deferred tax assets and liabilities and impact our future reported earnings. Our tax filings for various periods
are subjected to audit by tax authorities in the jurisdictions where we conduct business. These audits may result
in assessmenis of additional taxes that are resolved with the authorities or potentially through the courts.
Resolution of these situations inevitably includes some degree of uncertainty; accordingly, we provide taxes only
for the amounts we believe will ultimately result from these proceedings. In addition to the aforementioned
assessments that have been received from various taxing authorities, we provide for taxes in certain situations
where assessments have not been received. In those situations, we accrue income taxes where we consider it
probable that the taxes ultimately payable will exceed those amounts reflected in filed tax returns; accordingly,
taxes are provided in those situations under the guidance in SFAS 5.

Self Insurance Accruals and Loss Contingencies: We are self-insured for certain losses relating to workers’
compensation, general liability, property damage and employee medical benefits for claims filed and claims
incurred but not reported. Management reviews the liability on a quarterly basis. The liability is based primarily on
an actuarial undiscounted basis using individual case-based valuations and statistical analysis and is based upon
judgment and historical experience; however, the final cost of many of these claims may not be known for five
years or longer. This estimate is subject to trends. such as ioss development factors, historical average claim
volume, average cost for settled claims and current trends in ¢laim costs. Significant and unanticipated changes in
these trends or future actual payouts could result in additional increases or decreases to the recorded accruals, We
have purchased stop-loss coverage in order to limit, to the extent feasible, our aggregate exposure to certain claims.
There is no assurance that such coverage will adequately protect us against liability from all potential consequences.

As discussed in Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financiat Statements, legal proceedings covering a wide
range of matters are pending or threatened against the Company. It is not possible to predict the outcome of the
litigation pending against the Company and litigation is subject to many uncertainties. It is possible that there could
be adverse developments in these cases. We record provisions in the consolidated financial stalements for pending
titigation when we determine that an unfavorable outcome is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably
estimated. While we belicve that our accruals for these matters are adequate, if the actual loss from a loss
conlingency is significantly different than the estimated toss, our results of operations may be over or understated.

Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 (“SFAS 1597), The Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities. including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115, This Statement provides
companies with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at fair value. Under SFAS 159,
companies that elect the fair value option will report unrealized gains and losses in earnings at each subsequent
reporting date. In addition, SFAS 159 establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate
comparisons between companies that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and
liabilities. The fair value option election is irrevocable, unless a new election date occurs, SFAS 159 is effective
the beginning of an emtity’s first fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2007 and is to be applied
prospectively, unless the entity elects early adoption. We are currently in the process of evaluating the impact of
SFAS 159 on our financial statements, if we choose to elect this option.

In September 2006, \he FASB issued SFAS No. 157 ("SFAS 157"), Fair Value Measurements, effective for
financial statements issucd for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. SFAS 157 introduces a new
defnition of fair value, a fair value hierarchy (requiring market based assumptions be used, if availabie) and new
disclosures of assets and liabilities measured at fair value based on their level in the hierarchy. We are currently
in the process of evaluating the impact of SFAS 157 on our financial statements.

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 487), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, effective for fiscal years beginning after December [3, 2006. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold
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and measurement attribute, as well as criteria for subsequently recognizing, derecognizing and mecasuring tax
positions for financial statement purposes and requires companies to make disclosures about uncertain income
lax positions. including a detailed rollforward of tax benefits taken that do not qualify for financial statement
recognition. In addition, FIN 48 requires us to disclose the classification of interest and penalties related to
uncertain tax positions, We record these as a component of income tax expense. We estimate the impact of
adopting FIN 48 to be a reduction in retained earnings in the range of $6 million to $10 miilion.

Forward Looking Statements

This document contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 concerning, among other things,
our prospects, expected revenue, expenses and profits, developments and business strategies for our operations,
all of which are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions. These forward-looking statements are
identified in statements described as “Outlook™ and by their use of terms and phrases such as “expect,”
“estimate,” “project,” “forecast,” “believe,” “achievable,” “anticipate”, “should” and similar terms and phrases.
These statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by us in light of our experience and our
perception of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments and other [actors we believe are
appropriate under the circumstances. Such statements are subject to:

(LTS LEINTY

+ fluctuating prices of crude oil and natural gas,
» conditions in the oil and natural gas industry, including drilling activity,

* reduction in prices or demand for our products and services and level of acceplance of price book
increases in our markets,

+ general global economic and business conditions,

» international political instability, security conditions, hostilities, and declines in customer activity due
to adverse local and regional conditions,

« our ability to expand our products and services (including those we acquire) into new geographic
markets,

= our ability to generate technological advances and compete on the basis of advanced technology,
* risks from operating hazards such as fire, explosion, blowouts and oil spills,
+ litigation for which insurance and customer agreements do not provide protection,

= adverse consequences that may be found in or result from internal investigations, including potential
financial and business consequences and governmental actions, proceedings, charges or penalties,

* changes in currency exchange rates,

» severec weather conditions, including hurricanes, that affect conditions in the oil and natural gas
industry,

+ the business opportunities that may be presented to and pursued by us,

» competition and consolidation in our business,

» changes in law or regulations and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, and

* other risks and uncertainties detailed from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange

Commission.

If one or more of these risks or uncertainties maierialize, or if underlying assumptions prove incorrect,
actual results may vary materially from those expected, estimated or projected. Other than as required under
securities laws, we do not assume a duty to update these forward looking statements. This list of risk factors is
not intended to be comprehensive. See *Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The table below provides information about our market sensitive financial instruments and constitutes a
“forward-locking statement.” Our major market risk exposure is to foreign currency fluctuations internationally
and changing interest rates, primarily in the United States, Canada and Europe. Our policy is to manage interest
rates through use of a combination of fixed and floating rate debt. If the fleating rates were to increase by 10%
from September 30, 2007, our combined interest expense to third parties would increase by a total of $197
thousand each month in which such increase continued. At September 30, 2007 and 2006, we had fixed-rate debt
outstanding of $249.8 million and $249.7 million, net of discount, respectively. These instruments are fixed-rate
and, therefore, do not expose us to the risk of loss in earnings due to changes in market interest rates. However,
the fair value of these instruments would increase by approximately $4.5 million if interest rates were to decline
by 10% from their rates at September 30, 2007.

Periodically, we borrow funds which are denominated in foreign currencies, which exposes us to market risk
associated with exchange rate movements. There were $15.4 million and $0.3 million borrowings denominated in
foreign currencies at September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. When management believes prudent, we enter
into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the impact of foreign currency fluctuations. There were no such
forward foreign exchange contracts at September 30, 2007. The expected maturity dates and fair value of our
markel risk sensitive instruments are stated betow (in millions). All items described are non-trading and are
stated in U.S. dollars,

Expected Maturity Dates

Fair Value
2008 2609 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter  Total 930107

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS
Bank borrowings; U.S.

$ denominated—average rate

540% .. ... $ 243 $243 § 243
Revolving Credit Facility-—Average

e 54M4% .. 147.0 147.0 147.0
LONG-TERM BORROWINGS
Floating rate Senior Notes due 2008—

Averagerate 5.75% . ... .......... 250.0 250.0 248.1
5.75% Senior Notes due 2011 ... ... .. 249.8 249.8 2539
Total $421.3 $— $— $2498 $— $— $671.1 %6733
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ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as
such term is defined by the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal controls are
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliability of our financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.

Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations and may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance,
not absolute. assurance with respect to the financial statement preparation and presentation. Further, becausc of
changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting may vary over time.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
we have evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reponiing as of September 30, 2007 as
required by the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-15(c). In making its assessment, we have utilized
the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework. We concluded that based on our evaluation, our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of September 30, 2007.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reponting as of September 30, 2007 has been audited
by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is
included herein.

/s/ LW, STEWART {s/ JEFFREY E. SMITH
J.W. Stewart Jeffrey E. Smith
President and Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

40




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of BJ Services Company:

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of BJ Services Company and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of September 30, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Irternal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility s to express an opinion
on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of,
the company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and
effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel 1o provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of upauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal controt over financtal reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal
control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of September 30, 2007, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year
ended September 30, 2007 of the Company and our report dated November 29, 2007 expressed an unqualified
opinion on those consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule.

fsf DELOITTE & TOQUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
November 29, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of B) Services Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of BJ Services Company
and subsidiaries (the “Company™) as of September 30, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity and other comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended September 30, 2007, Qur audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the
Index at ltem 5. These financial statements and the financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and the
financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of BJ Services Company and subsidiaries at September 30, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three vears in the period ended September 30, 2007, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepled in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial staterments taken as a
whole, presents fairly in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2007, based on the
criteria established in fnrernal Conmtrol—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated November 29, 2007 expressed an unqualified
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
November 29, 2007

42




BJ SERVICES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended September 30,

2007 2006 2005
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue . ... ... i 34,802,409 $4367.864 $3,243,186
Operating expenses:

Costofsalesand services ........ ... i iinnnnnnns 3,332,620 2,895,749 2,334,198

Research and engineering ............... .. ... ..ciiiiion.. 67,536 63,875 54,197

Marketing ... ..o e 107,421 103,319 92,255

General and administrative ............... o, 143,992 132,011 111,285

Lossonlong-livedassets . ................................. 301 1,174 14,192

Total operating expenses .. ............coiiiiininaan. 3,651,870 3,196,128 2,606,127

Operating INCOME . .. ...ttt et iee e eenns 1,150,539 1,171,736 637,059
Interest eXPense . . ... oot e (32,731 (14,558) (10,951)
INterest INCOME .. ... .. . i i caat s eans 1,624 14916 11,281
Other (expense) iNCOME, BEL . ., . .o vr vt ene i enarnrinrnnnn- (6,584) (1D 15,958
Income before incometaxes ............. .. ... i, 1,112,848 1,172,083 653,347
Income tax eXpense ... ... .. ... ... i 359,208 367,473 200,305
NEtiNCOME ...\ttt et et e i $ 753,640 $ 804,610 $ 453,042
Earnings per share:

Basic ... $ 257 % 255 3 1.40

Diluted .. ... .. $ 255 % 252 § 1.38
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic ... ... . 292,757 315,022 323,763

Diluted ... .. . e 295,916 318,820 329,115

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BJ SERVICES COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS
As of September 30,
2007 2006
{in thousands)
Current assets:
Cashand cashequivalents . . ... ... . i $ 58199 § 92445
Receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts: 2007, $20,550; 2006,
BLR 076 . e 1,022,847 927,027
Inventories:
ProdUCts . .. e e e 226,666 185,249
WOTK-I-PIOBIESS . ottt et et 37,460 27,308
PallS vttt e e e e e e e 221811 143,347
Total INVEMIOTIES . .ot et i ettt e te ettt et e e ieeannnn 485,937 355,904
Deferred INCOME TaXES . . o vttt e e et e e et e e e ettt e 19,994 5,103
Prepaid eXPenses . . . ... s 72,033 36311
OtRer CUITEIE ASSCLS . . .t i ittt ettt ettt et vt e e a i am e aaa e 44,762 42,070
Total CUITENT ASSEES . . . . ..ottt it et it et it iia s e anaanas 1,703,772 1,458,860
Property:
Land .« .. e e e e 29,180 26,573
Buitdingsandother . ..... . ... . . . . 359,735 317,337
Machinery and equipment .. . ... ... ... L 2947473 2,232,240
Total Property . ... ... .. . e 3,336,388 2,576,150
Less accumulated depreciation .. ... ... . i i e 1,370,669 1,183,224
Property, NEl . ... . o e 1,965,719 1,392,926
Goodwill .. e e 963,937 928,297
Deferred INCOMIE LAKES . . oot it it it et et e e 30471 29,557
Investments and other @88ELS . oot v vttt it e e 51,313 52,648
TOtal ASSELS .« ottt it e e $4.715,212 $3,862,288

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BJ SERVICES COMPANY
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

As of September 30,
2007 2006

(in thousands, except shares)

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable, trade .. ..... .. ... $ 530,029 § 435040
Short-term BOTOWINES ... ...t e 171,268 160,274
Current portion of long-termdebt . ... . ... ... ... . 250,000 —
Accrued employee compensation and benefits ................... ... ... 124,231 131,725
ICOME TAKES & v v vt o et e e e e e e e e e e e e e 51,829 60,160
Taxes other than INCOME . . . ... ... e s ieeas 37,282 25,385
ACCIUB INSULANCE . . ittt ittt e e e 26,284 21,965
Other accrued Habilities . ... e i e e 122,265 113,387
Total current liabilities . ........ .. . i 1,313,188 947,936
Long-termdebt ... .. . . e 249,760 499,694
Deferred INCOme taXeS . ... .ot e e e s 95,485 66,584
Accrued postretirement benefits . ... ... ... L L e 57,504 54,296
Other long-term liabilities . ......... ... . i . 147,877 146,838

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock (authorized 5,000,000 shares, none issued)
Common stock, $. 10 par value {(authorized 910,000,000 shares; 347,510,648
shares issued and 291,735,636 outstanding in 2007; 347,510,648 shares

issued and 293,193,764 outstanding in 2006) . ....... ... ... .. . ..., .. 34,752 34,752
Capital inexcess of par . . .. ... i e 1,060,115 1,028,813
Retained earnings . ... ... .. . e 3,183,922 2,494,350
Accumulated other comprehensive income . ......... ... ... oL 51,644 22,833
Treasury stock, at cost {2007 — 55,775,012 shares; 2006 — 54,316,884

T2 ¢ 1) I (1,479,035) (1,433,808)

Total stockholders™ equity . ....... .. ... .. .. i 2,851,398 2,146,940
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ........................... $4715212 $ 3,862,288

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BJ SERVICES COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

Accumulated
Common Capital Unearned Other
Stock Common In Excess Treasury Compe- Retained Comprehensive
Shares  Stock of Par Stock nsation Earnings Income (Loss)} Total

Balance, September 30,2004 ......... 323,738 $34,752 § 994,724 § (268,410) $(6,961) $1,349,227 $ (908) §2,102424
Comprehensive income:
Netincome .................... 453,042
Other comprehensive income, net of
tax:
Cumulative translation
adjustments ..............-... 11,482
Minimum pension liability
adjustment ... ... L, 13,797
Comprehensive income .. ............. 478,321
Dividends declared .................. (55,005} (55,005)
Treasury stock putchase .............. (3,982) {98,360) (98,360)
Reissuance of treasury stock for:
Stockoptionplan. ... ... ....... 2,809 35,461 (2,447) 33,014
Stock purchaseplan.............. 836 9,523 2,628 12,151
Directorstock award ............. 10 (120 121 —
Stock incentive plangrant . ............ 6,468 (6,468) —
Director stock award grant expense . . ... 874 874
Recognition of uneamed compensation . . . . 7,807 7.807
Revatuation of stock incentive plan
awards ... 3,573 (3.573) —
Tax benefit from exercise of options . . . .. 10,815 10.815

Balance, September 30,2005 ......... 323411 $34,752 $1,016,333 $ (321,665) $(9,195) $1,747445  § 24,371 $ 2,492,041
Comprehensive income:
Netincome .................... 304,610
Other comprehensive income, net of
tax:
Cumulative translation
adjustments ... ............. 9,511
Minimum pension liability
adjustment . .................. (11,049)
Comprehensive income ............... 803,072
Dividends declared .................. (63.272) (63,272
Treasury stock purchase .............. (31,726) (1,133,313) (1,833,313}
Reissuance of treasury stock for:
Stock optionplan................ 911 13,180 454 13,634
Stock purchaseplan.............. 572 : 7,635 5113 12,748
Director stockaward _............ 26 (355) 355 —
Stock based compensation ............ 21,397 21,397
Adoption of SFAS 123(R} (Note 13) ... {9.195) 9,195 -
Tax benefit from exercise of options . . . . . 633 633

Balance, September 36,2006 .. .. ... .. 293,194 $34,752 $1,028,813 $(1,433,808) $§ — $2,494350  $ 22,833  § 2,146,940
Comprehensive income:
Netincome .................... 753,640
Other comprehensive income, net of
tax:
Cumulative translation
adjustments .................. 40,551
Minimum pension liability
adjustment . ............00-... 3,272
Comprehensiveincome ............... 797,463
Adoption of SFAS 158, net of tax
Mote®) ... (15,012} (15,012)
Dividends declared .................. (57,362) (57,362)
Treasury stock purchase .............. (2.565) (74,597) (74,597)
Reissuance of treasury stock forr ... .. —
Stockoptionplan................ 528 14,019 (6,300) 7,719
Stock purchaseplan.............. 488 12916 (406) 12,510
Director stock award .........._ .. 43 (1.127) 1,127 j—
Bonusstockaward .............. 48 (1,308) 1,308 —
Stock based compensation .. .......... 31.625 31,625
Tax benefit from exercise of options . . . .. 2,112 2,112

Balance, September 30,2007 ......... 291,736 $34,752 $1,060,115 $(1,479,035) § — $3,183,922  $51,644  §$ 2,851,398

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended September 30,

2007 2006 2005
{in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
NeUINCOME . ... e $ 753,640 $ 804610 $ 453,042
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided from operating
activities:
Depreciation . ......... ... ittt 209,019 166,763 136,861
Net loss on long-lived assets . ........................... 301 1,174 14,192
Excess tax benefits from stock compensation . .........., ... (1,812) (3,419) —
Recognition of uncarned compensation ................... — - 8,681
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) .................. .. 17,472 6,024 (7,111
Minority interest €Xpense .............veiiiiinnieei... 11,315 3,970 3,725
Changes in:
Receivables . ... ... . (97,355) (215,020) (154,677)
Inventories .. ... ... . e e e (129,387) (t11,189) (53,161)
Prepaid eXpenses .. ... i e (35,950) (14,712) (453)
Accountspayable,trade ......... ... ... ... ..., 99,375 105,833 81,756
Employee compensation and benefits ... .................. (7,494) 26,763 26913
CuIment INCOME LAX . . oottt e ettt et e e e e e e s (8.561) 34,726 (7,611)
Other Current aSSeIS ... ..\ vv et et e e et 1,909 (20,561) 12,456
Other current liabilities . . ... ... .. ... .. . . . ... 22,430 17.612 (979)
Other, met .. e 5,755 29,880 32,071
Net cash flows provided from operating activities ................... 840,657 832,454 545,705
Cash flows from investing activities:
Property additions ........... . ... .. . (752,113 (459,974  (323,763)
Proceeds from disposal of assets . ........ ...t 32,143 8,932 7.834
Proceeds of U.S. Treasury securities ... ........ .. ... .0 ivinn.... — — 229,774
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cashacquired .................... (57.920) (52,172) —
Net cash used for investing activities ................cccoivinnenn.. (777,890) (503,214)  (86,155)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Procceds from exercise of stock options and stock purchase plan .. ... .. 22,388 26,142 45,165
Purchase treasury SIock ... ... ... ... e (74597  (1,133,313)  (98,360)
Proceeds from long-termdebt . .. ....... ... ... . ... ... ... ..., — 499,673 —
Repayment of long-termdebt ....... ... .. .. .. .. .. ... ... — (79,000) (422,369)
{Repayment) proceeds of short-term borrowings, net . ................ 10,994 156,884 (364)
Dividends paid to shareholders ... .................. ... ... ....... (58,630) (64,338) (51,855)
Excess tax benefits from stock compensation . .. .................... 1,812 3,419 —_
Debtissuance COSIS . ... ... e — (2,824) —
Net cash flows used in financing activities . .. ... ........ ... ... ... (98,033 (593,357) (527,783)
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash . .......................... 1,020 54 16
Decrease in cash and cashequivalents .............. ... .......... (34.246) (264,063) (68,217
Cash and cash equivalents al beginning of year , . ... ................ 92,445 356,508 424,725
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year ............. ... ........ $ 58199 § 92,445 § 356,508

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BJ SERVICES COMPANY

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Business and Basis of Presentation

BJ Services Company (the “Company™), whose operations trace back to the Byron Jackson Company
founded in 1872, was organized in 1990 under the corporate laws of the state of Delaware. We are a leading
worldwide provider of pressure pumping and other oilfield services for the petroleum industry. Qur pressure
pumping services consist of cementing and stimulation services used in the completion of new oil and natural gas
wells and in remedial work on existing wells, both onshore and offshore. The Oilfield Services Group includes
completion tools, completion fluids and casing and tubujar services provided to the oil and natural gas
exploration and production industry, commissioning and inspection services provided to refineries, pipelines and
offshore platforms, and chemical services.

We consolidate all investments in which we own greater than 50%, or in which we contrel. All material
intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation. Investments in companies in which our
ownership interest ranges from 20% to 50%, and we exercise significant influence over operating and financial
policies, are accounted for using the equity method. Other investments are accounted for using the cost method.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from
these estimates.

Certain amounts for 2006 and 2005 have been reclassified in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements to conform to the current year presentation.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and cash equivalents: We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of
threc months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Allowance for doubtful accounts: We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and adjust credit
limits based upon payment history and the customer’s current credit worthiness, as determined by our review of
their available credit information. We continuously monitor collections and payments from our customers and
maintain a provision for estimated uncollectible accounts based upoen our historical experience and any specific
customer collection issues that we have identified. While such credit losses have historically been within our
expectations and the provisions established, we cannot give any assurances that we will continue to experience
the same credit loss rates that we have in the past. The cyclical nature of our industry may affect our customers’
operating performance and cash flows, which could impact our ability to collect on these receivables. In addition,
many of our customers are located in certain international areas that are inherently subject to risks of economic,
political and civil instabilities, which may impact our ability to collect these receivables.

Inventories: Inventories, which consist principally of (i) products which are consumed in our services
provided to customers, (ii) spar¢ parts for equipment used in providing these services and (iii) manufactured
components and aitachments for equipment used in providing services, are stated primarily at the lower of
weighted-average cost or market. Cost primarily represents invoiced costs. We regularly review inventory
quantities on hand and record provisions for excess or obsolete inventory based primarily on our estimated
forecast of product demand, market conditions, production requirements and technological developments.
Significant or unanticipated changes in market condition or to our forecast could require additional provisions for
excess or obsolete inventory.
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Properry: Property is stated at cost less amounts provided for permanent impairments and includes
capilalized interest of $8.0 million, $2.0 million, and $1.2 million for the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively. Depreciation is generally provided using the straight-line method over the estimated
wseful lives of individual items. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of their estimated useful lives or the lease terms. The estimated useful lives are 10 to 30 years for buildings and
leasehold improvements and range from 3 to 12 years for machinery and equipment. We make judgments and
estimates in conjunction with the carrying value of these assets, including amounts to be capitalized, depreciation
and amortization methods and useful lives. Additionally, the carrying values of these assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. The determination of recoverability is made based upon estimated undiscounted future cash flows.
An impairment loss is recorded in the period in which it is determined that the carrying amount is not
recoverable. The amount of the impairment, if any, is the amount by which the net book value of the asset
exceeds fair value, Fair value determination requires us to make long-term forecasts of future revenue and costs
related to the assets subject to review. These forecasts require assumptions about demand for our products and
services, future market conditions and technological developments. Significant and unanticipated changes to
these assumptions could reguire a provision for impairment in a future period. Worldwide average active drilling
rigs has experienced continued growth over the last three years. As such, substantially all of our equipment that
can perform is currently working. In fiscal 2005, it was determined that certain equipment that was not able to
operate and was maintained by Corporate personnel in our idle asset yard would be written down to the fair value
of the usable major components. The fair value of these assets was based on market prices for the same or similar
assets. We recorded an $11.7 million impairment during our fourth fiscal quarter of 2005 related to idle assets.
This impairment is reflected in loss on long-lived assets in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and within
Corporate in our segment fcotnote disclosure,

Intangible assets: Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of the net assets of companies
acquired in purchase transactions. We account for goodwill in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards ("SFAS™) 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which requires goodwill to be
reviewed by reporting unit for possible impairment on an annual basis, or if circumstances indicate that
impairment may exist. In dztermining our reporting units we considered the way we manage our operations and
the nature of those operations. Our reporting units are our operating segments (see Note 8). We performed our
annual evaluation as of September 30 and concluded that an impairment adjustment was not necessary to our
goodwill balance at September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Other intangible assets primarily consist of
technelogy based intangible assets and are being amortized on a straight-line basis ranging from 5 to 20 years,
with the weighted average amortization period being 14.8 years. We utilize undiscounted estimated cash flows to
evaluate any possible impairment of intangible assets. The discount rate utilized is based on market factors at the
time the loss is determined.

Income Taxes: We provide for income taxes in accordance with SFAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes,
This standard takes into account the differences between financial statement treatment and tax treatment of
certain transactions. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable
to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The
effect of a change in tax rates is recognized as income or expense in the period that includes the enactment date.
This calculation requires us (o make certain estimates about our future operations. Changes in state, federal and
foreign tax laws as well as changes in our financial condition could affect these estimates. We record a valuation
allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferrec
tax assets will not be utilized. We consider all available evidence, both positive and negative, to determine
whether a valuation allowance 1s needed. The ultimate realization of the deferred tax assets depends on the ability
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to generate sufficient taxable income of the appropriate character within the carryback or carryforward period set
forth under the applicable tax law. Our tax filings for various periods are subjected 1o audit by tax authorities in
the jurisdictions where we conduct busingss. These audits may result in assessments of additional taxes that are
resolved with the authoritics or potentially through the courts. Resolution of these situations inevitably includes
some degree of uncertainty; accordingly, we provide taxes only for the amounts we believe will ultimately result
from these proceedings. In addition to the aforementioned assessments that have been received from various
taxing authorities, we provide for taxes in certain situations where assessments have not been received. In those
situations, we accrue income taxes where we consider it probable that the taxes ultimately payable will exceed
those amounts reflected in filed tax returns; accordingly, taxes are provided in those situations under the
guidance in SFAS 5, Accounting for Contingencies.

Self Insurance Accruals: We are self-insured for certain losses relating to workers’ compensation. general
liability, property damage and employee medical benefits for claims filed and claims incurred but not reported,
Cur liability is based primarily on an actuarial undiscounted basis using individual case-based valuations and
statistical analysis and is based upon judgment and historical experience; however, the final cost of many of these
claims may not be known for five years or longer. Management reviews the reserve on a quarterly basis. Changes
in claims experience, health care costs, etc. could affect these estimates.

Contingencies: Contingencies are accounted for in accordance with SFAS 5. This standard requires that we
record an estimated loss from a loss contingency when information available prior to the issuance of our financial
statements indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred at the date
of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Accounting for contingencies
such as environmental, legal, and income tax matters requires vs to use judgment. While we believe that our
accruals for these matters are adequate, if the actual loss from a loss contingency is significantly different than
the estimated loss, our results of operations may be adversely impacted. For significant litigation, we accrue for
our legal costs.

Environmental remediation and compliance: Environmental remediation costs are accrued based on
estimates of known environmental exposures using currently available facts, existing environmental permits and
technology and presently enacted laws and regulations. For sites where we are primarily responsible for the
remediation, our estimate of cosis are developed based on internal evaluations and are not discounted. Such
accruals are recorded when environmental assessments and/or remedial efforts are probable and the cost can be
reasonably estimated. The accrual is recorded even if significant uncertainties exist over the ultimate cost of the
remediation and is updated as additional information becomes available. Ongoing environmental compliance
costs, such as obtaining environmental permits, installation of pollution control equipment and waste disposal,
are expensed as incurred. Where we have been identified as a potentially responsible party in a U.S. federal or
state Superfund site, we accrue our share of the estimated remediation costs of the site based on the ratio of the
estimated volume of waste contribuled to the site by us 1o the total estimated volume of waste at the site.

Revenue Recognition: Our revenue is composed of product sales, rental, service and other revenue.
Products, rentals, and services are generally sold based on fixed or determinable priced purchase orders or
contracts with the customer and do not include the right of return. We recognize revenue from product sales
when title passes to the customer, the customer assumes risks and rewards of ownership, and collectibility is
reasonably assured. Rental, service and other revenue is recognized when the services are provided and
collectibility is reasonably assured.

Research and development expenditures: Research and development expenditures are expensed as incurred.
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Muaintenance and repairs: Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Expenditures
for renewals and improvements are capitalized if they extend the life, increase the capacity, or improve the
efficiency of the asset.

Foreign currency rranslarion: Our functional currency is primarily the U.S. dollar. Gains and losses
resulting from financial statement translation of foreign operations where a foreign currency is the functional
currency are included in other comprehensive income. Our operations in Canada, Hungary and Algeria use their
respective local currencies as the functional currency.

Derivative instruments: We occasionally enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the impact
of currency fluctuations on certain transactions and assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. We
do not enter into derivative instruments for speculative or trading purposes. SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended, requires that we recognize all derivatives on the balance sheet
at fair value. We record derivative transactions in accordance with SFAS 133. No such contracts were
outstanding as of September 30, 2007 or 2006.

Employee stock-based compensation: Employee services received in exchange for stock are expensed in
accordance with SFAS 123(R), Share-Buased Payment. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange
for stock is measured based on the grant-date fair value which is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model for the stock option awards, bonus stock and phantom stock and a Monte-Carlo simulation moedel for the
stock incentive awards. Awards granted are expensed ratably over the vesting period of the award, unless retirement
age is reached in which case the expense is accelerated. We reduce the expense recognized based on an estimated
forfeiture rate at the time of grant and revise this rate, if necessary, in subsequent periods to reflect actual forfeitures.
Excess tax benefits, as defined by SFAS 123(R), are recognized as an addition to capital in excess of par.

New accounting pronouncements: In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 (“SFAS 1597), The
Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, including an amendment of FASB Statement
No. 115. This Statement provides companies with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at
fair value. Under SFAS 153, companies that elect the fair value option will report unrealized gains and losses in
carnings at each subsequent reporting date. In addition, SFAS 159 establishes presentation and disclosure
requirenients designed to facilitate comparisons between companies that choose different measurement attributes
for similar types of assets and liabilities. The fair value option election is irrevocable, unless a new election date
occurs. SFAS 159 is effectrive the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2007
and is to be applied prospectively, unless the entity elects early adoption. We are currently in the process of
evaluatling the impact of SFAS 159 on our financial statements, if we choose to elect this option.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 (“SFAS 1577), Fair Value Measurements, effective for
financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. SFAS 157 introduces a new
definition of fair value, a fair value hierarchy (requiring market based assumptions be used, if available) and new
disclosures of assets and liabilities measured at fair value based on their level in the hierarchy. We are currently
in the process of evaluating the impact of SFAS 157 on our financial statements.

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48"), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold
and measurement attribute, as well as criteria for subsequently recognizing, derecognizing and measuring tax
posittons for financial statement purposes and requires companies to make disclosures about uncertain income
lax positions, including a detailed rollforward of tax benefits taken that do not qualify for financial statement
recognition. In addition, FIN 48 requires us to disclose the classification of interest and penalties related to
uncertain tax positions. We record these as a component of income tax expense. We estimate the impact of
adopting FIN 48 to be a reduction in retained earnings in the range of $6 million to $10 million.
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3. Acquisitions of Businesses
Fiscal 2007

On November 3, 2006, we completed the acquisition of Profile International Ltd. (“Profile”) for a total
purchase price of $2.5 million, which resulted in $2.2 million of goodwill. Profile, located in Newcastle,
England, provides caliper inspection tools for pipeline integrity assessment to markets worldwide. This business
complements our pipeline inspection business in the Oilfield Services Group segment.

On December 20, 2006, we purchased substantially all of the operating assets of Tekcor Technology, Lid.
(“Tekcor™) for $8.3 million, which resulted in an increase of $3.6 million to total current assets, $0.7 million in
property and equipment and $4.0 million to technology based intangible assets. Tekcor provides specialty
chemicals and related services to the oil and gas well drilling industry. Located in Houston, Texas, Tekcor
services markets along the Texas and Louisiana Gulf Coast and is included in our completion fluids business in
the Oilfield Services Group segment.

On March 1, 2007 we acquired Aberdeen-based Norson Services Ltd, (“Norson™), a division of Norson
Group Ltd., and substantially all of the assets of Norson Group’s United States subsidiary Norson Services LLC.
The total purchase price paid for both acquisitions was $29.0 million, including legal fees, which resulted in an
increase of $7.4 million in total current assets, $5.9 million in property and equipment, $1.8 million in intangible
assets, $5.4 million in current liabilities, and $19.3 million of goodwill. The acquisition strengthens our service
capabilities with the addition of Norson’s hydraulic and electrical umbilical testing services and the services
provided by the Norson’s subsea units, which include remote pigging and flooding, subsea hydro testing and
subsea data logging. This business complements our process and pipeline business in the Qilfield Services Group
segment.

On June 30, 2007, we completed the acquisition of substantially all of the capillary tubing assets of
Allis-Chalmers for a total purchase price of $16.3 million, which resulied in an increase of $1.5 million in current
assets, $1.8 million in property and equipment, and $13.0 million of goodwill. The assets are used for the
installation and service of capillary injection systems primarily in the U.S. and Mexico. The assets complement
our Dyna-Coil acquisition which occurred in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 and will enhance our chemical
services operation in the Qilfield Services Group segment.

Fiscal 2006

On June 25, 2006, we acquired an additional 2% interest in our Algerian joint venture, Societe Algerienne
de Stimulation de Puits Productures d’Hydrocarbures (“BISP™), for $4.6 million, increasing our total ownership
in BISP to 51%. L Enterprise de Services aux Puits (“ENSP™), an indirect subsidiary of Sonatrach Petroleum
Corp., owns the remaining 49%. BISP provides coiled tubing, fracturing and cementing services to the Algerian
market. Prior to obtaining controlling interest in BJSP, we accounted for the investment using the cost method, as
we could not exercise significant influence over the entity. Following this transaction, which was accounted for
as a slep-acquisition, we have control of BISP and consolidate the entity. In accordance with Accounting
Principles Board (“APB™) 18, Equity Method of Accounting of Investments in Common Stock, and Accounting
Research Bulletin (“ARB") 51, Consolidated Financial Statements, in 2006, we retroactively adjusted beginning
retained earnings to adopt the equity method of accounting for our ownership interest in previous periods. This
adjustment resulted in an $8.3 million increase to beginning retained earnings. Following the transaction, the
assets and liabilities and results of operations of BJSP are included in our consolidated results, in the
International Pressure Pumping segment. The consolidation resulted in an increase of $42.4 million in total
current assets (inciuding approximately $14.1 million in cash), $12.1 million in total current liabilities,
$19.3 million in minority interest and $0.2 million in goodwill.

On August 15, 2006, we purchased substantially all of the operating assets of Dyna Coil of South Texas,
Lid., Dyna Coil Injection Systems, Inc. and Dynochem, Ltd. (collectively, “Dyna-Coiil”) for $61.7 million in
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cash. Dyna-Coil is focused on production optimization services, particularly the installation and service of
capillary injection systems and associated products (production chemicals) mostly in the U.S. and Canada and is
included in our chemical services business in the Qilfield Services Group segment. The acquisition resulted in an
increase of $8.2 million in total current assets, $3.4 million in property and equipment, $7.1 million of
technology based intangibles and $42.9 million in goodwill,

We are currently in the process of completing our review and determination of the fair values of the assets
acquired from Norson and Allis-Chalmers. Accardingly, allocation of the purchase price is subject to revision
based on final determination of the asset values. Pro forma financial information for our fiscal 2007 and fiscal
2006 acquisitions is not included as they were not material individually or in aggregate to our financial
statements.

4. Earnings Per Share

Basic EPS excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS is based on the weighted-average number of shares
outstanding during each period and the assumed exercise of dilutive instruments {stock options, employee stock
purchase plan, stock incentive awards, and director stock awards) less the number of treasury shares assumed to
be purchased with the exercise proceeds using the average market price of our common stock for each of the

periods presented.
.

The following table presents information necessary to calculate earnings per share for the three years ended
September 30, 2007 (in thousands, except per share amounts});

2007 2006 2005
NetIncome . ... e $753,640 $804,610  $453,042
Weighted-average common shares outstanding . ............. 292,757 315,022 323,763
Basic earnings pershare ... . ... o i i $ 257 § 255 5 140
Weighted-average common and dilutive potential common
shares outstanding:

Weighted-averags common shares outstanding . . ... ..... 292,757 315,022 323,763

Assumed exercise of stock optionstD ... ... .. ..., 3,159 3,798 5,352

Weighied-average dilutive shares outstanding .. ......... 295916 318,820 329,115
Diluted earnings pershare ........... ... ... i $ 255 % 252 % 138

M For the year ended September 30, 2007, 2.9 million stock options were excluded from the computation of
diluted earnings per share due to their antidilutive effect. There were no stock options excluded from the
computation of diluted earnings per share due to their antidilutive effect for the years ended September 30,
2006 and 2005.

5. Debt
Long term debt at September 30 consisted of the following (in thousands):
2007 2006

Floating rate Senior Notes due 2008 . ... ... ... .. i, $250,000  $250,000
5.75% Senior Notes due 2011, netof discount ............. ... ........ 249,760 249,694

499,760 499,694
Less current maturities of long-termdebt ... .. ... .. ... ... oL 250,000 —
Longtermdebt ... ... ... .. .. .. .. e $249.760  $499.,694
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On June 8, 2006, we completed a public offering of $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of Senior
Notes, consisting of $250.0 million of floating rate Senior Notes due 2008, with an annual interest rate of three-
month LIBOR plus 17 basis points, and $250.0 million of 5.75% Senior Notes due 2011. The net proceeds from
the offering of approximately $497.1 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and
expenses, were used primarily to repurchase outstanding shares of common stock and also repay indebtedness,
fund capital expenditures and for other corporate purposes. As of September 30, 2007, we had $250.0 million of
the Senior Notes due 2008 issued and outstanding and $249.8 million, net of discount, of the 5.75% Senior Notes
due 2011 issued and ouistanding. We intend to redeem the $250.0 million Senior Notes due 2008 with existing
cash and if necessary, through funds available from our Revolving Credit Facility.

In August 2007, we amended and restated our then existing revolving credit facility. The amended and
restated revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) permits borrowings up to $400 million in
principal amount. The Revolving Credit Facility includes a $50 million sublimit for the issuance of standby
letters of credit and a $20 million sublimit for swingline loans. Swingline loans have short-term maturities and
the remaining amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility become due and payable in August 2012.
In addition, we have the right 1o request up to an additional $200 million over the permitted borrowings of 3400
million, subject to the approval of our lenders at the time of the request. Interest on outstanding borrowings is
charged based on prevailing market rates. We are charged various fees in connection with the Revolving Credit
Facility, including a commitment fee based on the average daily unused portion of the commitment, totaling $0.3
million in fiscal 2007 and $0.5 million in fiscal 2006. In addition, the Revolving Credit Facility charges a
utilization fee on all outstanding loans and letters of credit when usage of the Revolving Credit Facility exceeds
62.5%, though there were no material fees in fiscal 2007 or 2006. At September 30, 2007 and 2006, there was
$147.0 million and $160.0 million, respectively, in outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility.

In addition to the Revolving Credit Facility, we had $164.9 million of unsecured, discretionary lines of
credit at September 30, 2007, which expire at the bank’s discretion. There are no requirements for commitment
fees or compensating balances in connection with these lines of credit and interest is at prevailing market rates.
There was $24.3 million and $0.3 million in outstanding borrowings under these lines of credit at September 30,
2007 and 2006, respectively. The weighted average interest rates on short-term borrowings outstanding as of
September 30, 2007 and 2006 were 5.40% and 5.95%, respectively.

Management believes that cash flows from operations combined with cash and cash equivalents, the
Revolving Credit Facility and other discretionary credit facilities provide us with sufficient capital resources and
liquidity to manage our routine operations, meet debt service obligations, fund projected capital expenditures,
repurchase common stock, pay a regular quarterly dividend and support the development of our short-term and
long-term operating strategies. If the discretionary lines of credit are not renewed, or if borrowings under these
lines of credit otherwise become unavailable, we expect to refinance this debt by arranging additional committed
bank facilities or through other long-term borrowing alternatives.

The Senior Notes and Revolving Credit Facility include various customary covenants and other provisions,
including the maintenance of certain profitability and solvency ratios, none of which materially restrict our
activities. We are currently in compliance with all covenants imposed.

6. Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair vatlue of each class of financial
instruments for which it is practicable.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Short-term Investments, Trade Receivables. Trade Payables and Short-Term
Borrowings: The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of those instruments.
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Long-term Debt: Fair value is based on the rates currently available to us for debt with similar terms and
average malurities.

Foreign Currency [Debt: Periodically, we borrow funds which are denominated in foreign currencies, which
exposes us to market risk associated with exchange rate movements. There were $15.4 million borrowings
denominated in foreign currencies at September 30, 2007 and $0.3 million borrowings at September 30, 2006.

The fair value of financial instruments that differed from their carrying value at Scptember 30, 2007 and
2006 was as follows (in thousands):

2007 2006
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Floating rate Senior Notes due 2008 ............ $250,000  $248,120  $250,000  $249,990
5.75% Senior Notes due 2011 .. ............... 249,760 253,900 249,694 253,543

7. Income Taxes

The geographical sources of income before income taxes for the three years ended September 30 were as
follows {in thousands):

2007 2006 2005
United SIS ... e e e e e $ 831,852 $ 848,586 $425,399
Foreign . ... . ... . . 280,996 323,497 227,948
Income before income taxes ........... . ... $1,112,848  $1.172,083  $653,347

The provision for income taxes for the three years ended September 30 is summarized below {in thousands):

2007 2006 2005
Current:
United States—Federal ............ ... ... ......... $260.374  $267,287 $125,209
United States—State . ........ ... ... ... ... ..., 21,680 14,292 4 879
Foreign ..... ... ... . . . . ... 59,682 79,870 77,328
Total current . .. ..., . 341,736 361,449 207,416
Deferred:
United States—Federal . ......... .. ... ... ... .... 5,069 7,363 8,656
United States—S1ate .. ... .. ..oiiier i ann 1,258 900 891
Foreign . ....... .. . . . 11,145 (2,239} (16,698)
Totaldeferred . ............ .. .. .. ... ... ....... 17,472 6,024 (7.111)
Income tax expense . ... ... e $359208 $367473  $200,305
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The consolidated effective income tax rates (as a percent of income (loss) before income taxes) for the three
years ended September 30, 2007 varied from the United States statutory income tax rate for the reasons set forth
below:

2007 2006 2005

SHIULOTY FALE « . o ottt ettt e et et e et e e e e 35.0% 33.0% 35.0%
Foreign earnings at varying rates .. ...........ouueeiinniuiinunnennans 29 29 (3.6
State income taxes, net of federal benefit ... .. ... ... ... ... L 1.3 0.8 0.6
Other INCOME TAXES L vttt e e e et ettt e e e e 1.0 0.7 1.1
Changes in valuation allowance . ......... .. ... ... ... ... . (08 03 0.5
Foreign income recognized domestically ............ ... ... oL — 6.9 9.7
Foreign expense recognized domestically .......... .. ... ... ... ... — (14 —
Dividends received deduction . . ... ... ... e e — (1.7 —_
Domestic production activily . .........uii i 0.7 (0N —
Tax CredilS . ot ottt e e e e (1.) 9 (123
Nondeductible expenses ... ... ... i i 1.0 0.8 0.5
L1011 112 N o T A U OO (0.6) QS_) ﬁ((LS)

323% 314% 30.7%

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax effects of temporary
differences between the tax basis of assets or liabilities and its reported amount in the financial statements. The
measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities is based on enacted tax laws and rules currently in effect in
each of the taxing jurisdictions in which we have operations. Generally, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
classified as current or noncurrent according to the classification of the related asset or liability for financial
reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of September 30 were as follows (in thousands):

2007 2006
Assets;
Accrued compensation EXPENSE . .. ... ... ... i $ 24309 $ 11,333
Accrued postretirement benefits .. .. ... L L oo 21,356 19,882
Pension liability ... ... .. e e 17,254 14,042
Deferred gaint) ... e 5,029 6,467
Accrued INSUFINCE EXPEIISE .. ... oottt ettt et it e 9,307 7.790
Other accrued eXPenses .. ...ttt i e 24,651 28,737
Foreign tax credit carryforwards ... ... i 21,375 37.211
Net operating and capital loss carryforwards .. ... ... . ... .. o000 28.842 18,934
Valuation allowWance . . ... it e e e (32,012 (45,013)
Total deferred tax assel . . .. ...ttt e $ 120,111 % 99383
Liabilities
Differences in depreciable basis of property . ......... ... .. o $(144.407) S(111.,992)
Unrealized gainfloss . ...ttt i i {10,387) (8,771}
S 113 (01 T 1ot A (2,639) (8.526)
Earnings of foreign affiliates ........ ... ... ... ... ... il (2,345) (2,34%)
Income accrued for financial reporting purposes, not yet reported fortax ........ (5,583) —
Total deferred tax liability ....... ... . ... . .. (165,361) (131,634)
Netdeferred tax lability . ... ... .. . $ (45,2500 § (32,251)

(1t Deferred gain on the contribution of pumping service equipment to the partnership referred to in Note 10.
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At September 30, 2007, we had approximately $96.6 million of foreign net operating loss carryforwards and
$2.4 million of state net operating loss carryforwards. The foreign net operating loss carryforwards expire as
follows: $7.6 million by fiscal year 2016 and the remaining $89.0 million does not expire. The state net operating
losses will expire between fiscal year 2008 and fiscal year 2018. We also had $21.4 million of U.S. foreign tax
credit carryforwards, substantially all which expire in 2012. The tax impact of the net operating loss and foreign
tax credit carryforwards that are more likely than not to expire before realization of the benefit is reflected in the
valuation allowance balance as of September 30, 2007,

We record a valuation aliowance to reduce our deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will expire before realization of the benefit. Because management
believes that it is more likely than not that a portion of the foreign net operating loss carry forwards and the U.S.
foreign tax credits will not be realized, a valuation allowance has been recorded on these amounts, Furthermore,
with respect to this valuation allowance, approximately $2.8 million of such valuation allowance, if subsequently
realized, will be allocated to reduce goodwill.

Our stock basis difference in foreign subsidiaries, for which a U.S. deferred tax liability has not been
established, is approximately $379.6 million as of September 30, 2007. This stock basis difference arises from
the existence of unremitted foreign eamings and cumulative translation adjustments. We have provided
additional taxes for the anticipated repatriation of foreign earnings of our foreign subsidiaries where we have
determined that the foreign subsidiaries earnings are not indefinitely reinvested. For foreign subsidiaries whose
earnings are indefinitely reinvested, no provision for U.S. federal and state income taxes has been provided. If we
were to record a tax liability for the full tax versus book basis difference of its foreign subsidiaries, an additional
net deferred tax liability of approximately $32.7 million would be necessary.

8. Segment Information

We currently have thirteen operating segments for which separate financial information is available and that
have separate management teams that are engaged in oilfield services. The results for these operating segments
are evaluated regutarly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assessing
performance. The operating segments have been aggregated into four reportable segments: U.S./Mexico Pressure
Pumping, International Pressure Pumping, Canada Pressure Pumping and the Oilfield Services Group.

The U.S./Mexico Pressure Pumping has two operating segments and includes cementing services and
stimulation services (consisting of fracturing, acidizing. sand control, nitrogen, coiled tubing and service ool
services) provided throughout the United States and Mexico. These two operating segments have been
aggregaied into one reportable segment because they offer the same type of services, have similar economic
characteristics, have similar production processes and use the same methods to provide their services.

The International Pressure Pumping segment has five operating segments. Similar to U.S./Mexico Pressure
Pumping, it includes cementing and stimulation services. These services are provided to customers in more than
50 countries in the major international oil and natural gas producing areas of Latin America, Europe and Africa,
Asia Pacific. Russia and the Middle East. These operaling segments have been aggregated into one reportable
segment because they have similar economic characteristics, offer the same type of services, have similar
production processes and use the same methods to provide their services. They also serve the same or similar
customers, which include major multi-national, independent and national or state-owned oil companies.

Canada Pressure Pumping segment has one operating segment. Like International and U.5./Mexico Pressure
Pumping, it includes cementing and stimulation services. These services are provided to customers in major oil
and natural gas producing areas of Canada.
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The Oilfield Services segment has five operating segments. These operating segments provide other oilfield
services such as chemical services, casing and tubular services, process and pipeline services, completion tools
and completion fluids services in the U.S. and in select markets internationally. These operating segments have
been aggregated into one reportable segment as they all provide other oilfield services, serve same or similar
customers and some of the operating segments share resources.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies. We evaluate the performance of our segments based on operating income. Intersegment
sales and transfers are not material.

Summarized financial information concerning our segments for each of the three years ended September 30,
2007, 2006, and 2005 is shown in the following tables (in thousands). The “Corporate” column includes
corporate expenses not allocated to the operating segments. Revenue by geographic location is determined based
on the location in which services are rendered or products are sold. For the years ended September 30, 2007,
2006 and 2005, we provided services to several thousand customers, none of which accounted for more than 5%
of consolidated revenue.

Business Segments

U.S.Mexico  International Canada Qilfield
Pressure Pressure Pressure Services
Pumping Pumping Pumping Group Corporate Total

2007

Revenue ..................... $2,562,747 $1.074,744 $386,547 $778371 3 — 34,802,409
Operating income (loss) ......... 881,631 152,734 32,493 163,539 (79,858) 1,150,539
Totalassets ..o ... 1,504,397 1,339,312 550449 980,846 340208 4,715,212
Capital expenditures . ........... 289,278 210,684 83,643 82,796 85,712 752,113
Depreciation .................. 89,718 55,111 29,327 27.804 7,059 209,019
2006

Revenue ..................... $2,353,772 $ 884,670 $481,380 $648,042 3 —  $4.367,864
Operating income (loss) ......... 899,213 138,069 102,094 132,420 (100,0600 1,171,736
Totalassets .........c..ovuennnn 1,294,946  1,022265 471,362 707,015 366,700 3.862,288
Capital expenditures ............ 202,423 87,822 106,352 42,499 20,878 459,974
Depreciation .................. 65,569 49,119 24,025 22,730 5,320 166,763
2005

Revenue ..................... $1,683,202 § 693,462 $348,448 3$517,650 § 424  $3.243,186
Operating income (loss) ......... 524,893 77,525 58,313 67,626 (91,298) 637.059
Totalassets ...........cocuvn.. 1,049,019 855,054 351,034 594,950 559,585 3,409,642
Capital expenditures ............ 149,986 49,222 66,135 34,906 23514 323,763
Depreciation .................. 51,990 43,835 16,892 20,206 3,938 136,861
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Geographic Information

L.ong-Lived

Revenue Assels
2007
United States ... . i e e $2.867,442  $2,069,306
Canada . .. . 432392 336,434
Other COUNLIIES . . .. . .ttt e e e e e i 1,502,575 575,229
Consolidated total ........ ... i e $4.802,409  $2,980,969
2006
United SateS . oottt et et e $2,600.864 $1.732.411
CaNada . . o e 526,609 260,530
L4y reta 1] 1 1y L=t SO 1,240,391 380,930
Consolidated total ... ... ... ... . . i $4.367.864  $2,373,871
2005
United States . oot e e e $1,820,191  $1,519,193
Canada . ... e e e 392,380 172,609
Other COUNIIIES . . oottt e e et e et aae e e ans 1,030,615 346,085
Consolidated 10tal . .. .. ... . $3.243,186  $2,037,887
Revenue by Product Line
2007 2006 2005
Cemenling . ........oiiurtii et $1,231,643  $1,090,787 $ 822.447
SHMUIAION ... e 2,721,638 2,560,063 1,835,560
Other ... e 849,128 717,014 585,179
Total revenue ... ... ... .. ... $4,802,400 $4,367.864 33,243,186

A reconciliation from the segment information to consolidated income before income taxes for each of the
three years ended September 30, 2007 is set forth below (in thousands):

2007 2006 2005
Total operating income for reportable segments .......... $1,150,539  $1,171.736  $637.059
Interest eXpense . ... ... i (32731} (14,558) (10,951)
Interest iNCOMeE . .. ... . i it i iaenss 1,624 14916 11,281
Other (expense} inCome, Nel, ., .. ..ot eenennan. (6,584) an 15,958
Income before income taxes .. ........ovi .. 51,112,848  $1,172,083  $653,347

9. Employee Benefit Plans
Adoption of SFAS 158

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, Emplovers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension
and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) (“*SFAS 1587),
which requires companies to recognize the over funded or under funded status of a defined benefit postretirement
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plan (other than a multiemployer plan) as an asset or liability in our statement of financial position and to
recognize changes in that funded status in the year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income of
a business entity. It also requires companies to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its year-end
statement of financial position. We adopted all of the requirements of SFAS 158 for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2007. We had previously measured our defined benefit plan assets and obligations as of our fiscal
year-end. Thus, this portion of SFAS 158 did not impact our financial statements. The impact of adopting the
remaining requirements of SFAS 158 on our statement of financial position as of September 30, 2007 is shown
below:

Before Other After

Application U.S, Non-U.5. Postretirement  Application

of SFAS 158 Pensions Pensions Benefits of SFAS 158
Other current assets . ... e, $ 63,414 $(16,040) (2.612) — $ 44,762
Current deferred income taxes . .............. 14,037 5,957 — —_ 19,994
Deferred incometaxes ................c..... 27,676 — 2,795 — 30,471
Total assets . ..o 4,725,112 (10,083} 183 — 4,715,212
Deferred income taxes ..........cvvininn. 04,282 — (90) 1,293 95,485
Accrued postretirement benefits ............. 60,984 — (3.480) 57,504
Other long-term liabilities ... ............... 140,487 —_ 7,390 —_ 147,877
Accumulated other comprehensive income . . ... 66,657 (10,083 (7.117) 2,187 51,644
Total stockholders’ equity .................. 2,866,411 (10,083 (7,111 2,187 2,851,398
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . ... ... 4,725,112 {(10,083) 183 _ 4,715,212

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

We have defined benefit pension plans covering certain employees in the U.S., the U.K., Norway and
Canada. During fiscal 2004, the plans were frozen to new entrants in the U.K. and Canada.

The defined benefit pension plan in the U.S. was frozen effective December 31, 1995, at which time all
earmned benefils were vested. In September 2006, we entered into an agreement to settle our obligation with
respect to the U.S. defined benefit plan. Plan assets of approximately $72 million, plus our contribution of $1.5
million, were used o purchase an insurance contract that is being used to fund the benefits and settle the plan.
The proposed settlement requires approval from the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation and the Internal
Revenue Service to relieve us of primary responsibility for the pension benefit obligation. Once regulatory
approval is obtained, which is expected in fiscal 2008, we will expense approximately $23.3 million in
connection with the settlement. This consists of $7 million of prepaid pension cost and $16 million of loss
currently recognized in other comprehensive income. By relieving us of our obligation, the expense that would
have otherwise been recognized over the remaining plan life will be accelerated to the period in which approval
is received.
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Obligations and Funded Status

U.s. Non-U.S.
2007 2006 2007 2006
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation, beginning of year ........ ... ... ... .. ... $65,090 $64,490 $190,113 $152,646
ServicE COSt . .. . e — — 5,646 5,212
Interest CoSt ..o vt i e 3,905 3,582 10,682 8,768
Actuarial (gain)/1oss .......... .. .. — 689 (4,991) 15,659
Benefits paid from planassets . . ........ ... ... o oL (3,584 (3,671) (4,986) (2,991)
Contributions by plan participants .................... ... — — 2,143 2,085
Curtailments ... .. . i — — (618) (83)
Foreign currency exchange ratechange ................... — — 20,684 8.817
Defined benefit plan obligation,end of year .. .................. $65.411 365,090 $218,673 $190,113
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginningof year .................... $72,196 $69.082 $129,127 $107.219
Actual returnon planassets .......... ... ... ... ... 3.905 5,320 8,295 9,249
Contributions byemployer .......... ... .. ... ... ....... — 1,465 15,397 7,463
Contributions by plan participants ....................... — — 2,143 2,085
Benefits paid fromplanassets . . ............. ... ... ... (3,584) (3,671) (4,986) (2,991)
Settlements . ... ... e — — (81) —_
Foreign currency exchange rate change ................... — — 14,992 6,102
Fair value of plan assets,endof year ......................... 372,517 $72,196 $164,887 $129,127
Over (under) funded status .. ... ..ottt $ 7,106 § 7,106 $(53,786) $(60,986)
Unrecognized net actuarial 1oss ... ... .. oo iien.., N/A 16,040 N/A 56,369
Unrecognized prior service cost . .........vviiinennnn. .. N/A — N/A —
Unrecognized transitional loss ... ... ... . ... ... ......... N/A — N/A 2,723
Prepaid (accrued) net amount recognized . ... ... ... ............ $ 7,106 $23,146 $(53,786) § (1,894)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position consist of:

u.s. Non-U.S.
2007 2006 2007 2006
Current asSel . ... .. $7,106 $23146 § — § 3409
Current liability . .. .. .. — — (639) —
Non-current liability ......... ... ... .. ... ... .. . ... ... — — (53,147) (52,200
Accumulated other comprehensive income .......... ... ... ... N/A N/A N/A 46,897
Netamount recognized . ... ... .. . ... . . . i $7,106 $23.146 $(53,786) $ (1.894)

The amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income consist of the following as of
September 30, 2007:

Uu.s. Non-U.8.
NetFoss (Bain) .. .. e e $16,040  $54,056
Net transition obligation ......... ... ... . . . . ... — 264

$16,040  $54,320
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The estimated amortization of amounts reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income into the net
periodic benefit cost is expected to be $10.0 million (net of tax) in fiscal 2008 for the U.S. plan, and is not
expected 1o be material for the plans outside the U.S.

Accumulated Benefit Obligations (ABQ) in Excess of Plan Assets

The ABOQ is the actuarial present value of the pension benefits at the employees’ current compensation
levels. This differs from the projected benefit obligation, in that the ABO does not include any assumptions about
future compensation levels. The ABO for all the plans was $268.1 million and $239.8 million at September 30,
2007 and 2006, respectively.

u.s, Non-U.S.
2007 2006 2007 2006
Projected benefit obligation ....... ... ... ... ... .. . $65411 $65,090 $218,673 S190,113
Accumulated benefit obligation ..... . ... .. ..o o 65411 65090 202,714 177,128
Planassets at fair value ... ... ... ... .. .. i 72,517 72,196 164,887 129,127
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost
U.s. Non-U.S.

2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 20035
Service cost for benefitsearned ................ $ — % — § — $5646 $5212 $4823
Interest on projected benefit obligation .......... 3,905 3,582 3,826 10,682 8,768 7,609
Expected return on plan assets ................. (3,905 (5,732) (5,343) (9,696) (8,114) (6,898)
Recognized actuarial loss .......... ... ..ot — 587 587 3,097 2,170 2,209
Netamortization . ............. .ot nrna.. — — — (€3] 18 74
Net pension cost (benefit) ............ ... F —  S(1,563) § (930) $ 9,690 38,054 357817

Assumptions

Assumptions used 1o determine benefit obligations at September 30, were as follows:

Us. Non-U.S.
Z_I]EZ % % 2007 2006 2005
Weighted-average discountrate ... .................. N/A  6.0% 57% 5.0-60% 5.0-55% 5.0-55%
Weighted-average expected long-term rate of return on
BSSEES . ot N/A  8.5% 85% 0.0-68% 6.0-73% 6.0-7.6%

Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the years ended September 30, were as follows:

U.S. Non-U.S.
w w 2005 2007 2006 2005
Weighted-average discountrate .................... N/A 57% 5.8% 5.0-6.0% 50-55% 5.0-55%
Weighted-average expected long-term rate of return on
ASSBLS o . e N/A 85% 8.5% 6.0-6.8% 6.0-7.3% 6.0-7.6%
Weighted-average rate of increase in future
COMPENSAtION .. ...ttt N/A  N/A NA 39-55% 38-45% 3.54.5%

The expected long-term rate of return assumptions represent the rate of retum on plan assets reflecting the
average rate of earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for the benefits included in
the projecied benefit obligation. The assumption has been determined by reflecting expectations regarding future
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rates of return for the portfolio considering the asset distribution target and related historical rates of return. The
redemption yicld on government fixed interest bonds as well as corporate bonds were used as proxies for the
return on debt securitics, weighted by the relative proportion of each within the actual portfolio. The return on
equities was based on the historical long-term performance of the equity classes. This rate is reassessed at least
on an annual basis. Assumptions relating to the U.S. plan for 2007 are not applicable due to the pending
settlement discussed above.

Plan Assets

Our objective is to diversify the portfolio among several asset classes to reduce volatility while maintaining
an asset mix that provides the highest rate of return with an acceptable risk. This is primarily through a mix of
equity securities and fixed income funds to generate asset returns comparable with the general market.

We have investment committees that meet at least annually to review the portfolio returns and to determine
asset-mix targets based on asset/liability studies. Nationally recognized third-party investment consultants assist
us in developing an asset allocation strategy to determine our expected rate of return and expected risk for
various investment porifolios. The investment committees consider these studies in the formal establishment of
the current asset-mix targets based on the projected risk and retorn levels for each asset class. Our investment
portfolio as of September 30, 2007 and 2006 was:

.S, Non-U.S.
Targel 2007 206 Tamel 2007 2008
Equity securities ...... ... ... .. . . . . e 0% 0% 0% 60-75% 63% 62%
Debtsecurities ... ... ... 0% 0% 0% 25-35% 35% 35%
Othertt e 100% 100% 100% 0-5% 2% 3%

M Plan assets of approximately $71 million, plus our contribution of $1.5 million, were used to purchase an
insurance contract that will be used to fund the benefits and settle the U.S. plan.

Contributions and Estimated Benefit Puyments

The pension plans are generally funded with the amounts necessary to meet the legal or coniractual
minimum funding requirements. We contributed $15.4 million in fiscal 2007, of which $7.9 million was
discretionary. We infrequently make discretionary contributions. We expect to contribute $17.4 million to the
defined benefit plans in fiscal 2008, which represents the legal or contractual minimum funding requirements and
expected discretionary contributions.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be
paid:

Years ended September 30,

2081 e e e e $ 3,055
200 e e e 3415
2000 e 3,936
1 4,244
701 4,806
Years 20013-2007 o 38,038

) As disclosed above, an annuity contract was purchased for the U.S. plan and therefore, approximately $72
million will be distributed to plan participants in the form of individual annuity contracts in 2008, As such,
the benefit payments related to this plan are not included in the above schedule.
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Postretirement Benefit Plans

We sponsor plans that provide certain health care and life insurance benefits for retired employees
(primarily U.S.) who meet specified age and service requirements, and their eligible dependents. These plans are
unfunded and we relain the right, subject to existing agreements, to modify or eliminate them. Our postretirement
medical benefit plan provides credits based on years of service that can be used to purchase coverage under the
retiree plan. This plan effectively caps our health care inflation rate at a 4% increase per year. We use a
September 30 measurement date for these plans. All amounts are presented in thousands unless otherwise stated.

Obligarions and Funded Status

2007 2006
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation, beginningof year .......... .. ... il $55032 $ 49906
SEIVICE COSL . . ottt et e e 3,971 3.467
INLErESt COSE . . o oo it et e e 3,302 2,870
Actuarial ain .. ... {4,139) (751)
Benefits paid from plan assets ............ .. ... ... oL (570) (460)
Defined benefit plan obligation, end of year ....... .. .. ... . o L $ 57,596 § 55,032
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginningofyear . ..., ... .. ... ... ... ... 8 — 5 —
Contributions by employer .. ......... ... i i 570 460
Benefits paid from planassets ....... ... ... oo (570) {460)
Fair value of plan assets,endof year .......... ... .. ... ... o, s§ — 3 —
Under funded SLaluS . .. ..ot e e $(57,596) $(55,032)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss . ........ ... ... ... o il n/a 659
Accrued netamountrecognized ... o i (57.596) $(54,373)

The ABO was $57.6 million and $55.0 million at September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position consist of:

2007 2006
Prepaid benefit cost ... ..ovn it e $ — 5 —
Accrued benefit CoSt .. ..o e e e (57,596) (54,373)
Intangible assets . ...... ... . . e — —
Net amount recogmized ... ... ..o i e $(57,596) $(54,373)

The postretirement benefit obligation at September 30, 2007 and 2006 was determined using a discount rate
of 6.4% and 6.0%, respectively, and a health care cost trend rate of 4%, reflecting the cap described above.
Increasing the assumed health care cost trend rates by one percentage point would not have a material impact on
the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation or the net periodic postretircment benefit cost because these
benefits are capped.

The amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income consist of a net gain of $2.2 million as
of September 30, 2007. In fiscal 2008, we are not expecting any amortization of the net gain from accumulated
other comprehensive income into the net periodic benefit cost.
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Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

2007 2006 2005
Service cost forbenefitsearned ....... ... .. i $3,971 $3,463 $3,295
Interest on projected benefit obligation ........ ... ... ... ... .. 3,302 2,870 2,634
NelPension COSL .. ...ttt et e e $7.273  $6,338 35,929

The postretirement benefit cost at September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was determined using a discount rate
of 6.00%, 5.75% and 5.75%, respectively, and a health care cost trend rate of 4%, reflecting the cap described
above.

Contributions and Estimated Benefit Payments

The postretirement plan is generally funded with the amounts necessary to meet benefit costs as they are
incurred. We expect to contribute $1.6 million to the post retirement plan in fiscal 2008, which represents the
anticipated claims.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be
paid:

Years ended September 30,
0 O $ 1,557
2000 e 2,075
2000 e 2,658
111 3,275
2002 e s 3,949
Years 20032007 29,847

Defined Contribution Plans

We administer defined contribution plans for emptoyees in the U.S., the U.K and Canada whereby eligible
employees may elect to contribute from 2% to 20% of their base salaries to an employee benefit trust. We match
employee contributions at the rate of $1.00 per $1.00 up to 6% of the employee’s base salary in the U.S., and an
equal matching up to 5.5% of the employee’s base salary in the U.K. In addition, we contribute between 2% and
6% of each employee’s base salary depending on their age or years of service in the U.S., the U.K. and Canada.
Our matching contributions vest immediately while our base contributions become fully vested after three years
of employment. Contributions to these defined contribution plans were $31.0 million, $23.9 million, and $16.6
million, in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Other Postretirement Plans

We have a non-qualified supplemental executive retirement plan. The unfunded defined benefit plan will
provide our executives with supplemental retirement benefits based on the highest consecutive three years
compensation out of the final ten years and become vested upon the later of the executive’s 55% birthday or the
date the executive completes five full years of service as an officer. The expense associated with this plan was
$5.5 million, $2.9 million, and $2.1 million for the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2003,
respectively. The related accrued benefit obligation was $21.9 million and $16.5 million as of September 30,
2007 and 20006, respectively.
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We have a non-qualified directors’ benefit plan. The unfunded defined benefit plan will provide our
non-employee directors with benefits upon termination of their service based on the number of years of service
and the last annual retainer fec. The expense associated with this plan was $0.2 million, $0.7 million and $0.5
million for the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The related accrued benefit
obligation was $3.1 million and $2.9 million as of September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

10. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation

We, through performance of our service operations, are sometimes named as a defendant in litigation,
usually relating to claims for bodily injuries or property damage (including claims for well or reservoir damage).
We maintain insurance coverage against such claims to the cxtent deemed prudeni by management. Further,
through a series of acquisitions, we assumed responsibility for certain claims and proceedings made against the
Western Company of North America, Nowsco Well Service Ltd., OSCA and other companies whose stock we
acquired in connection with their businesses. Some, but not all, of such claims and proceedings will conlinue to
be covered under insurance policies of our predecessors that were in place at the time of the acquisitions.

Although the outcome of the claims and proceedings against us (including Western, Nowsco and OSCA)
cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that there are no existing claims or proceedings that are
likely to have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations for which it has not
already provided.

Newfield Litigation

On April 4, 2002, a jury rendered a verdict adverse to OSCA in connection with litigation pending in the
United States District Count for the Southern District of Texas (Houston), The lawsuit, filed by Newfield
Exploration on September 29, 2000, arose out of a blowout that occurred in 1999 on an offshore well owned by
Newfield. The jury determined that OSCA’s negligence caused or contributed to the blowout and that it was
responsible for 86% of the damages suffered by Newfield. The total damage amount awarded to Newfield was
$15.6 million (excluding pre- and post-judgment interest). The Court delayed entry of the final judgment in this
case pending the completion of the related insurance coverage litigation filed by OSCA against certain of iis
insurers and its former insurance broker. The Court elected to conduct the trial of the insurance coverage issues
based upon the briefs of the parties. In the interim, the related litigation filed by OSCA against its former
insurance brokers for errors and omissions in connection with the policies at issue in this case was stayed. On
Febrvary 28, 2003, the Court issued its final judgment in connection with the Newfield claims, based upon the
jury’s verdict. At the same time, the Court issued rulings adverse to OSCA in connection with its claim for
insurance coverage. Motions for New Trial were denied by the Judge and the case was appealed to the U.S. Court
of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, both with regard to the liability case and the insurance coverage issues. The Fifth
Circuit issued its ruling on April 12, 2006, finding against OSCA on the liability issues, but ruling in OSCA’s
favor on insurance coverage. AISLIC filed a Motion for Re-hearing with the Fifth Circuit, which was denied.
The case was remanded to the District Court in June 2006 for further consideration of one exclusion contained in
the AISLIC policy. The District Court recently ruled that AISLIC owes an additional $4.3 million as the
insurance policy covers portions of the damages incurred in the case. To date, approximately 50% of the
judgment against OSCA has already been paid by AISLIC, due to the ruling by the Fifth Circuit. Upon remand,
Newfield filed a motion to enforce its judgment against OSCA, which the court denied. Great Lakes Chemical
Corporation, (which owned the majority of the outstanding shares of OSCA at the time of the acquisition) agreed
to indemnify OSCA for 75% of any uninsured lability in excess of $3 million arising from the Newfield
litigation. Taking this indemnity into account and without regard to the outcome of the insurance coverage
dispute, our share of the verdict is approximately $5.3 million. We are fully reserved for our share of this
liability.
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Asbestoy Litigation

In August 2004, certain predecessors of ours, along with numerous other defendants were named in four
lawsuits filed in the Circuit Courts of Jones and Smith Counties in Mississippi. These four lawsuits included 18
individual plaintiffs alleging that they suffer various illnesses from exposure 10 asbestos and seeking damages.
The lawsuits assert claims of unseaworthiness, negligence, and strict liability, all based upon the status of our
predecessors as Jones Act employers. The plaintiffs were required to complete data sheets specifying the
companies they were employed by and the asbestos-containing products to which they were allegedly exposed.
Through this process, approximately 25 plaintiffs have identified us or our predecessors as their emplover.
Amended lawsuits were filed by four individuals against us and the remainder of the original claims (114} were
dismissed. Of these four lawsuits, three failed to name us as an employer or manufacturer of asbestos containing
products so we were thereby dismissed. Subsequently an individual from one of these lawsuits brought his own
action against us. As a result, we are currently named as an employer in two of the Mississippi lawsuits. It is
possible that as many as 21 other claimants who identified us or our predecessors as their employer could file suit
against us, but they have not done so at this time. Only minimal medical information regarding the alleged
asbestos-related disease sufiered by the plaintiffs in the two lawsuits has been provided. Accordingly, we are
unable to estimate our potential exposure to these lawsuits. We and our predecessors in the past maintained
insurance which may be available to respond to these claims. In addition to the Jones Act cases, we have been
named in a small number of additional asbestos cases. The allegations in these cases vary, but generally include
claims that we provided some unspecified product or service which contained or utilized asbestos or that an
employee was exposed to asbestos at one of our facilities or customer job site. Some of the allegations involve
claims that we are the successor to the Byron Jackson Company. To date, we have been successful in obtaining
dismissals of such cases without any payment in settlements or judgments, although some remain pending at the
present time. We intend to defend ourselves vigorously in all of these cases based on the information available o
us at this time. We do not expect the outcome of these lawsuits, individually or collectively. to have a material
adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows; however, there can be no assurance
as to the ultimate outcome of these lawsuits or additional simitar lawsuits, if any, that may be filed.

Environmental

Federal, state and local laws and regulations govern our operation of underground fuel storage tanks. Rather
than incur additional costs to restore and upgrade tanks, management opied to remove the existing tanks,
beginning in 1989. We have remedial cleanups in progress related to the tank removals. In addition, we are
conducting environmental investigations and remedial actions at current and former Company locations and,
along with other companies, are currently named as a potentially responsible party at five waste disposal sites
owned by third parties. An accrual of approximately $3.4 million has been established for such environmental
matters, which is management’s best estimate of our portion of future costs to be incurred. Insurance is also
maintained for some environmental liabilities.

Lease and Other Long-Term Commitments

In 1999, we contributed certain pumping service equipment to a limited partnership, in which we own a 1%
interest. The equipment is used to provide services to our customers for which we pay a service fee over a period
of at least six years, but not more than {3 years, at approximately $12 million annually. This is accounted for as
an operating lease. We assessed the terms of this agreement and determined it was a variable interest entity as
defined in FIN 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. However, we were not deemed 1o be the primary
beneficiary, and therefore, consolidation was not required. The transaction resulted in a gain that is being
deferred and amortized over |3 years. The balance of the deferred gain was $9.0 million and $16.1 million as of
September 30, 2007 and September 30, 2006, respectively. The agreement permits substitution of equipment
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within the partnership as long as the implied fair value of the new property transferred in at the date of
substitution equals or exceeds the implied fair value, as defined, of the current property in the partnership that is
being replaced. As a result of the substitutions, the deferred gain was reduced by $0.8 million in fiscal 2007 and
$2.8 million in fiscal 2006. In September 2010, we have the option, but not the obligation, to purchase the
pumping service equipment for approximately $32 million. We currently have the intent to exercise this option.
The option price to purchase the equipment under the partnership depends in part on the fair market value of the
equipment held by the partnership at the time the option is exercised as well as other factors specified in the
agreement.

In 1997, we contributed certain pumping service equipment to a limited partnership, in which we owned a
1% interest. The equipment was used to provide services to our customers for which we paid a service fee. On
February 9, 2007, we purchased the remaining partnership interest for $47.8 million, and as a result acquired the
partnership equipment. The acquisition of the partnership controlling interest was accounted for as an asset
purchase.

At Seplember 30, 2007, we had long-term operating leases and service fee commitments covering certain
facilities and equipment, as well as other long-term commitments, with varying expiration dates. Minimum
annual commitments for the years ending September 30, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012 are $60.6 million,
$50.2 million, $33.7 million, $29.7 million and $18.6 million, respectively and $7.8 million in the aggregate
thereafter.

Contractual Obligations

We routinely issue Parent Company Guarantees (“PCGs™) in connection with service contracts entered into
by our subsidiaries. The issuance of these PCGs is frequently a condition of the bidding process imposed by our
customers for work in countries outside of North America. The PCGs typically provide that we guarantee the
performance of the services by our local subsidiary. The term of these PCGs varies with the length of the service
contract. To date, the parent company has not been called upon to perfortm under any of these PCGs,

We arrange for the issuance of a variety of bank guarantees, performance bonds and standby letters of
credit. The vast majority of these are issued in connection with contracts we, or our subsidiary, have entered into
with customers. The customer has the right to calt on the bank guarantee, performance bond or standby ietter of
credit in the event that we, or our subsidiary, default in the performance of services. These instruments are
required as a condition to being awarded the contract, and are typically released upon completion of the contract.
The balance of these instruments are predominantly standby letters of credit issued in connection with a variety
of our financial obligations, such as in support of fronted insurance programs, claims administration funding,
certain employee benefit plans and temporary importation bonds. The following table summarizes our other
commercial commitments as of September 30, 2007 (in thousands):

Amount of commitment expiration per period

Total
Am?)unts Less than 1-3 4-5 Over 5
Other Commercial Commitments Committed 1 Year Years Years Years
Standby Letters of Credit .......... ... ... ... ..., $ 53,346 $ 53336 3% 1w $ — § —
GUATANIEES . . .ttt e e et e e e 193,392 81,567 65,595 15,658 30,572
Total Other Commercial Commitments .............. $246,738 5134903 3$65605 $15.658 $30,572
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The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and other commercial commitments as of
September 30, 2007 (in thousands):

Less than 1-3 4-5 After §
Contractual Obligations Total | year Years Years Years
Long term and short termdebt . .................. $ 671268 § 421,268 §$250000 $§ — § —
Interest on long term debt and capital leases ........ 69,423 26,296 28,752 14,375 —
Capital lease obligations ....................... 2,949 867 1,146 936 —
Operatingleases .. .......... ... ... ... . ...... 74.956 6,703 3716 51,634 2,504
Equipment financing arrangement™ ... .. ... ... .. 54,649 12,990 41,659 — —
Purchase obligations™® . ... ... .. ... .. ... 392,576 388,576 4,000 — —
Purchase commitments™® ... ................... 101,822 26,317 41,032 30,643 3,830
Other long-term liabilities® . ... ... ... .. ... ... 91,449 90,777 144 96 432
Total contractual cash obligations ................ $1,559,092 $1,013,794 $440449 $97.684 $7,166

t As discussed previously, we have the option, but not the obligation, to purchase the pumping service
equipment in this partnership for approximately $32 million in 2010. Currently, we expect to purchase the
pumping service equipment and have therefore included the option payment in the table above.

@2t Includes agreements to purchase goods or services that have been approved and that specify all significant
terms (pricing, quantity and timing). Our policies do not require a purchase order to be completed for items
that are under $200 and are for miscellaneous items, such as office supplies.

¥ We have entered into agreements with certain suppliers to ensure that a certain level of materials are
maintained in the U.S. and Canada.

' Includes expected cash payments for long-term liabilities reflected in the consolidated balance sheet where
the amounts and timing of the payment are known. Amounts include: Asset retirement obligations, known
pension funding requirements, post-retirement benefit obligation, environmental accruals and other
miscellaneous long-term obligations. Amounts exclude: Deferred gains (see “Lease and Other Long-Term
Commitments” above), pension obligations in which funding requirements are uncertain and long-term
contingent liabilities.

11. Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment for the year ended September 30,
2007, are as follows (in thousands):

U.S/Mexico  International Canada Qilfield
Pressure Pressure Pressure Services
Pumping Pumping Pumping Group Total
Balance September 30,2005 .. .. .............. $271,781 $255.101  $117,807 $240,523 $885,212
Acquisitions . ... ... ... ... e —_ 176 — 42,909 43,085
Balance September 30,2006 ., ...... ... ... .. $271.781 $255,277 $117.807 $283.432 $928,297
Acquisitions .. ... ... .. .. 1,314 1,074 — 34,217 36,605
Resolution of tax contingency ................. (965) {965)
Balance September 30,2007 .................. $273,095 $256,351 $116,842 3317649 3$963,937

Goodwill increased $36.6 million in fiscal 2007, as the result of acquisitions discussed in Note 3. This
increase was reduced by a $1.0 million decrease in goodwill due to the utilization of tax attributes that were
acquired in prior acquisitions.
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Technology based intangible assets net of accumulated amortization were $28.9 million and $19.7 million at

September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Amortization for the three years ended September 30, 2007, 2006
and 2005 was $2.2 million, $0.7 miilion and $0.5 million, respectively.

12. Supplemental Financial Information

Supplemental financial information for the years ended September 30 is as fellows (in thousands):

2007 2006 2005
Consolidated statement of operations:
Research and development €Xpense . ..., $ 25714 % 24263 $ 21,172
Rentexpense ........ ..ot 73,051 74,222 75,811
Net operating foreign exchange gain ... ... ... ... ... . ... ... ... @17 (1,303) (740)
Consolidated statement of cash flows:
Income tax paid . ... ... ... 373,109 336,230 187,195
Interest paid . ... ... ... e 383,016 8,393 8,078
Details of acquisitions: .. ......... ... i i
Fair value of assets acquired ......... ... ... ... ... .. .. ... 27,712 51,044 —
Liabilities assumed . . ... ... i i i e 5,617 31,324 —
Goodwilllh | e 35,825 43,085 —
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired . ............... 57,920 52,172 —

My Includes step acquisition entries for BISP in fiscal 2006 (see Note 3).

Other (expense} income, net for the years ended September 30 is summarized as follows (in thousands):

2007 2006 2005
MINOTILY INCTESL .. . o e e (11,315) (39700 (3.725)
Non-operating net foreign exchange gain/(loss) .......................... (88) (1,800) 746
Gain ON INSUFANCE FECOVELY . ..ttt v v et ee st e e e e e ci e aaas 1.406 1,099 239
Gain from equity method investments ... ... ... ... .. ... ... 520 432 1,546
Recovery of misappropriated funds (seebelow) .. ... oo o i — 2,791 9,020
Reversal of excess liabilities in Asia Pacific (see below) ... . ... ... ... ... .. —_ — 9,484
111 0 1 1= O U 2,893 1,437  (1,352)
Other (EXpense) INCOME, DL . ...\ttt ettt et e e ina e $ (6,584) § (11) $15,958

Recovery of misappropriated funds/Reversal of excess liabilities

In October 2004, the Company received a report from a whistleblower alleging that its Asia Pacific Region
Controller had misappropristed Company funds in fiscal 2001. The Company began an internal investigation into
the misappropriation and whether other inappropriate actions occurred in the Region. The Region Controller
admitted to multiple misappropriations totaling approximately $9.0 million during a 30-month period ended
April 2002, The misappropriations of approximately $9.0 million were repaid to the Company and the Region
Controller’s employment was terminated. The former Region Controller pled guilty to one count of theft in
Singapore and received a 21 month prison sentence there on May 7, 2007. The misappropriations were an
expense of the Company in the form of theft that were recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in
periods prior to April 2002. The $9.0 million repayment represents a gain contingency and was reflected in Other
Income in the Consolidated Condensed Statement of Operations for the quarter ended December 31, 2004 in
accordance with SFAS 3, Accounting for Contingencies.
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The Company is continuing Lo investigate whether additional funds were misappropriated beyond the $9.0
million originally identified. The Company has identified an additional $1.7 million that it believes was
misappropriated by the former Region Controller. The additional $1.7 million of likely misappropriations were
expenses of the Company that were recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in periods prior to
April 2002, It is possible that additional information could emerge resulting in further adjustments in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations, but no matertal adjustments are known at this time. In June 2007, the
Company filed a civil lawsuit against the former Region Controller seeking to recover any additional
misappropriated funds and seeking an accounting of disbursements that could not be explained following the
investigation.

In October 2004, the Company also received whistleblower allegations that illegal payments to foreign
officials had been made in the Asia Pacific Region. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors engaged
independent counsel to conduct a separate investigation to determine whether any such illegal payments were
made. The investigation found information indicating a significant likelihood that payments, made by the
Company to an entity in the Asia Pacific Region with which the Company has certain contractual relationships,
were then used to make payments to government officials in the Asia Pacific Region. This information included
information indicating that certain employees of the Company in the Asia Pacific Region believed that the funds
paid to the entity would be used to make payments to government officials. The payments, which may have been
illegal, aggregated approximately $2.6 million and were made from fiscal 1999 through 2004,

Thereafter, in December 20035, the Company received a payment of approximately $2.8 million from the
entity referenced above. The entity said that the funds represented the $2.6 million of funds described above, plus
an interest amount, and that the $2.6 million had been misappropriated for the benefit of certain of that entity’s
employees and was not used to make payments to government officials. The Audit Committee’s investigation
was not able to verify this claim. The $2.8 million payment represents a gain contingency and was reflected in
Other Income in the Consolidated Condensed Statement of Operations for the quarter ended December 31, 2005
in accordance with SFAS 5, Accounting for Contingencies.

During 2007, the investigation identified another payment of $300,000 made in a prior year to the same
entity that may have been used to make illegal payments to government officials.

The Company and the Audit Committee also investigated a large volume of other payments made by the
Company during the period of fiscal 1998 through 2004 in the Asia Pacific Region. With respect to
approximately $10 million of these payments, the investigations to date either have not been able to establish the
legitimacy of the transactions reflected in the underlying documents or have not been able to resolve questions
about the adequacy of the underlying documents to support the accounting entries. Some of these payments may
have been proper, but the circumstances surrounding others suggest that theft, iliegal payments or other
impropricties may have been involved. The payments have been previously expensed, and therefore the
Company believes that no additional expense is required to be recorded for such payments.

The Company has voluntarily disclosed information found in the special Audit Committee investigation, as
well as related information from the Company’s theft investigation, to the U.S. Department of Justice (“D0OJ”)
and U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™) and has engaged in discussions with these authorities as
they review the matter. The Company cannot predict whether further investigative efforts may be required or
initiated by the authorities.

In connection with discussions regarding possible illegal payments in the Asia Pacific Region, U.S.
government officials raised a question whether the Company had made illegal payments to a contractor or
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intermediary to obtain business in a country in Central Asia. The Audit Committee has investigated this question.
The Company has voluntarily disclosed information found in the investigation to the DOJ and SEC and has
engaged in discussions with these authorities as they review the matter.

The DOJ, SEC and other authorities have a broad range of civil and criminal sanctions under the U.S.
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and other laws, which they may seek to impose against corporations and
individuals in appropriate circumstances including, but not limited to, injunctive relief, disgorgement, fines,
penalties and modifications to business practices and compliance programs. Such agencies and authorities have
entered into agreements with, and obtained a range of sanctions against, several public corporations and
individuals arising from allegations of improper payments and deficiencies in books and records and internal
controls, whereby civil and criminal penalties were imposed. Recent civil and criminal settlements have included
multi-million dollar fines, deferred prosecution agreements, guilty pleas, and other sanctions, including the
requirement that the corporation retain a monitor to oversee the corporation’s compliance with the FCPA.
Furthermore, corporations that have entered into prior consent decrees regarding the FCPA are potentially
subject to greater penalties. The Company entered into a consent decree with the SEC in 2004 following an
investigation into improper payments in Argentina.

We have had discussions with the DOJ and SEC regarding certain of the matters described above. i is not
possible to accurately predict at this time when any of these matters will be resolved. Based on current
information, we cannot predict the outcome of such investigations, whether we will reach resolution through such
discussions or what, if any, actions may be taken by the DOJ, SEC or other authorities or the effect the foregoing
may have on our consolidated financial statements.

The misappropriations and related accounting adjustments in the Asia Pacific Region were possible because
of certain internal control operating deficiencies. During fiscal 2002, the Company implemented policy changes
worldwide for disbursements. Significant personnel changes were also made in the Asia Pacific Region. The
Company has assigned a new Region Manager and a new Region Controller, an Assistant Controller and
replaced several accountants in the Asia Pacific region. The Company also took further disciplinary action
against personnel in the Region. In addition, we have put in place an Internal Control and Process Improvement
function, led by an internal control manager at the corporate office and supported by managers at each of our five
regional bases worldwide, 1o document, enhance, and test our control processes.

13. Employee Stock Plans

We currently have three incentive plans and an Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Our 1997 Incentive Plan,
2000 Incentive Plan and 2003 Incentive Plan (the “Plans™) provide for the granting of stock options to officers,
key employees and non-employee directors at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the stock at the
date of the grant. The Plans also provide for the granting of performance awards to our officers and the 2003 Plan
provides for restricted stock awards to our non-employee directors. An aggregate of 32.0 million shares of
Common Stock has been authorized for grants under the Plans, of which 9.9 million shares were available for
future grants at September 30, 2007. The 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan™) atlows all
employees to purchase shares of our Common Stock at 85% of market value on the first or last business day,
whichever is lower, of the twelve-month plan period beginning each October 1. Purchases are limited to 10% of
an employee’s regular salary, or $21,250, whichever is less. An aggregate of 12.0 million shares of Common
Stock has been authorized for grants, of which 6.5 million shares were available for future grants at
September 30, 2007.

Prior to October 1, 2005 we adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS 123 and accounted for certain
of our stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method prescribed in APB 25. Under APB 25, no
compensation expense was recognized for stock options or the Purchase Plan. Compensation expense was
recognized for the stock incentive awards and director stock awards.
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Under SFAS 123(R), our unearned compensation balance at September 30, 2005 was reclassified to capital
in excess of par on October 1, 2005. The following table summarizes stock based compensation expense
recognized under SFAS 123(R) for fiscal 2007 and 2006 and under APB 25 for fiscal 2005, which was atlocated
as follows (in thousands):

2007 2006 2005
Cost of sales and SEIVICES . . . . ...t i it e e $ 7,068 § 378 § 2,089
Research and engineering . .. .. ... .. . ittt i 1,484 1,163 260
MATKEUNG - . - - o oo ettt e 3359 2374 1,720
General and administrative . ...t e 18,615 11,013 8,491
Stock based compensation EXpense .. .. .. ... ... e 30,626 18,336 13,160
Tax benefit ... ... .. (7.678) (3,631) (4,803)
Stock based compensation expense, netof tax ......... . ... ... $22.948 $14,705 $ 8,357

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share in fiscal 2007 and 2006
compared with the pro forma effect on net income and earnings per share in fiscal 2005 if we had applied the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to our stock options and shares reserved under the Purchase Plan (in
thousands, except per share amounts):

Actual Actual Pro Forma
2007 2006 2005
Netincome, asreported ........ ... ... ... .. .. . . i $753,640 $804,610 3$453.042
Add: total stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported
netincome, el Of 1aX . .. . . ... . e 22,948 14,705 8,357
Less: total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under
SFAS 123(R) and SFAS 123, respectively, for all awards, netoftax . . .... (22,948) (14,705) (17,258)
NELINCOME . . ... ettt $753,640 $804,610 $444,141
Earnings per share:
Basic,asreported ... ... ... $ 257 % 255 % 140
Basic,proforma . ... ... $ 257 % 255 3% 1.37
Diluted, asreported . ... ... ... e § 255 % 252 % 138
Diluted, proforma ....... ... ... e $ 255 % 252 % 135

Stock Options: The Plans provide for the granting of stock options to officers, key employees and
non-employee directors at un exercise price equal to the fair market value of the stock at the date of the grant.
Options outstanding generally vest over three or four-year periods and are exercisable for periods ranging from
seven to ten years.

Expected life was determined based on exercise history for the last ten years. The exercise history showed
that officers tend to hold options for a longer period before exercising than non-officers, On October 1, 2005, we
began segregating the grants of options to officers and non-officers for fair value determination under SFAS
123(R) due to the historical differences in exercise patterns exhibited. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), we
did not segregale grants into these groups. Beginning October 1, 2005, we calculated estimated volatility using
historical daily price intervals to generate expected future volatility based on the appropriate expected lives of the
options. Prior to October [, 2005, we calculated volatility using historical daily, weekly and monthly price
intervals to generate a reascnable range of expected future volatility and used a factor at the low end of the range
in accordance with SFAS 123. The risk-free interest rate is based on observed U.S. Treasury rates appropriate for
the expected lives of the opiions. The dividend yield is based on our history of dividend payouts.
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Compensation expense for grants determined under SFAS 123(R) for the fiscal years ended September 30
was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions;

2007 2006 2005

_OM Actual Actual Pro forma
Expected fife {years) ...... ... i e 4.8 5.0 4.7
Interest rale . .... ... ... it e e 4.6% 4.4% 3.6%
Volatility . ..o e 37.0% 428% 304%
Dividendyield ... o i 0.6% 0.6% 0.7%
Weighted-average fair value per share at grantdate . .............. $12.08 $14.68 $6.99
Non-officer grants

Expected life (yearsy ....... . ... oo i 37 3.0 4.7
INtETESLTAtE . ... .. ittt ittt 4.6% 4.4% 3.6%
Volatiity ... .o e e 334% 319% 30.4%
Dividend yield ... ... . 0.6% 0.6% 0.7%
Weighted-average fair value per share at grantdate ............... $984 §$09.19 $6.99

A summary of stock option activity and related information is presented below {in thousands, except per
share prices) as of September 30, 2007:

Weighted-Average

Remaining
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Term Value
Outstanding at beginningof year ... ... . ... .o oo 9,103 $18.12
Granted . ... e 1,790  32.51
EXercised .. ... e (542) 1482
|20 1 =1 (=7 R P (281) 32.19
Outstanding atendof year ...ttt 10,070 2046 31 $84,092
Options exercisable at year-end ... ... ... ... . ... ... ool 7,099 15.68 2.1 82,496
Weighted-average grant date fair valve of options granted during the
4 (A P $10.69

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005 was
$10.69, $11.70 and $6.99, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended
September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $7.8 million, $21.1 million and $48.2 million, respectively.

A summary of the status of unvested shares as of September 30, 2007, and changes during fiscal 2007, is
presented below (in thousands, except per share prices):

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date per

Shares Share Fair Value
Unvested at October 1,2006 . . ..o e i 3278 $ 0.04
Granted ... e e e 1,790 10.69
Vested . e e (1,831) 8.38
Forfeited .. ... e e e (266) 9.46
Unvested at September 30,2007 ... ..o i 2,971 $10.40




BJ SERVICES COMPANY
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

As of September 30, 2007, there was $30.9 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
unvested stock options. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.1 years. The
total fair value of shares vested during the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $15.3 million,
$9.6 million and $17.0 million, respectively.

Director Stock Awards: In addition to stock options, non-employee directors may be granted an award of
common stock of the Company with no exercise price (“restricted stock™). Restricled stock awards generally vest
ratably over a three year period. Compensation expense determined under SFAS 123(R) was calculated using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model and the same assumptions as those used to calculate stock based
compensation expense for non officer stock option grants. Prior to adopting SFAS 123(R), compensation expense
for restricted stock awards was calculated in the same manner.

Stock Incentive Awards: For awards made vunder the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan and 2000 Stock Incentive
Plan, we have reserved 334,417 shares of Common Stock for issuance for Performance Units (“Units™) that have
been awarded, representing the maximum number of shares the officers could receive under cutstanding awards.
Each Unit represents the right to receive from the Company at the end of a stipulated period one unrestricted
share of Common Stock, contingent upon achievement of certain financial performance goals over the stipulated
period. Under SFAS 123(F.} compensation expense is recorded for the entire grant amount and will not be
adjusted regardless of achievement leve! attuined. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the aggregate fair
market value of the underlying shares granted under this plan was considered unearned compensation at the time
of grant and was adjusted quarterly based on the then current market price for our common stock. Compensation
cxpense was determined based on management’s current estimate of the likelihood of meeting the specific
financial goals and expensed ratably over the stipulated period. Expense for stock incentive awards was $1.5
million, $3.6 million and $12.3 millien in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In addition to the award of Units, each officer is also awarded cash equal to his or her tax liability on the
Units they receive, if any, at the end of the performance period. We recognize compensation expense for the cash
award ratably over the performance period and the cash liability is marked to market quarterly according to
SFAS 123(R), with the adjustment recorded to compensation expense. At September 30, 2007, we have accrued
$1.9 million for the cash award liability for all outstanding grants. However, the actual performance results at the
end of a performance period could result in a decrease or increase to the acival cash payments, resulting in an
increase or decrease to compensation expense at the end of the performance period.

The performance criteria were not met for the fiscal 2005 or fiscal 2004 grant. In accordance with SFAS
123(R), no compensation expense was reversed for the fair value of this award, however, $3.2 million and $4.2
million was reversed for the cash award component in fiscal 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Under SFAS 123(R), we are recognizing compensation expense for Units granted based on the fair value at
the date of the grant using a lattice model {(Monte Carlo simulation). The fair values for each grant outstanding as
of September 30, 2007 and assumptions used to determine the fair value are listed below:

Weighted

Average
Fiscal Dividend Fair value
Year Granted Forfeited Canceled Outstanding Volatility Yield per share
2007 e 113,180 19,601 — 93,579 33.41% 061% $45.28
2006 ... 206,779 39,063 — 167,716 45.54% 031% $30.52
2005 ... 282912 39426 243,486 — 5205% 060% $25.83

As of September 30, 2007, there was $3.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to these
Units. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.0 years. We did not have any
Units vest during the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
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In fiscal 2007, we also granted our officers an award of common stock of our Company with no exercise
price. As there is no exercise price for the awards granted, the fair value of these awards is equal to our
Company’s stock price on the date of grant. These awards vested quarterly during calendar year 2007 contingent
upon achievement of certain financial performance goals over the stipulated period. In addition, each officer was
also awarded cash equal to his or her tax liability on the common stock they received, if any, at the end of the
performance period. Fiscal 2007 expense for the common stock award and the related cash award was
$3.6 million.

Purchase Plan: We issued a total of 650,008 shares in fiscal 2007 under the Purchase Plan, and have
reserved 919,885 shares for fiscal 2008. Compensation expense determined under SFAS 123(R) for the year
ended September 30, 2007 was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing mode! with the following
assumptions:

2007 2006 2005
Actual Actual Pro forma
Expected life (years) ... ... .. oo 1.0 1.0 1.0
IMEETESt AL .. ottt et e 49% 4.1% 4.1%
Volatility ... e 39.1% 29.6% 16.4%
Dividend yield . . ... ... . e 0.7%  0.6% 0.6%
Weighted-average fair value per share at grantdate . ................ $8.81 3935 $5.49

We calculated estimated volatility using historical daily prices based on the appropriate expected life of the
Purchase Plan. The risk-free interest rate is based on observed U.S. Treasury rates appropriate for the expected
life of the Purchase Plan. The dividend yield is based on our history of dividend payouts.

14. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock: On January 31, 2006, our stockholders approved a charter amendment increasing the
authorized number of shares of common stock from 380,000,000 shares to 910,000,000 shares.

Dividends: We have paid cash dividends in the amount of $.04 per common share each quarter and $51.9
million in the aggregate annual amount in fiscal year 2005. We paid $.05 per common share each quarter and
$64.3 million and $58.6 million in the aggregate annual amount for fiscal years 2006 and 2007, respectively. We
anticipate paying cash dividends in the amount of $.05 per common share on a quarterly basis in fiscal 2008.
However, dividends are subject to approval by our Board of Directors each quarter, and the Board has the ability
to change the dividend policy at any time.

Stockholder Rights Plan: We have a Stockholder Rights Plan (the “Rights Plan”) designed to deter coercive
takeover tactics and to prevent an acquirer from gaining control of the Company without offering a fair price to
all of our stockholders. The Rights Plan was amended September 26, 2002, to extend the expiration date of the
preferred share purchase right (“Right”) to September 26, 2012 and increase the purchase price of the Rights.
Under this plan, as amended, each outstanding share of common stock includes one-eighth of a Right that
becomes exercisable under certain circumstances, including when beneficial ownership of common stock by any
person, or group, equals or exceeds 15% of the Company’s outstanding common stock. Each Right entitles the
registered holder to purchase from the Company one one-thousandth of a share of Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock at a price of $520, subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. As a result of stock splits
effected in the form of stock dividends in 1998, 2001, and 2005, one Right is associated with eight outstanding
shares of common stock. The purchase price for the one-eighth of a Right associated with one share of common
stock is effectively $65. Upon the occurrence of certain events specified in the Rights Plan, each holder of a
Right (other than an *Acquiring Person,” as defined under the Rights Plan) will have the right, upon exercise of
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such Right, to receive that number of shares of common stock of the Company (or the surviving corporation)
that, at the time of such transaction, would have a market price of two times the purchase price of the Right. We
have not issued any shares of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock.

Treasury Stock: On December 19, 1997, our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program of
up to $150 million, Through 2 series of increases, the stock repurchase program was authorized to repurchase up
to $2.2 billion. Repurchases are made at the discretion of management and the program will remain in effect until
terminated by our Board of Directors. We purchased 52,348,000 shares at a cost of $597.4 million through fiscal
2005. During fiscal 2006, we purchased a total of 31,725,882 shares at a cost of $1,133.3 million. During fiscal
2007, we purchased a total of 2,564,457 shares at a cost of $74.6 million. As of September 30, 2007, remaining
authority to repurchase Common Stock is $394.7 million. Treasury shares have been utilized for our various
stock plans as described in Note 13. A total of 1,110,321 treasury shares were used at a cost of $29.4 million in
fiscal 2007, 1,509,000 treasury shares were used at a cost of $21.2 million in fiscal 2006, and 3,655,000 treasury
shares were used at a cost of $45.2 million in fiscal 2005.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income: Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consists of
the following (in thousands):

Cumulative
Pension Translation
Adjustments  Adjustment Total
Balance, September 30,2004 . ... ... ... ... e $(32919) $32,0t1 % (908)
Changes . .. ... . e e 13,797 11,482 25,279
Balance, September 30, 2005 .. .. ... $(19,122)  $43.493  §$24,371
00T 1 (11,049) 9,511 (1,538)
Balance, September 30, 2006 .. ... ... ... ... $(30,171)  $53,004 $22,833
Changes . ..o e (11,740) 40,551 28,811
Balance, September 30,2007 ........... .. .. ... ... $(41,911)  $93.555 $51,644

The tax effects allocated to each component of changes in other comprehensive income is summarized as
follows (in thousands):

Before-tax Tax (Expense) Net-of-tax

Amount Benefit Amount

Year Ended September 30, 2005:

Foreign currency translation adjustment . .. ...................... $11482 § — $ 11,482

Minimum pension liability adjustment . ......................... 21,783 (7,986) 13,797

Change in other comprehensive income .. ....................... $ 33,265 $(7.986) $ 25279
Year Ended September 30, 2006:

Foreign currency translation adjustment . ........................ $ 9,511 § — $ 9511

Minimum penston liability adjustment . ......................... (15,784) 4,735 (11,049)

Change in other comprehensive income .. ....................... $ (6,273) $4,735 $ (1,538)
Year Ended September 30, 2007:

Foreign currency translation adjustment . ........................ $ 40,551 $ — $ 40,551

Minimum pension lability adjustment ... ....... ... ... ... . ... 4,572 (1,300) 3,272

Adoption of SFAS 158 (Note 9) .. ... ... .. . i e (22,561) 7,549 (15,012)

Change in other comprehensive income . ........................ $ 22,562 $(6,249) § 28,811
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15. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Third
Quarter

Second Fourth
Quarter Quarter

Fiscal Year
Total

First
Quarter

Fiscal Year 2007:
Revenue . ... $1,183,940
Grossprofitth .. ... ... ... ... L 379,611
NetinCOMeE . ....... .. iiinnnnnnns 207,084
Earnings per share:

Basic ... ..o 1

Diluted . ....... ... ... ... ..... 0
Fiscal Year 2006:
Revenue ........ .o, $ 956,161
Grossprofitt ..., ... ... .. o 291,744
Netincome . ... innriinnannnnns 159,657
Earnings per share:

Basic ...... . 49

Dilwed ......... ... ... ......... 48

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

$1.186,638 31,152,518 $1,279.313

349,813 322,671 350,158
188,916 168,290 189,350
.64 57 65

.64 57 .64
51,078,818 $1.116,906 $1,215,979
350,886 365,524 400,086
203,484 212,880 228,589
.63 .67 )

.62 .67 76

(1 Represents revenue less cost of sales and services and research and engineering expenses.

78

$4,802,409
1,402,253
753,640

2.57
2.55

$4,367.864
1,408,240
804,610

255
2.52




ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. Based on their evaluation of the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are
effective.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting. There has been no change in the Company’s internal
controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2007 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Design and evaluation of internal control over financial reporting. Management’s Report on Internal

Control over Financial Reporting and the Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are set
forth in Part 11, Item 8 of this report and are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information concerning the directors of the Company is set forth in the section entitled “Proposal 1: Election
of Directors” in the Proxy Statement of the Company for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held
February 7, 2008, which section is incorporated herein by reference. For information regarding executive officers
of the Company, see page 13 hereof. Information concerning compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act
is set forth in the section entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy
Statement of the Company for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held February 7, 2008, which section is
incorporated herein by reference.

Information concerning the Audit Committee of the Company and the audit committee financial expert is
set forth in the section entitled “Board of Directors and Committees of the Board” in the Proxy Statement of the
Company for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held February 7, 2008, which section is incorporated
herein by reference. Information concerning the Company’s Code of Ethics is set forth in the section entitled
“Code of Ethics” in the Proxy Statement of the Company for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held
February 7, 2008, which section is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

Information for this item is set forth in the sections entitled “Director Compensation” and “Compensation
Discussion and Analysis” in the Proxy Statement of the Company for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
held February 7, 2008, which sections is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Information for this item is set forth in the section entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management” in the Proxy Statement of the Company for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
held February 7, 2008, which sections are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information for this item is set forth in the sections entitled “Related Party Transaction Policies and
Procedures” and “Director Independence” in the Proxy Statement of the Company for the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held February 7, 2008, which section is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14, Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information for this item is set forth in the section entitled “Fees Paid to Deloitte & Touche” in the Proxy
Statement of the Company for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held February 7, 2008, which section is
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) List of documents filed as part of this report or incorporated herein by reference:

(1) Financial Statements:

The following financial statements of the Registrant as set forth under Part 11, Item 8 of this report

on Form 10-K on the pages indicated.

Page in this
Form 10-K
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm .......... ... ... ... ..... 41
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and
2005 o e 43
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of September 30, 2007 and 2006 . ... ... 44
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’” Equity for the years ended September 30, 2007,
2000 and 2005 . ... e 46
Consotidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and
2005 . e 47
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ... ........ ... ... ... . o i, 48
{2} Financial Statement Schedules:
Schedule Page
Nomber Description of Schedule Number
11 Valuation and Qualifying Accounts ... .. ... . . il i 89

All other financial statement schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which
they are required or because all material information required to be reporied is included in the

consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

{3) Exhibits:

Number

2.1

22

23

3.1

3.2

Description of Exhibit

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of November 17, 1994 (“Merger Agreement”), ameng Bl
Services Company, WCNA Acquisition Corp. and The Western Company of North America (filed
as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30,
1995 {file nc. 1-10570), and incorporated herein by reference).

First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger dated March 7, 1995, among BJ Services
Company, WCNA Acquisition Corp. and The Western Company of North America (filed as
Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1995
(file no. 1-10570), and incorporated herein by reference).

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 20, 2002, among BJ Services Company,
BITX, Co., and OSCA, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
dated May 31, 2002 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Certificate of Incorporation, as amended as of QOctober 22, 1996 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1999 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation, dated January 22, 1998 (filed as Exhibit
3.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1999 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).
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Number

33

34

335

3.6

4.1

4.2

43

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

10.1

10.2

110.3

Description of Exhibit

Certificate of Amendment to Centificate of Incorporation, dated May 10, 2001 {filed as Exhibit 3.5
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001 (file no.
1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Certificate of Amendment to Centificate of Incorporation, dated Fanuary 31, 2006 (filed as Exhibit
3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form [0-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2005
(file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, as amended, dated
September 26, 1996 (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended September 30, 1996 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Bylaws, as of December 7, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s
Current Report of Form 8-K dated December 7, 2006 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Specimen form of cenificate for the Common Stock (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 33-35187) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, dated September 26, 1996, between the Company and
First Chicago Trust Company of New York, as Rights Agent (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K dated October 21, 1996 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by
reference).

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Rights Agreement and Appointment of Rights Agent,
dated March 31, 1997, among the Company, First Chicago Trust Company of New York and The
Bank of New York, as successor Rights Agent (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1997 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated
herein by reference).

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as of September 26, 2002,
between the Company and The Bank of New York, as Rights Agent (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 26, 2002 (file no. 1-10570) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Indenture, dated June 8, 2006, between BJ Services Company, as issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank,
N.A., as trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
June 12, 2006 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated June 8, 2006, between BJ Services Company, as issuer, and
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as trustee, with respect to the 5.75% Senior Notes due 2011 (filed as
Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 12, 2006 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated June 8, 2006, between BJ Services Company, as issuer, and
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as trustee, with respect to the Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2008 (filed
as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 12, 2006 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Relationship Agreement dated as of July 20, 1990, between the Company and Baker Hughes
Incorporated (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 5-1 (Reg.
No. 33-35187) and incorporated herein by reference).

Tax Allocation Agreement dated as of July 20, 1990, between the Company and Baker Hughes
Incorporated (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 10.1) (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-1 (Reg. No. 33-35187) and incorporated herein by reference).

BJ Services Company 1990 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 5-8 (Reg. No. 33-62098) and incorporated herein
by reference).
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Number
$10.4

110.5

t10.6

110.7

110.8

110.9

T10.10

T10.11

110.12

T10.13

+10.14

110.15

F10.16

T10.17

t10.18

110.19

Description of Exhibit

Amendment effective December 12, 1996 to BJ Services Company 1990 Stock Incentive Plan,
as amended and restated (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended September 30, 1996 (file no. 1-10570), and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment effective July 22, 1999 1o BJ Services Company 1990 Stock Incentive Plan (filed as
Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30,
1999 (file no. 1-10570), and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment effective January 27, 2000 to BJ Services Company 1990 Stock Incentive Plan
(filed as Appendix A to the Company’s Proxy Statement dated December 20, 1999 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

BJ Services Company 1995 Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.5 10 the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 33-58637) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendments effective January 25, 1996, and December 12, 1996, to BJ Services Company
1995 Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended September 30, 1996 (file no. 1-10570), and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment effective July 22, 1999 to BJ Services Company 1995 Incentive Plan (filed as
Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30,
1999 (file no. 1-10570), and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment effective January 27, 2000 to BJ Services Company 1995 Incentive Plan (filed as
Appendix B to the Company’s Proxy Statement dated December 20, 1999 (fite no. 1-10570) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment effective May 10, 2001 to BJ Services Company 1995 Incentive Plan (filed as
Appendix B to the Company’s Proxy Statement dated April 10, 2001 and (file no. 1-10570)
incorporaled herein by reference).

Eighth Amendment effective October 15, 2001 to BJ Services Company 1995 Incentive Plan
(filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
September 30, 2001 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

BJ Services Company 1997 Incentive Plan (filed as Appendix B to the Company’s Proxy
Statement dated December 22, 1997 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment effective July 22, 1999 to BJ Services Company 1997 Incentive Plan (filed as
Exhibit 10.26 10 the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30,
1999 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment effective January 27, 2000 to BJ Services Company 1997 Incentive Plan (filed as
Appendix C to the Company’s Proxy Statement dated December 20, 1999 (file no. 1-10570) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment effective May 10, 2001 to BJ Services Company 1997 Incentive Plan (filed as
Appendix C to the Company’s Proxy Statement dated April 10, 2001 (file no. 1-10570) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Fifth Amendment effective October 15, 2001 10 BJ Services Company 1997 Incentive Plan
(filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
September 30, 2001 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Eighth Amendment effective November 15, 2006 to BJ Services Company 1997 Incentive Plan
(filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 13,
2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (filed as Appendix A to the Company’s Proxy Statement
dated December 21, 1998 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).
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Number

+10.20

110.21

110.22

110.23

T10.24

110.25

110.26

T10.27

110.28

110.29

110.30

+10.31

110.32

110.33

110.34

Description of Exhibit

Amendment effective September 23, 1999 to BJ Services Company 1999 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended September 30, 2001 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Second Amendment effective March 22, 2001 to BJ Services Company 1999 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.40 to the Company’s Annual Repornt on Form 10-K for the year
ended September 30, 2003 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Third Amendment effective September 1, 2001 to BJ Services Company 1999 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K {for the year
ended September 30, 2003 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Fourth Amendment effective December 4, 2003 to BJ Services Company 1999 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan {filed as Exhibit 10.41 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended September 30, 2003 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Fifth Amendment effective October 1, 2004 to BJ Scrvices Company 1999 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.51 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended September 30, 2004 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated hercin by reference).

BJ Services Company 2000 Incentive Plan (filed as Appendix B to the Company’s Proxy
Statement duted December 20, 2000 {file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

First Amendment effective March 22, 2001 to BJ Services Company 2000 Incentive Plan (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration Staterment on Form 8-8 (Reg. No. 333-73348) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Second Amendment effective May 10, 2001 to BJ Services Company 2000 Incentive Plan (filed as
Appendix D to the Company's Proxy Statement dated April 10, 2001 (file no. 1-10570) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Third Amendment effective October 15, 2001 1o BJ Services Company 2000 Incentive Plan (filed
as Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30,
2001 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated hercin by reference).

Fifth Amendment cffective November 15, 2006 10 BJ Services Company 2000 Incentive Plan
(filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 13, 2006
(file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

BJ Scrvices Compuny 2000 Incentive Plan—First Amendment to Terms and Conditions of Stock
Options for Officers (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
March 29, 2006 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

BJ] Services Company 2000 Incentive Plan—Form of Second Amendment to Terms and
Conditions of Stock Options for Officers (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on November 2t, 2006 and (file no. 1-10570) incorporated herein by reference).

BJ Services Company 2003 Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2003 and (file no. 1-10570) incorporated
herein by reference).

Second Amendment effective November 15, 2006 to BJ Services Company 2003 Incentive Plan
(filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 13, 2006
and (file no. 1-10570) incorporated herein by reference).

BJ Services Company Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan effective October 1, 2000 (filed as
Exhibit 10.15 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30,
2000 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated hercin by reference).
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Number

110.35

110.36

T10.37

110.38

T10.39

110.40

110.41

t10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

110.47

Description of Exhibit

First Amendment effective September 25, 2003 to BJ Services Company Supplemental Executive
Retirement Flan (filed as Exhibit 10.42 to the Company’s Annuval Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended September 30, 2003 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Second Amendment effective March 1, 2007 to BJ Services Company Supplemental Executive
Retirement Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.t to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May
24, 2007 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Key Employee Security Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1997 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by
reference).

BJ Services Company Directors’ Benefit Plan, effective December 7, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 10.27
10 the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2001 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment effective January I, 2003 to BJ Services Company Directors’ Benefit Plan, (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 1o the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2003 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

BJ Services Company Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated effective October 1,
2000 (filed as Exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001
(file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

First Amendment effective January 1, 2002 10 BJ Services Company Deferred Compensation Plan
(filed as Exhibit 10.50 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
September 30, 2004 (file no. [-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Amended and Restated Executive Severance Agreement between BJ Services Company
and certain executive officers (filed as Exhibit 10.28 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2000 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Trust Indenture and Security Agreement dated as of December 15, 1999 among First Security
Trust Company of Nevada, B} Services Equipment Il, L.P. and State Street Bank and Trust
Company, a8 Indenture Trustee (filed as Exhibit 10.]1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dined December 15, 1999 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership dated as of December 15, 1999 of BJ
Services Equipment I, L.P. (fited as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
dated December 15, 1999 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 30, 2007, among the Company,
Citibank, N A_, as administrative agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer, Bank of America, N.A.
as syndication agent and L/C issuer, The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC, JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A. and The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UF]J, Lid. as co-documentation agents and certain lenders
named therein (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
August 30, 2007 (file no. 1-10570 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Indemnification Agreement, dated as of December 9, 2004 between the Company and its
directors and executive officers. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form
8-K, filed on December 15, 2004 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letier agreement setting forth terms and conditions of shares of phantom stock awarded to
non-employee directors of the Company on November 17, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.t to the
Company’'s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 23, 2004 (file no. 1-10570) and
incorporated herein by reference).
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Number
110.48

110.49

110.50

T10.51

+10.52

110.53

110.54

110.55

110.56

+10.57

110.58

+10.59

Description of Exhibit

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of performance units awarded to
executive officers of the Company on November 17, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 23, 2004 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated
herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of options to purchase shares of
common stock awarded to non-employee directors on November 17, 2004 {filed as Exhibit 10.3 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 23, 2004 (file no. 1-10570) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setiing forth terms and conditions of options to purchase shares of
common stock awarded to executive on November 17, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 23, 2004 (file no. 1-10570} and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of options to purchase shares of
common stock awarded to non-employee directors during fiscal 2000 (filed as Exhibit 10.52 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of options to purchase shares of
common stock awarded to non-employee directors during fiscal 2001 and 2003 (filed as Exhibit
10.53 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of options to purchase shares of
common stock awarded to executive officers during fiscal 1998 (filed as Exhibit 10.56 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of options to purchase shares of
common stock awarded to executive officers during fiscal 1999 (filed as Exhibit 10.57 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of options to purchase shares of
common stock awarded to executive officers during fiscal 2001 (filed as Exhibit 10.58 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of optiens to purchase shares of
common stock awarded to executive officers during fiscal 2002 (filed as Exhibit 10.59 to the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of options to purchase shares of
common stock awarded to executive officers during fiscal 2003 (filed as Exhibit 10.60 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of options to purchase shares of
common stock awarded to executive officers during fiscal 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.61 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of performance units awarded to
executive officers during fiscal 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.62 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by
reference).
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Number
110.60

110.61

110.62

110.63

T10.64

110.65

110.66

110.67

110.68

*10.69

*12.1
*21.1
*23.1
*31.1
*31.2
*32.1
*32.2

Description of Exhibit

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of phantom stock awarded to non-
employee directors during fiscal 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.63 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of options to purchase shares of
common stock awarded to non-employee directors during fiscal 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.54 to the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (file
no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of amended letier agreement setting forth terms and conditions of options to purchase shares
of common stock awarded to executive officers during fiscal 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 13. 2006 (file no. 1-10570) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of amended letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of options 1o purchase shares
of common stock awarded to non-employee directors during fiscal 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 13, 2006 (file no. 1-10570) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of performance units awarded to
executive officers during fiscal 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.64 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2006 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of bonus stock awarded to executive
officers during fiscal 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.65 10 the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended September 30, 2006 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of phantom stock awarded to executive
officers during fiscal 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.66 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended September 30, 2006 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of phantom stock awarded to non-
employee directors during fiscal 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.67 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2006 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Description of Equity and Long-Term Incentive Grants for fiscal 2007 (filed on the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 21, 2006 (file no. 1-10570) and incorporated
herein by reference).

Form of letter agreement setting forth terms and conditions of options to purchase shares of
performance units awarded to executive officers during fiscal 2007 under the 2003 Incentive Plan.

Ratio of Eamings to Fixed Charges

Subsidiaries of the Company.

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Section 302 certification for J. W. Stewart.

Section 302 certification for Jeffrey E. Smith.

Section 906 certification furnished for J. W. Stewart.
Section 906 certification furnished for Jeffrey E. Smith.

* Filed herewith.
1t Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

BJ SERVICES COMPANY

By fsf J.W. STEWART

J. W, Stewart
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: November 29, 2007

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature m Date
/sf  1.W.STEWART Chairman of the Board, President, November 29, 2007
J.W. Stewart and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s!  IBFFREY E. SMITH Senior Vice President—Finance, November 29, 2007
Jeffrey E. Smith and Chief Financial Officer
{Principal Financial Officer)

/s/  BriaN T. McCoLE Vice President—Controller November 29, 2007
Brian T. McCole {Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ L. WILLIAM HEILIGBRODT Director November 29, 2007

L. William Heiligbrodt

/s/  Jonwn R. HUFF Director November 29, 2007
John R. Huff
fs/ DonN D. JORDAN Director November 29, 2007

Don D. Jordan

I8! WILLIAM H. WHITE Director November 29, 2007
William H. White

/s/ MicHAEL E. PATRICK Director November 29, 2007
Michael E. Patrick

fs!  JamEs L. PAYNE Director November 29, 2007

James L. Payne
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BJ SERVICES COMPANY

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
For the Years Ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005
(in thousands)

Additions
Balance at Charged to
Beginning  Charged Other Balance at

Of Period  to Expense  Accounts  Deductions End of Period

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2007

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable ... ... 518,976  $6.541 5§ — $(4,967Yn  $20.550
Reserve for inventory obsolescence .. ........... 22,372 8,351 —_ (6,070 24,653
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2006

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable .. .. .. $13,938  $5.920 $3,228  $4,110)0"  $18,976
Reserve for inventory obsolescence . ......... ... 17,429 3,031 4,002 2,000y 22372
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005

Allowance for doubtfu! accounts recejvable ... ... $ 9010 $6811 $ 258 $(2,141Y0  $13,938
Reserve for inventory obsolescence .. ........... 16,144 5,667 (88) 4,294 17,429

) Deductions in the allovwance for doubtful accounts principally reflect the write-ofl of previously reserved
accounts,

@ Deductions in the reserve for inventory obsolescence and adjustment principally reflect the sale or disposal
of related inventory.

& Additions related 10 acquisitions,
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Dresign: Pixel Creative Group / Houston Texas

CORPORATE INFORMATION

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR:
Shareholder questions can be answered by
contacting the Company’s iransfer Agent.

THE BANK OF NEW YORK
1-800-524-4458

E-MaiL ADDRESS:

Shareowners@bankofny.com

ADDRESS SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES TO:
Shareholder Relations Department - 11E
P.O. Box 11258

Church Street Station

New York, NY 10284

SeEND CERTIFICATES FOR TRANSFER AND
ADDRESS CHANGES TO:

Receive and Deliver Departrrent - 11W
P.O. Box 11002

Church Street Station

New York, NY 10286

Answers to many of your sharzholder questions

and requests for forms are available by visiting

The Bank of New York's Website at;
http://www.stockbny.com

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTINGS:

New York Stock Exchange

Chicago Board Options Exchange
Ticker Symbol "BJS" (Common Stock)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS:
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Houston, Texas

ForM 10-K:

A copy of the Company’s Annual Report to the
Securities and Exchange Commission (Form 10-K)
is available by writing to:

Investor Relations

BJ Services Company

P O.Box 4442

Houston, Texas 77210-4442

Visit our Website: www.bjservices.com

ANNUAL MEETING:

The Company's Annual Meeting of Stockholders will
be held at 11:00 a.m. on February 7, 2008

at The Westin Galleria Hotel

5060 West Alabama, Housteon, Texas 77056

{713) 960-8100

The Company's corporate governance guidelines, the charters of the Nominating, Audit, and Executive

Compensation Committees of the Board of Directors of the Company, and the Company’s Supplemental Code

of Ethics for Directors and Officers are available on the Company's website. This information is available in

print to any shareholder who requests it.

On February 28, 2007 our CEQ provided his annual certification to the NYSE that he was not aware of any vio-
lation by the company of NYSE's corporate governance listing standards. In addition, our CEQ and CFO have

made the certifications required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act, which have been filed with our

annual report on Form 10-K.
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BJ Services COMPANY
4601 Westway Park Blvd.
P.O. Box 4442

Houston, Texas 77210-4442
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